
Lewisham Council 
Members 

 
 
Members of the committee, listed below, are summoned to attend the meeting to be held 
on Wednesday, 27 November 2013.   

 
Barry Quirk, Chief Executive 
November 19 2013 
 
  

Councillor Olufunke Abidoye  

Councillor Jackie Addison  

Councillor Obajimi Adefiranye  

Councillor Anne Affiku  

Councillor Christine Allison  

Councillor Abdeslam Amrani  

Councillor Pauline Beck  

Councillor Paul Bell  

Councillor Chris Best  

Councillor Kevin Bonavia  

Councillor John Bowen  

Councillor David Britton  

Councillor Duwayne Brooks  

Mayor Sir Steve Bullock  

Councillor Suzannah Clarke  

Councillor Jenni Clutten  

Councillor Liam Curran  

Councillor Janet Daby  

Public Document Pack



Councillor Vincent Davis  

Councillor Amanda De Ryk  

Councillor Damien Egan  

Councillor Alexander Feakes  

Councillor Peggy Fitzsimmons  

Councillor Julia Fletcher  

Councillor Patsy Foreman  

Councillor Vicky Foxcroft  

Councillor Helen Gibson  

Councillor Sven Griesenbeck  

Councillor Alan Hall  

Councillor Carl Handley  

Councillor Michael Harris  

Councillor Ami Ibitson  

Councillor Mark Ingleby  

Councillor Stella Jeffrey  

Councillor Darren Johnson  

Councillor Helen Klier  

Councillor Madeliene Long  

Councillor Chris Maines  

Councillor Jim Mallory  

Councillor Paul Maslin  

Councillor Joan Millbank  

Councillor Pauline Morrison  

Councillor John Muldoon  

Councillor Marion Nisbet  

Councillor Crada Onuegbu  

Councillor Sam Owolabi-Oluyole  



Councillor Stephen Padmore  

Councillor Jacq Paschoud  

Councillor John Paschoud  

Councillor Philip Peake  

Councillor Alan Smith  

Councillor Eva Stamirowski  

Councillor Alan Till  

Councillor Dan Whittle  

Councillor Susan Wise  





 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

Council 
Agenda 

 

Wednesday, 27 November 2013 
7.30 pm,  
Civic Suite 
Lewisham Town Hall 
London SE6 4RU 
 
For more information contact:  Kevin Flaherty 0208 3149327 (Tel: 0208 314 9327) 
 

Part 1 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   Declarations of Interests 

 
1 - 3 

2.   Minutes 
 

4 - 6 

3.   Announcements or Communications 
 

7 - 8 

4.   Petitions 
 

9 

5.   Young Mayor 
 

10 - 12 

6.   Public questions 
 

13 - 71 

7.   Member questions 
 

72 - 130 

8.   Overview and Scrutiny Committee Referral Emergency Services 
Review 
 

131 - 242 

9.   Extension to Council Calendar 
 

243 - 245 

10.   Appointments 
 

246 

11.   Action by Chair of Council 
 

247 

12.   Action by Chair of OSC 
 

248 

13.   Motion 1 Proposed by Councillor Fletcher and Seconded by 
Councillor Maines 
 

249 

14.   Motion 2 Proposed by Councillor Maines and Seconded by Councillor 
Fletcher 
 

250 



 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend committee meetings. However, occasionally, committees 
may have to consider some business in private. Copies of agendas, minutes and reports are available 
on request in Braille, in large print, on audio tape, on computer disk or in other languages. 

 

15.   Motion 3 Proposed by Councillor Brooks and Seconded by Councillor 
Peake 
 

251 

16.   Motion 4 Proposed by Councillor Feakes and Seconded by Councillor 
Bowen 
 

252 

17.   Motion 5 Proposed by Councillor Hall and Seconded by Councillor 
Foxcroft 
 

253 

18.   Motion 6 Proposed by Councillor Egan and Seconded by Councillor 
Curran 
 

254 - 255 

19.   Motion 7 Proposed by Councillor Britton and Seconded by Councillor 
Bell 
 

256 

20.   Motion 8 Proposed by Councillor Daby and Seconded by Councillor 
Morrison 
 

257 



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\8\9\0\ai00007098\$yig1unse.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Declarations of Interests 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No. 1 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive 

Class 
 

Part 1 Date: November 27 2013 

 
 Declaration of interests 
 
 Members are asked to declare any personal interest they have in any item 
 on the agenda. 
 
1 Personal interests 
 

There are three types of personal interest referred to in the Council’s 
Member Code of Conduct :-  

 
(1)  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
(2)  Other registerable interests 
(3)  Non-registerable interests 
 

2 Disclosable pecuniary interests are defined by regulation as:- 
 
(a) Employment, trade, profession or vocation of a relevant person* for profit 

or gain 
 
(b) Sponsorship –payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 

than by the Council) within the 12 months prior to giving notice for 
inclusion in the register in respect of expenses incurred by you in carrying 
out duties as a member or towards your election expenses (including 
payment or financial benefit  from a Trade Union). 

 
(c)  Undischarged contracts between a relevant person* (or a firm in which 

they are a partner or a body corporate in which they are a director, or in 
the securities of which they have a beneficial interest) and the Council for 
goods, services or works. 

 
(d)  Beneficial interests in land in the borough. 
 
(e)  Licence to occupy land in the borough for one month or more. 
 
(f)   Corporate tenancies – any tenancy, where to the member’s knowledge, 

the Council is landlord and the tenant is a firm in which the relevant 
person* is a partner, a body corporate in which they are a director, or in 
the securities of which they have a beneficial interest.   

 
(g)   Beneficial interest in securities of a body where:- 

Agenda Item 1

Page 1



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\8\9\0\ai00007098\$yig1unse.doc 

 
(a)  that body to the member’s knowledge has a place of business or 

land in the borough; and  
 
 (b)  either 

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
1/100 of the total issued share capital of that body; or 

 
 (ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 
relevant person* has a beneficial interest exceeds 1/100 of the 
total issued share capital of that class. 

 
*A relevant person is the member, their spouse or civil partner, or a person with 
whom they live as spouse or civil partner.  
 

(3)  Other registerable interests 
 
The Lewisham Member Code of Conduct requires members also to 
register the following interests:- 

 
(a) Membership or position of control or management in a body to 

which you were appointed or nominated by the Council 
 
(b) Any body exercising functions of a public nature or directed to 

charitable purposes , or whose principal purposes include the 
influence of public opinion or policy, including any political party 

 
(c) Any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with 

an estimated value of at least £25 
 
(4) Non registerable interests 

 
Occasions may arise when a matter under consideration would or would 
be likely to affect the wellbeing of a member, their family, friend or close 
associate more than it would affect the wellbeing of those in the local area 
generally, but which is not required to be registered in the Register of 
Members’ Interests  (for example a matter concerning the closure of a 
school at which a Member’s child attends).  

 
 
(5)  Declaration and Impact of interest on members’ participation 
 
 (a)  Where a member has any registerable interest in a matter and they 

are present at a meeting at which that matter is to be discussed, 
they must declare the nature of the interest at the earliest 
opportunity  and in any event before the matter is considered.  The 
declaration will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. If the 
matter is a disclosable pecuniary interest the member must take not 
part in consideration of the matter and withdraw from the room 
before it is considered.  They must not seek improperly to influence 
the decision in any way. Failure to declare such an interest 
which has not already been entered in the Register of 
Members’ Interests, or participation where such an interest 
exists, is liable to prosecution and on conviction carries a fine 

Page 2



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\8\9\0\ai00007098\$yig1unse.doc 

of up to £5000  
 

 (b)  Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest they must still declare the nature of 
the interest to the meeting at the earliest opportunity and in any 
event before the matter is considered, but they may stay in the 
room, participate in consideration of the matter and vote on it unless 
paragraph (c) below applies. 
 

(c) Where a member has a registerable interest which falls short of a 
disclosable pecuniary interest, the member must consider whether 
a reasonable member of the public in possession of the facts would 
think that their interest is so significant that it would be likely to 
impair the member’s judgement of the public interest.  If so, the 
member must withdraw  and take no part in consideration of the 
matter nor seek to influence the outcome improperly. 

 
 (d)  If a non-registerable interest arises which affects the wellbeing of a 

member, their, family, friend or close associate more than it would 
affect those in the local area generally, then the provisions relating 
to the declarations of interest and withdrawal apply as if it were a 
registerable interest.   

 
(e) Decisions relating to declarations of interests are for the member’s 

personal judgement, though in cases of doubt they may wish to 
seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer. 

 
(6)   Sensitive information  

 
There are special provisions relating to sensitive interests.  These are 
interests the disclosure of which would be likely to expose the member to 
risk of violence or intimidation where the Monitoring Officer has agreed 
that such interest need not be registered.  Members with such an interest 
are referred to the Code and advised to seek advice from the Monitoring 
Officer in advance. 

  
(7) Exempt categories 
 

There are exemptions to these provisions allowing members to participate 
in decisions notwithstanding interests that would otherwise prevent them 
doing so.  These include:- 

 
(a) Housing – holding a tenancy or lease with the Council unless the 

matter relates to your particular tenancy or lease; (subject to arrears 
exception) 

(b)  School meals, school transport and travelling expenses; if you are a 
parent or guardian of a child in full time education, or a school 
governor unless the matter relates particularly to the school your 
child attends or of which you are a governor;  

(c)   Statutory sick pay; if you are in receipt 
(d)  Allowances, payment or indemnity for members  
(e)  Ceremonial honours for members 
(f)   Setting Council Tax or precept (subject to arrears exception) 
 

 
Page 3



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\9\9\0\ai00007099\$mf3vqmyn.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Minutes 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No.2 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
 
Recommendations 

 

1. It is recommended that the minutes of the meeting of the Council which was open to the 
press and public, held on September 19 2013 (copy previously circulated) be confirmed 
and signed. 
 

2. It is recommended that the minutes of the extraordinary meeting of the Council which was open to 
the press and public, held on November 8 2013 (copy attached) be confirmed and signed. 

 

 

Agenda Item 2

Page 4



 

 

 
 
Vol.45 No.10         Page No.289 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 
 

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 
 

Minutes of the extraordinary meeting of the Council of the London Borough of 
Lewisham held in the Council Chamber, Lewisham Town Hall, Catford, SE6 4RU 
on Friday, 8 November 2013 at 7.30 pm. 
 

Present 
 

Councillor Adefiranye 
(Chair of Council) 

 
The Mayor 

(Sir Steve Bullock) 
 

 
Councillors Olufunke Abidoye, Jackie Addison, Anne Affiku, Kevin Bonavia, 
Duwayne Brooks, Janet Daby, Damien Egan, Alexander Feakes, 
Peggy Fitzsimmons, Patsy Foreman, Vicky Foxcroft, Sven Griesenbeck, Alan Hall, 
Stella Jeffrey, Helen Klier, Chris Maines, Jim Mallory, Joan Millbank, 
Pauline Morrison, John Muldoon, Marion Nisbet, Crada Onuegbu, Jacq Paschoud, 
John Paschoud, Alan Smith, Eva Stamirowski and Alan Till. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Christine Allison, Councillor Pauline 
Beck, Councillor Paul Bell, Councillor Chris Best, Councillor Jenni Clutten, Councillor 
Liam Curran, Councillor Amanda De Ryk, Councillor Carl Handley, Councillor Ami 
Ibitson, Councillor Mark Ingleby, Councillor Madeliene Long, Councillor Sam Owolabi-
Oluyole, Councillor Philip Peake and Councillor Susan Wise. 
 
 
Admission of Erica Pienaar as an Honorary Freewoman 

 

 The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting and announced that this special meeting of 
the Council was to confer upon Erica Pienaar the Honorary Freedom of the London 
Borough of Lewisham. 

 The Chair then announced that, under Section 249(5) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
a Borough Council can admit to the Honorary Freedom of the Borough, ‘persons of 
distinction and persons who have, in the opinion of the Council, rendered eminent 
services to the Borough’.  He then called upon the Chief Executive to read out the 
resolution of the Council passed at a meeting of the Council on 26 June 2013. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 5



 

 

 

 

2 

The Chief Executive formally reported that it was resolved that Erica Pienaar be admitted 
as an Honorary Freewoman of the London Borough of Lewisham “in recognition of her 
outstanding contribution to the education of the young people of the borough and 
beyond. Her dedication and commitment has improved the life chances of our students 
through exceptional leadership and distinguished advisory work, particularly with schools 
in challenging circumstances. Her involvement in national and educational change has 
inspired countless educationists, teachers and students with resulting significant local 
and national impact. Her belief in our young people has shone through her work and has 
changed their futures”. 

Erica Pienaar then signed the Freedom Roll of Honour and her signature was witnessed 
by the Mayor and the Chief Executive. 

 The Chair then called upon, in turn, the Mayor, Councillor Helen Klier, Councillor Chris 
Maines, Councillor Pauline Morrison, Commodore Jonathan Cooke OBE, Royal Navy, 
Chair of Governors of the Leathersellers Federation, Martin Pebody, the Master 
Leatherseller, Carolyn Unsted, the Headteacher of Sydenham School and finally, Shelby 
Millard, a former pupil at Prendergast School to speak in support of the Council’s 
recommendation. 

 The Mayor, on behalf of the Council, then presented to Erica Pienaar a casket containing 
the Council’s resolution inscribed on a vellum scroll and sealed by the Council. The 
Honorary Freewoman then responded and thanked the Council for the honour that had 
been accorded to her. 

The meeting closed at 8.35pm 

 
 

Page 6



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\0\3\ai00007300\$1ij0g5wb.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Announcements or Communications 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No.  
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive 

Class 
 

Part 1 Date: November 27 2013 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
The Council is invited to receive any announcements or communications from the Mayor or 
the Chief Executive. 
 
ANNOUNCEMENT BY THE MAYOR 
 
1. John Collins – 50 years service 
 

I ask the Council to pay tribute to the long and distinguished service to local 
government in Lewisham that trade union secondee John Collins has now given 
over 50 years.  

John joined the London County Council on 9 September 1963. He was appointed 
full-time trade union secondee as Branch Secretary for NUPE on 1 September 
1988 and was elected Branch Secretary of Unison in 1998. He has now served 
his union members and colleagues for 25 years as their representative.  

John was born in Brockley and has lived in the borough of Lewisham all of his 
life.  

Council is asked to recognise the important role that trade unions play in a 
thriving workplace and thank John Collins for his valuable contribution over the 
years. 

 
ANNOUNCEMENT BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 
2. Freedom of the Borough Ceremony: Baroness Doreen Lawrence of Clarendon  
OBE. 
 
The Council is asked to note the date and time of the meeting has been changed and will  
now take place on Friday January 31 2014 at 6pm 
 
3. Attendance at Meetings 
 
1. Purpose 
 
 The purpose of this report is to bring to the attention of the Council that notification has 

been received from the Chair of Council that Councillor Sam Owolabi-Oluyole has been 

Agenda Item 3

Page 7



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\0\3\ai00007300\$1ij0g5wb.doc 

advised to refrain from public duties owing to serious illness and has asked for a six 
month leave of absence commencing from November 28 2013. 

 
2. Reason for Urgency 
 
 If a Councillor does not attend a Council meeting for a period of six months the member 

ceases to be a member unless the Council approves the reason for non-attendance 
before expiry of the six month period.  

 
3. Background 
 
 Councillor Sam Owolabi-Oluyole last attended a council meeting on September 19 

2013. 
 
4. Legal Implications 
 
 Section 85 of the Local Government Act 1972 states that if a member fails to attend 

any meeting of the authority for a period of six consecutive months from the date of 
his/her last attendance, he/she shall cease to be a member, unless the failure is due to 
a reason approved by the authority.  Approval must be given before the expiry of the 
six months, otherwise a vacancy would have to be declared on the expiry of the six 
months and a by-election held. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 
 There are no specific financial implications. 
 
6. Recommendation 
 
 That the Council agrees a leave of absence for Councillor Sam Owolabi-Oluyole for a 

period of six months from 28 November 2013 to 25 May 2014. 
 
 

Page 8



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\7\9\0\ai00007097\$e0yptz4w.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Petitions 

Key Decision 
 

no  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

n/a 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
 
1. The Council is invited to receive petitions (if any) from members of the Council or 

the public. There is no requirement for Councillors to give prior notice of any 
petitions that might be presented. 

 
2. The Council welcomes petitions from the public and recognises that petitions are one way in 
 which people can let us know their concerns.  All petitions sent or presented to the Council 
 will receive an acknowledgement from the Council within 14 days of receipt. This 
 acknowledgement will set out what we plan to do with the petition. 
 
3. Paper petitions can be sent to :- 
 
 Governance Support, Town Hall, Catford, SE6 4RU 
 
 Or be created, signed and submitted on line by following this link  
 
 http://lewisham-consult.limehouse.co.uk/portal/petitions 
 
4. Petitions can also be presented to a meeting of the Council. Anyone who would like 
 to present a petition at a Council meeting, or would like a Councillor to present it 
 on their behalf, should contact the Governance Support Unit on 0208 3149327 at 
 least 5 working days before the meeting. 
 
5. Public petitions that meet the conditions described in the Council’s published 
 petitions scheme and which have been notified in advance, will be accepted and 
 may be presented from the public gallery at the meeting. 

 

Agenda Item 4

Page 9



COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

The Young Mayor of Lewisham 
 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

All 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
 

 The Young Mayor of Lewisham 
 
 On 24 March 2004 the Council endorsed the Mayor's decisions on the 

proposal to set up and fund the office of an annually elected Young 
Mayor. 

 
 The Mayor also agreed to set up an advisory group of between 12 to 

30 young people to support the Young Mayor.  These young people will 
also serve for a 1 year period and will be drawn from school councils 
and other representative forums from across the borough.  The 
membership will have a degree of flexibility to allow for co-options for 
particular areas of interest.  The group will also allow for non-
successful young mayoral candidates to participate. 

 
 The Young Mayor will be an adviser to both the Mayor and to the 

Council as a whole, bringing a young person’s perspective to issues of 
interest.  The Young Mayor will, through various programmes have 
access to a wider cross section of young people’s views and will be 
able to reflect these where appropriate.  The Young Mayor will also 
have access to the Local Strategic Partnership; advise the Children 
and Young People’s Strategic Partnership Board; and be at the 
forefront of the framework for youth participation in the borough.   

 
 The election for a Young Mayor for 2013/14 was held on October 16 

2013 with 21 candidates on the ballot paper.  As a result, on a turn out 
of 49.40%, Emmanuel Olaniyan was elected Young Mayor for the year 
2013/14. 

 
 The candidate with the second highest number of votes, Titanya 

Murdock, will act as his Deputy Mayor during his year of office. The 
third and fourth placed candidates, Saffron Worrell and Liam Islam will 
represent the Borough at the UK Youth Parliament. 

 
 A Code of Conduct for the Young Mayor and the Deputy Mayor is 

attached as an Appendix. 

Agenda Item 5

Page 10



 
 Both the Young Mayor and the appointed Deputy Mayor have been 

invited to attend the meeting to sign their Declaration of Acceptance of 
Office, and an undertaking that they will abide by the Code of Conduct 
for their respective offices, which will be witnessed by the Chief 
Executive. An invitation to attend the meeting has also been extended 
to the members of the Advisory Group who will support the Young 
Mayor during his year of office. 

Page 11



 

    
COUNCIL MEETING     27 NOVEMBER 2013 
        APPENDIX 
        ITEM NO.  
 
 

Young Mayor for Lewisham 
 

Code of Conduct 
 

Purpose 

 
This  Code of Conduct for the Young Mayor, and the Deputy Young Mayor,  is 
designed to promote public confidence in the actions of elected 
representatives, and will apply whenever they carry out activities on behalf of 
the Council, or act as representatives of the Council. 
 
The Code 
 

� I agree that I will carry out any duties required of me to the best of my 
ability, and recognise I have a special duty to all young people in 
Lewisham, including those who did not vote for me. 

 
� I agree that I will work closely with the Mayor, the Council, the Young 

Advisers and the Young Citizens’ Panel, and report regularly to the 
young people of Lewisham. 

 
� I agree that I will not produce materials or use access to publicity that is 

disrespectful to other young people, the Council or the Mayor. 
 
� I recognise that if I bring the office of Young Mayor into disrepute or if a 

complaint is made against me, that I may be subject to an investigation 
carried out by the Chief Executive. If any allegations or breaches of 
code of conduct are upheld then I recognise that my term of office may 
be terminated immediately.  

 
� I agree that I will not behave in a sexist, racist or other manner that 

may offend or discriminate against people.  
 

� And furthermore, as the key representative of young people within the 
borough, I will try and challenge such behaviour if I come across it. 

 
 
Signed ………………………………………….   Dated: 27 November 2013 
 

Page 12



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\1\0\1\ai00007101\$zxyyhkzj.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Public Questions 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
 
. The Council has received questions from members of the public in the order  

shown in the table below. Written responses will be provided to the questioners 
prior to the Council meeting and they will be entitled to attend and ask a 
supplementary question should they wish to. 

 
 Question Questioner 
 

1. Ray Woolford 

2. John Hamilton 

3. Dermot McKibbin 

4. Mr Ambrose 

5. Mrs P Richardson 

6. Dave Edgerton 

7. Kenneth Maxton 

8. Mr P Richardson 

9. Steven Mills 

10. Mr Nundy 

11. Ray Woolford 

12. Dermot McKibbin 

13. Mr Ambrose 

14. Mrs P Richardson 

15. Dave Edgerton 

16. Kenneth Maxton 

17. Mr P Richardson 

18. Steven Mills 

19. Ray Woolford 

20. Dermot McKibbin 

21. Dave Edgerton 

22. Mrs P Richardson 

23. Mr P Richardson 

24. Steven Mills 

25. Ray Woolford 

26. Dermot McKibbin 

27. Mrs P Richardson 

28. Steven Mills 

29. Ray Woolford 

Agenda Item 6

Page 13



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\1\0\1\ai00007101\$zxyyhkzj.doc 

30. Dermot McKibbin 

31. Steven Mills 

32. Ray Woolford 

33. Steven Mills 

34. Ray Woolford 

35. Ray Woolford 

 

Page 14



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
        
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 1 
 
             Priority 1 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Ray Woolford 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Maslin 
 

Question 
 
Can the Council confirm what was its total heating and electricity bill for all 
council buildings and estates in the past financial year? 
 
Can the Council please confirm how much was spent on street and estate 
lighting? 
 

Reply 
 

The total gas and electricity bill for council buildings and estates in 2012/13 
was: 

• Council buildings: £1.28m 

• Estates £2.68m 
 
The total electricity bill for streetlights (excluding estates lighting) is £0.64m.  
The total electricity bill for streetlights on estate roads is £0.12m 
For the purposes of the above, “council buildings” have been defined as the 
operational estate including all corporate office and service buildings.   
Note that the cost of gas includes the cost of hot water as well as heating.  It is 
not possible to separate out heating from hot water. 

Page 15



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 2 
 
             Priority 2 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mr Hamilton 
 
Member to reply: Deputy Mayor  
 

Question 
 

 
Will the decision of the Mayor of London to call in the proposal by Hutchison 
Whampoa have consequences for the Section 106 money to be provided by 
the developer to Lewisham Council for the provision of services on or off the 
site? 

 
Reply 

 
The letter sent by the Mayor of London to the Council on 30 October states that 
he will consult the Council on any draft planning obligation and/or conditions. 
The Council has identified the need for investment in a range of community 
infrastructure projects directly attributable to the impact of the new development 
as well as core strategy policy objectives in terms of providing affordable 
homes and job opportunities and will be seeking to ensure that these are 
included in the Section 106 Agreement. 

 
 

 
 

Page 16



 

 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
        
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 3 
 
             Priority 1 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mr Dermot McKibbin 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 

What are the implications of the recent Court of Appeal decision in Superstrike 
Limited v Rodriguez (2013 EWCA Civ 666) for tenants and landlords in the 
private rented sector in Lewisham? Have all relevant Council staff been trained 
on this case and will the Council provide training for private landlords, private 
tenants and advice agencies in the borough and encourage its partners in the 
South East London Housing Partnership to do so likewise? 
 

Reply 
 
 
 
The recent Court of Appeal case of Superstrike vs. Rodrigues concerns an 
assured shorthold tenancy that was created in the private rented sector in 
January 2007, prior to the introduction of mandatory tenancy deposit protection 
on 6 April 2007. The tenancy continued on a statutory periodic basis from 
January 2008 and the deposit remained unprotected. 
 

Page 17



 

In 2011 a notice was served to end the tenancy. The Court of Appeal has ruled 
that when the tenancy continued on a statutory periodic basis in 2008 a new 
tenancy was made and a new deposit was deemed to have been received, and 
therefore fell under the requirements of tenancy deposit protection legislation. 
Having not met those requirements (to protect the deposit and other conditions) 
the landlord was not entitled to serve a notice to end the tenancy. 
 
This was a very technical case that has caused some confusion about the legal 
position of some aspects of deposit protection and will in all probability remain 
so until further case law is developed to clarify the implications of this 
judgement or a legislative change introduced.  
 
To date the Tenancy Relations Officers have not been approached by any 
landlords or tenants as a result of the Superstrike judgement. The Council does 
not hold any other data to be able to quantify what the implications of this 
decision will be for landlords and tenants in the private rented sector in 
Lewisham.  
 
The Council would strongly urge landlords and tenants to seek advice from 
either the Tenancy Relations Service or their own legal representatives if they 
have any concerns over the status of their deposit protection. 
 
The Tenancy Relations Officers in Lewisham are fully aware of the 
ramifications of the Superstrike judgement and are able to provide  advice on 
the case to both landlords and tenants. Specific training will be provided to 
groups of landlords at the next landlord’s meeting scheduled in the new year. 

 
The case has been highlighted by the authority to the Co-ordinator of the South 
East London Housing Partnership and will be included as an agenda item on 
the next meeting of the Private Rented Sector Sub Group which will ensure that 
all the sub regional Councils are aware of the judgement and its implications. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
        
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 4 
 
             Priority 1 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mr Ambrose 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 
 
A survey of 359 English councils has revealed that some are generating huge 
cash surpluses from parking charges, and that in the league table that has 
been assembled Lewisham is ranked at number 28 with a surplus of 
 £4,603,000.  Could you tell the borough’s residents what this surplus parking 
revenue is spent on, and will you now reduce the charge for parking and 
permits.  Transport minister Norman Baker said: "The law is quite clear. 
Councils should not be pricing their parking in order to make a profit. 
Any monies raised from parking, in excess of the cost of administration, has to 
go back to transport purposes which can be dealing with potholes, improved 
road management or can be investing in public transport to encourage people 
to free up the roads”. 
 

Reply 
 
The RAC Foundation produced the survey referred to in the question and 
based it on 2011/12 parking income surplus.  It is unsurprising that Lewisham 
as an inner London Borough was ranked at number 28.  There were 15 other 
London authorities, 6 unitary authorities and others like Birmingham ranked 

Page 19



 

higher.  The level of surplus reflects a wide range of factors other than the 
charges such as the size of the local authority, the density of population, the 
level car ownership, transport infrastructure, local transport polices and demand 
for parking spaces. 
 
The Council is transparent on all parking matters and produces a Parking 
Annual Report that goes to Mayor and Cabinet setting out all financial matters.  
This includes income and expenditure along with what the surplus is spent on.  
The Parking Annual Report for 2012/13 went to Mayor and Cabinet on 23 
October 2013 and can be found at:  
 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s25050/Parking%20Annual
%20Report.pdf 
 
The Council’s parking policy has to balance the needs of those living, working, 
visiting and trading in the borough as well as ensuring that the cost of parking 
controls is met.  Complicating matters further is the increase in car ownership 
and the insatiable demand for parking spaces along with the need to reduce the 
harmful effects of car use on the environment.  The Council’s parking charges 
reflect the need to not only cover the costs of delivering parking controls but 
also managing these issues.  

 
The parking charges are fixed in accordance with the requirements of the Road 
Traffic Regulation Act 1984.  Section 122 of the Act imposes a duty on the 
Council to use them to ‘secure the expeditious, convenient and safe movement 
of vehicular and other traffic including pedestrians and the provision of suitable 
and adequate parking facilities on and off the highway’.   
 
Charges have been set at a level which is in line with the median level in 
London.  Setting charges at this level ensures that the borough does not 
become a ‘car park’ for those travelling into London from the south east.  It also 
ensures the Council continues to meet the objectives set out above and comply 
with the requirements of Section 122 Road Traffic Regulations Act 1984. 
 
There is a very real danger of an inner London Borough like Lewisham  
becoming a ‘car park’ for commuters.  The introduction of the congestion 
charge in 2003 saw the number of commuters driving into central London 
reduce but the risk was and remains that they park in car parks in the 
surrounding areas.  The Council has multiple transport links into central London 
which makes it a very real risk.  The improvement along the East London line 
has also increased the capacity. This is especially the case as Lewisham is just 
inside zone 2 with cheaper fares and at the end of the Docklands Light Railway.  
Added to this is the fact that access to Lewisham and its car parks is relatively 
easy for commuters driving into to London but becomes more difficult the 
further into London they travel as travel times increase.   
Using the power awarded to the Council under Section 122 of the Road Traffic 
Regulation Act 1984 we have established a range of CPZ’s where resident 
demand was evident and where there was clear evidence to suggest a need for 
one existed.  There are now 18 CPZ’s in the borough. 

 

Page 20



 

In 2012 the Council reviewed its parking policy in response to comments from 
some residents.  The Council conducted a detailed consultation exercise on all 
aspects of parking, including charges.  The outcome of the review was a report 
to Mayor and Cabinet on 10 April 2013 with 37 recommendations.  The Mayor 
agreed all 37 recommendations including the following that specifically related 
to parking charges: 
 

• Freeze charges until 2015/16 and review annually thereafter 

• Consult on any increases after 2015/16 that exceed inflation 

• Introduce a concessionary rate of £30 for low emission vehicles (tax 
bands A and B) 

• Maintain the flat rate charging model rather than charging by the 
number of cars 

• Reduce the weekly visitor permit form £28 to £20 

• On application, provide 10 x 1 hour visitor parking permits free of 
charge annually to resident permit holders. 

• On application, provide 10 x 1 hour visitor parking permits free of 
charge annually to elderly residents living in a CPZ who are not 
resident permit holders and are in receipt of Council Tax Benefit 

• Provide carer permits free of charge 

• Maintain the business permit at £500 

• Maintain current pay and display charges 

• Maintain 30 minute free short stay bays but with the option of up to 1 
hour where appropriate 

• Continue to provide Blue Badge holders with free resident permits 

• Present an Annual Parking report to ensure parking arrangements 
remain transparent 

 
It is considered that the changes to the parking charges and concessions are in 
accordance with the requirements of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984.  
The full financial impact of these changes will not be evident until at least the 
end of the 2014/15 financial year when they have been in place a full year.  
However, a significant reduction in income is anticipated along with a reduction 
in fines issued.  A further reduction in income is anticipated as a result of the 
introduction of cashless car park payment via mobile phone which enables 
drivers to extend their parking sessions remotely. 

 
The Parking Annual Report for 2012/13 provides more detail on how the 
charges are set.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 21



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
        
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 5 
 
             Priority 1 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mrs Richardson 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Best 
 

Question 
 
The Local Government Association recently (12/9/2013) held a "Free Libraries 
Leadership Seminar for new library portfolio holders." 
As Cllr Best (Cabinet Member for Community Services) was one of the 
contributors on the topic "Shared services and community engagement", will 
she be issuing a report to the public in Lewisham on the outcomes of this 
seminar?  Will the LGA be issuing a report covering the content and outcomes 
of the whole seminar, for the benefit of the wider public, which pays for these 
services? 
 

Reply 
 

The Local Government Association provides support to newly elected portfolio 
holders and as part of this organises information sessions so that new elected 
members can increase their awareness and share knowledge of areas of public 
service provision that is new to them.  I was happy to contribute to one of these 
sessions.   
 
There was no additional outcome to the session other than described and there 
is no follow up report. 

Page 22



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
        
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO 6.  
 
             Priority 1 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Dave Edgerton 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Klier 
 

Question 
 
 

How well equipped is the education department in Lewisham in recognising the 
needs of a child with neurofibromatosis?  
 
How well is Lewisham able to ensure any child with Neurofibromatosis is not 
failed in a way I was?  
 
How can Lewisham be assured that no child with neurofibromatosis will suffer 
bullying whether at the hands of another child or by a teacher?  
 

Reply 
 
 

Neurofibromatosis is a genetic disease that leads to the growth in small 
tumours on the nerve cell endings and under the skin.   The presentation of the 
neurofibromatosis can vary from discolouration of skin pigmentation to bone 
malformation.  It can affect vision within a smaller proportion of those 
diagnosed with it and in some cases result in a learning disability. 
 

Page 23



 

In  Lewisham we have a designated team of school nurses based throughout 
the schools across the borough.  School Nurses will pick up any medical 
conditions that children may have in the school and support the school to meet 
the needs of that child. 
 
Lewisham has an anti-bullying policy that is currently being reviewed as part of 
our local Lewisham Safeguarding Children Board.  Lewisham also initiates 
involvement from an educational psychologist when incidents of bullying are 
reported. 
 
Lewisham has also become a signatory to the Disabled Children’s Charter via 
our Health and Wellbeing Board and, as such, has made commitments to 
improve the quality of life and outcomes experienced by disabled children, 
young people and their families, including children and young people with 
special educational needs and health conditions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
        
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO 7.  
 
             Priority 1 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Kenneth Maxton 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 
 

Can a complete picture of the Milford Towers decant please be given since 
it began in the spring of 2012, mentioning the number of secure tenancies 
remaining, the presence and activity of housing associations by name and 
other housing bodies and agencies on the estate? Is the proposed date for 
complete evacuation of the properties still the end of 2015 ? 
 

Reply 
 

 

Milford Towers consists of 276 properties, including 22 leaseholders. The 
Council started re-housing secure tenants in April 2012 and since this time, 190 
have moved by agreement, across the borough using the Council’s choice 
based lettings scheme Homesearch.  
 
Milford Towers is currently being used as mixed tenure accommodation to 
address a variety of housing needs including existing secure tenants who will 
be decanted, homeless households waiting for permanent social rented 

Page 25



 

housing and locally employed people on lower salaries who cannot afford full 
market rents or access low cost home ownership.  
 
At the start of the process, the Council considered a range of security 
measures and developed a bespoke approach in order to maximise security 
and maintain a positive living environment through use of occupation rather 
than grills. All 2 bed units are used as temporary accommodation to house 
homeless households who are then able to bid for suitably sized permanent 
social rented housing. For the other properties, the Council initially used 
property guardian company Ad Hoc to provide live-in guardians and a small 
number have been grilled where the condition was such that other occupation 
at the time was not possible.  
 
In January 2013 the Council began a private leasing scheme with partner 
Notting Hill Housing Association. Notting Hill lease units on short hold tenancies 
to local people at below market rents. The scheme was introduced to meet a 
gap in the market and the needs of local employed people on low salaries who 
cannot afford home ownership or full market rents. Notting Hill has a waiting list 
for these properties and are bringing back into use many of the properties that 
had previously been grilled.  
 
Currently there are 54 secure tenants; 151 properties are managed by Notting 
Hill; 22 are leasehold; 35 are used as temporary accommodation; there are 9 
long term voids being bought back into use; one will remain void; two are void 
awaiting void works for temporary use and secure tenants are currently moving 
from a further two.  
 
The Council is still working towards obtaining vacant possession of Milford 
Towers by the end of 2015. The Council also continues to look at the options 
for the whole of Catford Town Centre and so the detailed timetable for Milford 
Towers will respond to these wider plans as they develop.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 26



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
        
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO 8.  
 
             Priority 1 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mr Richardson 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Best 
 

Question 
 

Some pedestrians visiting the Manor House, Lee, during library opening hours 
have been complaining to us that the Old Road entrances are being blocked by 
vehicles.  In addition, at certain times, several library visitors who arrive by car, 
frequently can not find parking space in the drive. Clearly there is a problem 
and it is strongly believed that some of the cars parked in the drive belong to 
people who do not use the House facilities and instead visit Manor House 
Gardens or use the shops located on the nearby Lee High Road. 
 
Would it be possible to display a sign on one of the entrance piers to announce  
"Parking restricted to House visitors only" - or something similar? 
This could be quite a cheap remedy if it were for example, a laminated A3 
printed sign which may prove to be effective and relieve the annoyance 
experienced by genuine users of the building. 
 

Reply 
 

This issue has come to our attention and it is being monitored closely. 
 
Our current thinking to address this issue includes the following measures: 

Page 27



 

 
1. raising the grass curb to make it impossible to park on the grass 
2. improving signage for the existing parking spaces 
3. consideration is being given to an entry camera monitoring system, which 

would issue a fine for overstaying a maximum number of hours (e.g. 2 
hours). 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
        
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO 9.  
 
             Priority 1 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Steven Mills 
 
Member to reply: Cllr Wise 
 

Question 
 

In September, I asked the following question of the Mayor: 

Can the Mayor advise how many revised Major Works bills have been re-
issued to date to leaseholders in Brockley, reflecting the determination of the 
Upper Tribunal in February that Higgins Construction had charged excess profit 
in its charges to leaseholders. 
 
His answer referred only to the 23 leaseholders who were involved in the legal 
case against Lewisham and its PFI agents. Is he able, this time, to comment on 
how far his PFI agents have progress in reimbursing the remaining 480 or so 
leaseholders in Brockley and Ladywell?  
 

Reply 
 

All leaseholders in the Brockley PFI area have been awarded the 2% reduction 
on the profit level levied on the Refurbishment Works, as per the ruling of the 
Upper Tribunal, and individual leaseholder accounts have been credited 
accordingly. All leaseholders were written to w/c 11th November 2013 advising 
them of this credit.  

Page 29



 

 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
                                       

       PUBLIC QUESTION NO 10.  
 
             Priority 1 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mr Nundy 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Maslin 
 

Question 
 

According to the accounts, Lewisham Council spent £14.37m on agency staff in 
2012/13. For an agency employed member of staff on £12 per hour how much 
are the agency charging Lewisham Council per hour? 
 

 
Reply 

 
The agency and the Councils Managed Service Provider charge fees which 
cover the cost of supplying the worker, these range between £0.77 (Admin & 
clerical staff) to £3.51 (Legal staff). These fees are dependent on the category 
of worker supplied.  
 
For example a Care worker working 35 hours a week, receiving £12 an hour 
would cost the council £16.28. This would include National Insurance and 
holiday pay (approx £2.92) and the agency’s and managed service Provider’s 
fees (£1.36). 

 
 

Page 30



 

Agency usage is reported to the Public Accounts committee, in July 2013 it was 
reported that the total number of agency staff employed as at March 2013 was 
608 compared to 671 in March 2012.  This reduction in agency numbers in 
2012/13 had led to a 7.6% reduction in agency spend from  2011/12.   
 
The main reason for agency usage over the last year has been for additional 
staffing/flexible resourcing pending reorganisations and to deal with an 
increased workload.   

The greater majority of the agency staff are engaged in two areas i.e. adult 
social care and refuse collection/street sweeping for the reasons described 
above.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
      

Page 31



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
        
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 11 
 
             Priority 2 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Ray Woolford 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Best 
 

Question 
 
At the Council Meeting on 28 November 2012,  I asked a public 
question inviting the Council to confirm what monitoring and checks  were in 
place across Lewisham Care Homes. This question was raised after a 
BBC Dispatches programme and concerns People Before Profit had 
about monitoring of our vulnerable residents. 

 
Have you now considered the damning report by the Care Commission  this 
month who made a random visit at the Manley Court Care Home in John 
Williams Close, New Cross which clearly shows Lewisham failed in its Duty of 
Care to protect the residents ?  
 
Which Councillor is responsible for this lapse? And why after I had raised 
this issue as long ago as November 2012, did Lewisham Council fail to ensure 
monitoring and checks were being carried out regularly . 

 
Can you explain why People Before Profits’ consistent calls for monitoring of 
Council responsibilities are ignored and brushed aside at the expense of the 
well being of the Boroughs most vulnerable residents. Will the Labour Group 
take responsibility for this failure and make a public apology?  

Page 32



 

 
 

Reply 
 

I believe you have based this question on inaccurate information.  I am pleased 
therefore to have the opportunity to clarify the position.   
 
It is absolutely not the case that the Council has been unaware of quality 
concerns at Manley Court.  Council officers have been working in partnership 
with the Care Quality Commission (CQC) over a period of many months to 
improve quality of care in all provision a Manley Court.  The Council raised 
these concerns with the CQC. 
 
The provider has been very willing to work to improve and self-imposed a 
restriction on new admissions as from September 2013 to enable them to 
continue to address quality of care in a stable environment.   
 
Many of the CQC and Council’s original concerns have been addressed but 
there are outstanding areas outlined in the July visit which although better are 
still not at the level of performance required.  Council officers in agreement with 
the CQC continue to work with the provider to address these outstanding 
issues. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 33



 

 
     

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 12 
 
             Priority 2 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Dermot McKibbin 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 

Does the Council have a strategy for dealing with housing problems in the 
private rented sector and encouraging improvements in the private rented 
sector and will the Council encourage other neighbouring local authorities to 
draw up a joint strategy for the private rented sector in South East London as a 
whole? 

Reply 
 
 
It is one of the key priorities for the Council to deal with various issues within 
the private rented sector. To deliver on this priority the Council recently 
established the Private Sector Housing Agency (PSHA) with critical focus on:- 
 

• Increasing the supply of good quality, well managed private rented 
sector accommodation accessible for citizens of Lewisham 

• Improving the quality of the private rented sector by guiding and 
empowering landlords, setting, implementing and where necessary 

Page 34



 

enforcing property standards incorporating the housing health and safety 
rating system (HHSRS) 

• Targeted approach to locating and identifying unlicensed houses in 
multiple occupation (HMOs) and to ensure they are licensed and comply 
with relevant property standards. 

• Targeting and tackling rogue landlords a new multi agency task force 
including internal and external agencies such as Housing, Building 
Control, Planning, Environmental Health, Housing Benefit, other South 
East London Local Authorities, Fire Service and Police etc 

• Reducing the number of empty properties by brining them back into use 
through the empty property grants programme  

• Drastically increasing the number of accredited landlords through the 
London Landlord Accreditation Scheme, incidentally, the next training 
session is taking place at the Civic Suites on Friday 29th November 2013 
at 9.30am 

• Holding regular landlord forums to train, communicate and disseminate 
best practice, ensuring our landlords are aware of their responsibilities 
around property standards. Lewisham is also directly working with the 
Greater London Council through membership of their London Rental 
Standard Steering Group, which has been set up to deliver London 
Rental Standard (LRS). 

 
 
Lewisham Council is also working with its sub-regional partners through the 
South East London Housing Partnership(SELHP) to take forward various joint 
initiatives which will benefit the private rented sector in the South East London 
such as the SELHP landlord website, allowing private sector landlords from 
South East London to advertise their properties, FREE.  It also gives me great 
pleasure to confirm that Lewisham Council successfully hosted the South East 
London Landlords Day at the Civic Suite on 20th November 2013, organised by 
the South East London Housing Partnership and all five boroughs were well 
represented.  The event was supported by exhibitors from various fields but all 
relevant to housing and was attended by landlords from all over the South East 
London sub-region who had access to various workshops such as:- 
 

• Tackling damp, condensation and mould 

• Sustainable and effective tenancies 

• London Rental Standard 

• Making your property more energy efficient etc 
 
The Council is continuously developing and implementing local and sub-
regional strategies to increase accessibility into the private rented sector at the 
same time improving property standards to provide good quality homes.       
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 35



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 13 
 
             Priority 2 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mr Ambrose 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Daby 
 

Question 
 

I have just read the report by the The United Kingdom Peace Index and I am 
shocked by it's findings. It lists Lewisham as coming bottom in this survey.  
 
Bottom 20 Least Peaceful Local Authority Areas in England and Wales, 2013 
 

Rank  
 

Name Score Region 

343 Lewisham 4.529 London 
 

342 Lambeth 4.494 London 
 

341  
 

Hackney 4.402 London 

340  
 

Newham 4.364 London 

339  
 

Tower 
Hamlets 

4.360 London 

338  
 

Hammersmith 
& Fulham 

4.352 London 

337  Islington 4.343 London 

Page 36



 

Rank  
 

Name Score Region 

336  
 

Southwark 4.314 London 

335  
 

Brent 4.235 London 

334  
 

Haringey 4.221 London 

333  
 

Waltham 
Forest 

4.076 London 

332  
 

City of 
Westminster 

4.061 London 

331  
 

Greenwich 4.002 London 

330  
 

Ealing 3.949 London 

329  
 

Croydon 3.931 London 

328  
 

Camden 3.914 London 

327  
 

Barking & 
Dagenham 

3.842 London 

326  
 

Manchester 3.752 North 
West 

325 Birmingham 3.724 West 
Midland. 
 

 
The United Kingdom Peace Index is the first comprehensive measure of levels 
of peacefulness within the UK from 2003 to 2012. 
 
Have the Council any plans to meet with the local police and discuss these 
disgraceful findings in this report.  
 

Reply 
 

This question was asked in June and the following answer was provided which 
has not changed.   

 
I can confirm that the Council has discussed this report with the Police.  The 
data used for the report stretches back over 10 years and therefore presents a 
10 year average for rates of homicide, weapons crime, violent crime and violent 
disorder.  This does not reflect the downward trend in violent crime which has 
been particularly marked in recent years. 
 
Serious youth violence and knife crime have been reduced by 39% and 29% 
respectively over the last 2 calendar years.  These figures are also supported 
by NHS data. 
 
These reductions have been driven by a zero tolerance approach to the 
carrying of knifes and those intent on inflicting serious harm in our communities. 
Extensive work with schools and community groups has also been undertaken 

Page 37



 

and remains a key component of Lewisham’s strategy to reduce violent crime.  
Putting the needs of victims first is the overriding priority, and in putting our 
strategy together we were guided by the views of local people, as expressed 
through such bodies as the Lewisham Community and Police Consultative 
Group.  It should also be noted that work undertaken in this area is audited by 
external bodies such as the Home Office, which recently cited good practice 
undertaken by the Council’s Youth Offending Service in the anti-gangs strategy 
and other partners’ work in this area. 
 
Despite these reductions the Safer Lewisham Partnership is not complacent 
and in its annual review of the borough’s Crime and Disorder Strategy the 
Board opted to renew its commitment to reducing knife crime and serious youth 
violence, and continue to work with the Police, partners and the community to 
reduce the numbers of our citizens victimised by violent crime. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 14 
 
             Priority 2 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mrs Richardson 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 

The NewsShopper recently reported that Lewisham Council has taken the 
"First step to dealing with housing crisis" by giving planning permission for 6 
family homes of 2/3 bedrooms, as part of the New Homes Better Places 
programme for 250 council homes over the next 4 years. The Council has given 
planning permission for large numbers of new apartment blocks to be built 
within the borough, and still on-going.  How did these units meet the needs of 
local people over the last 4 years? As some were advertised abroad, how many 
were sold to non-residents?  Did any of these new units help to meet the 
Council's admitted housing crisis? 
 

Reply 
 
Unfortunately, the Council has no power over headlines in the NewsShopper. 
However, the questioner appears to have missed the point of the story which is 
that the Council will be building these homes itself, the first such instance for 
more than 30 years. This is possible because of a change to the way in which 
council housing is funded, a reform which was initially put in place by the 
previous Labour government.  
 

Page 39



 

The Planning Service, monitor housing completions each year and publish the 
data in the Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) each December. The number of 
residential planning permissions granted each year is also recorded but not 
published in the AMR. The completions data for the last 4 years shows that 
about 95% of completed units are in flats and about 5% in houses. 
 
Residential planning permission is granted to the applicant who can be either a 
provider of social housing or private housing. Increasingly social providers also 
build homes for private sale. The social housing element is known in planning 
terms as affordable housing and is defined as housing for eligible households 
whose needs are not met by the market. Affordable housing is usually let by the 
social providers to local households who qualify. The private sales element is 
sold or let on the open market to anyone who can afford to buy. In recent years 
it has become clear that many volume house builders have sold the private 
stock to foreign investors or buyers. However, the council has no records of the 
private sales so is unable to say how many are sold abroad. 
 
The Council’s planning policy on affordable housing is that on any private 
scheme over 10 units it will seek the maximum affordable housing provision 
possible with a strategic target of 50% to be affordable subject to viability. 
 
The table below shows data for housing completions for the last 4 years. The 
total net affordable homes are those provided to local people who qualify, that 
is, affordable homes. The total private sales can be sold to anyone who can 
pay. It is likely that the majority of private sales are made to those who live in 
the UK but the Council does not have records on this matter 
 

Residential Units Completed in past 4 years 

Year 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

private 614 369 634 1,241 

affordable 168 359 554 564 

Total 
permissions 

782 728 1,188 1,805 

 
With regard to planning permissions many more are granted each year than are 
actually constructed. The planning records for permissions for the last 4 years 
are shown in the table below. 
 

Residential Units Granted Planning Permissions in past 4 years 

Year 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

private 1918 896 5234 348 

affordable 1373 501 1251 268 

Total 
permissions 

3291 1397 6485 616 

 
The Council has 100% nomination rights to all new build affordable rented 
properties and these are let to applicants on the authority’s Housing Register in 
accordance with the publically available Allocations Policy. All households on 
the Housing Register will have a recognised need for housing and have a local 
connection to Lewisham. 

Page 40



 

 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 15 
 
             Priority 2 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Dave Edgerton 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 
How well is Lewisham complying with the clean air act and what improvements 
can be made? 
 

Reply 
 

Under the Clean Air Act 1993, Lewisham is complying with requirements; and 
in 2011, declared the whole Borough, a ‘Smoke Control Area’; and aims to 
reduce air pollution, making it an offence to produce smoke from a chimney, 
furnace or boiler. It is also an offence to emit dark smoke from a bonfire on any 
trade or commercial site. 
 
Practically we advise residents on smoking chimneys, burners, commercial 
fires and exempt appliances; reminding residents that, under air pollution laws, 
it is illegal to burn coal or wood in an open fireplace unless the fuel is 
smokeless or appliance exempt. We also respond to complaints and follow up 
with cautions and enforcement when required.  
 

Page 41



 

Also please note requirements attaining to the Environment Act 1995 Part IV, 
are being progressed through the Air Quality Action Plan. Earlier this year the 
Borough adopted measures to extend it’s air quality management areas 
(AQMA), to cover the Crofton Park area to help improve local air quality 
attaining to the reduction of Nitrogen Oxide (NOx) levels. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 16 
 
             Priority 2 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Kenneth Maxton 
 
Member to reply: Deputy Mayor 
 

Question 
 
Mindful of the requirement for confidentiality in the particulars of land 
acquisition and the business affairs of parties with whom the Council 
negotiates, is the present general state of affairs concerning  the Tesco 
supermarket in the Catford Centre such that the Council is optimistic for a 
satisfactory settlement within the timescale set out for the Centre's 
redevelopment ? 

Reply 
 
 

As is well documented Tesco corporately have been undergoing changes in 
direction and reviewing their approach to both existing and proposed stores. 
The Tesco supermarket is one element of the redevelopment of the Catford 
Centre, however, the Council's ownership of the Catford Shopping Centre 
(excluding the long lease of Tesco) as well as Milford Towers and other key 
town centre sites means the Council can influence future regeneration plans 
including the Catford Centre. 

Page 43



 

Following improvement in the economic climate and increased interest in 
Catford the Council is currently reviewing the best way forward for the 
regeneration of Catford town centre and the Catford Centre within this. This will 
involve consideration of potential programme. Currently the Council believe that 
the timescales set out within the Catford Plan could be achievable.  Albeit , this 
is still subject to many factors, including identifying a deliverable scheme and 
agreeing commercial terms with the key parties who are, or will be, involved in 
the redevelopment of the site.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 17 
 
             Priority 2 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mr Richardson 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Best 
 

Question 
 

 
The Manor House at Lee now has a licence to perform Marriages and Civil 
Ceremonies.  The numbers so far performed are relatively few. 
Since the facilities inside the House are first class, I suspect the reason for this 
may be due to the unfortunate neglect of the grounds at the entrance. 
Not only are 4 of the light-stands lining the drive broken and laid askew on the 
ground and have been for some considerable time, but the garden borders 
have been allowed to become distastefully untidy.  This must be 'off-putting' to 
prospective couples eager to "tie the knot" at what should be a very attractive 
Borough venue.  Fixing the broken light-stands is well overdue. 
Does the Library Budget have a contingency fund within it which may be used 
to rectify matters and possibly provide some periodic garden attention in order 
to increase its attraction? 

Reply 
 
 

The number of ceremonies taking place at Manor House is increasing steadily.  
This is expected to increase more markedly when the new marketing material is 

Page 45



 

produced as earlier material did not include Manor House as a suitable venue 
for ceremonies. 
  
The issue with the lights has been reported to our property services 
department, and a survey of the site has taken place.  Regular maintenance is 
carried out in the garden. 
 
The Library and Information Service has no provision in its budget allocation for 
building maintenance as these resources are provided from elsewhere in the 
Council. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 46



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
        
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 18 
 
             Priority 2 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mr Mills 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 

Can the Mayor comment on why elements of Regenter Brockley’s website are 
no longer working, in particular the payment portal, or as to why material on the 
site is so out of date to render it useless?  
 

Reply 
 

RegenterB3 apologise for the temporary suspension of some aspects of their 
website, in particular the customer payment portal. RegenterB3 is currently in 
the process of renegotiating the contract for this element of the website and full 
services will resume by January 2014.  
 
Pinnacle has also put in place a web development plan, which has been agreed 
by the Council, and a Project Group will commence delivery of this plan in the 
new year.  The plan focuses on the requirements to improve both the overall 
content and functionality of the site.  Pinnacle will continue to undertake 
consultation with residents about the ongoing development and maintenance of 
the site.  

 
 

Page 47



 

     

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 19 
 
             Priority 3 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Ray Woolford  
 
Member to reply:  Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 
Can the Council please confirm what the Council’s policy is on metal gates on 
front doors of Council homes in light of fire chiefs calls that they cause real 
concerns in the case of fire,  and with police concerns that metal gates cause 
real concerns with gaining access. 
 
Are you further aware that Tenants and Residents Associations also report that 
many of these metal gates cause real noise and anti social behaviour with 
banging and clanging at all hours causing real misery for residents in adjoining 
 homes. 

 
 

Reply 
 

The Council recognises the potential hazards that metal grilles can cause and it 
strongly urges housing management providers, tenants and leaseholders not to 
install grilles and, where they are installed, to remove them.  This is particularly 
the case now that tenants and leaseholders have benefitted from receiving new 

Page 48



 

high quality front doors which meet current fire and secure by design standards 
which therefore negate the need for grilles.  
 
There is no specific legislative requirement which calls for the removal of grilles 
and therefore this is a management issue that requires the balance of the risk 
against the wishes of tenants who perceive a safety or other benefit from 
having a grille. As such, officers are currently taking legal advice about the 
potential to insist that grilles are removed and to make sure that this position is 
legally enforceable.  In conjunction with this, a draft letter has also been written 
that will be sent to residents but the content is also being reviewed by legal 
advisors to ensure the approach is appropriate. 
 
In the interim, where a metal grille is identified in the course of Decent Homes 
or other refurbishment works the following procedure is followed: 

• Where tenants and leaseholders have fitted grilles and security gates to 
their properties that need to be removed to carry out major works, these will 
be removed and handed back to the resident.  

• Grilles and security gates will not be replaced following the works, unless 
approved by the relevant Health and Safety Manager, as they pose a health 
and safety risk in the event of a fire. 

• Where residents have fitted grilles and security gates to a property that has 
subsequently become void, if the void property is being refurbished as part 
of the major works programme , the grilles and security gates will be 
removed prior to the new tenant moving in and not replaced. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 

 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 20 
 
             Priority 3 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Dermot McKibbin 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 
How many staff does the Council employ who deal with tenancy relations work 
in the private rented sector and how does this figure compare with other 
neighbouring authorities? 
 

Reply 
 
Lewisham employs two dedicated officers to carry out the Tenancy Relations 
Officer function.  Local authorities can also discharge their duties to private 
sector tenants in differing ways and the Tenancy Relations Officer role can be 
incorporated into other roles such as Environmental Health Officers or Housing 
Options Officers. 
 
There are no published statistics on the number of officers allocated to this 
work on a borough basis.  Each borough will have its own approach and 
therefore specific comparisons do not necessarily reflect the amount of work 
undertaken or indeed the specific challenges faced.  Broadly Lewisham’s 
resources are in line with similar local Authorities in the region.  
 

Page 50



 

 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
        
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 21 
 
             Priority 3 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Dave Edgerton 
 
Member to reply: Deputy Mayor 
 

Question 
 
As a councillor I spent years campaign for a safer pedestrian crossing at the 
junction of Courthill Road and Lewisham High Street. How far is Lewisham and 
TFL away from a solution? 
  

Reply 
 
Lewisham High Street, as part of the Red Route network, is the responsibility of 
Transport for London (TfL), not of the Council. Also all traffic signals in London 
are the responsibility of TfL.  
 

TfL now have a scheme, which they are currently completing detailed design 
on.  We understand that the works should begin on site in April 2014 and will 
continue for 3 months.  The scheme will include, the Lewisham High 
Street/Courthill Road junction. A toucan crossing is proposed across A21 (north 
side) and also crossings on Whitburn Road and Courthill Road “arms”. 

 
 

Page 51



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 22 
 
             Priority 3 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mrs Richardson 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Best 
 

Question 
 

In view of the changes in charging for CEL classes and the alterations involved 
in enrolment requirements as introduced from September 2013 has the Council 
noticed any downturn in enrolment for the seniors, who used to receive a 
concession, but no longer do so?  How do these figures compare with those 
who still receive a seniors' concession for certain classes? 
 
What are the overall enrolment statistics for each centre? 
 
How many classes and which classes have been cancelled due to lack of 
numbers, if any?  Which centres do they affect? 
 
 

Reply 
 
CEL continues to offer concessions to learners on Skills Funding Agency (SFA) 
provision.  The only change to concessions for this type of delivery is for 
women, being an increase from age 62 in 2012/13 to age 63 in 2013/14.  

Page 52



 

The number of these learners has remained relatively stable at 561 in 2012/13 
& 538 in 2013/14. This is against a backdrop of a known increase of learners 
on employability and Skills for Life provision. 
 

Learners enrolled at 18 Nov 
Not 

Senior Senior 
Grand 
Total 

% 
Senior 

2012/13 2188 561 2749 20% 

2013/14 2467 538 3005 18% 

      

Of which; 13/14 Studio classes 
only 308 63 371 17% 

 
For other provision, the only significant change to delivery are studio classes 
where there are no concessions for learners of any age. The proportion of older 
learners on these courses is comparable with SFA funded courses.  
 
What are the overall enrolment statistics for each centre? 
 

Enrolments to 18 Nov in 
each year Year  

Venue 2012/13 2013/14 
% 

Difference 

Brockley 2793 3117 12% 

Granville Park 1183 1585 34% 

Grove Park 498 758 52% 

Offsite 461 808 75% 

    

Grand Total 4935 6268 27% 

 
Changes in curriculum design in Skills for Life, a stronger web presence and an 
increase in minimum class size are likely to be the main contributing factors to 
the increased enrolment levels. 
 
Provision closed so far in 2013/14 (analysis on 13/11/13) shows closures are 
3% lower than 2012/13 for the same period. Only one planned Studio class, 
across the whole service, was cancelled for not meeting the minimum class 
size.  It is not possible to give details on individual class closures as this 
information affects tutor contracts and the future viability of courses.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 23 
 
             Priority 3 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mr Richardson 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Best 
 

Question 
 

The number of housing units scheduled for the development of Convoy's Wharf 
is considerable and thus portends a major increase in population for that area. 
Are there any plans for the construction of, or provision for a local Lewisham 
Library Authority branch library, which would offer full library facilities for this 
expected growth in population? 
 

Reply 
 
The Council has relatively recently constructed the Deptford Lounge in the 
heart of Deptford High Street as part of a development that also includes 
Tidemill Academy, with which the community shares space and facilities, plus 
Resolution Studios, consisting of 38 affordable apartments with nine studios for 
local businesses and an exhibition space. The Lounge was constructed to be 
the main hub for existing and new residents and businesses in the Deptford 
area.  
 
 
 
 

Page 54



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
           
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 24 
 
             Priority 3 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 

Question asked by: Mr Mills 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 

Leaseholders in Brockley received formal notification in October that service 
charge bills for 2013/14 would be delayed. While this is the first time that formal 
legal notice has been given for the delays, it is the fifth year in a row that bills 
have not been issued on time, in spite of assurances from council officials to 
the Brockley Leaseholders’ Association last year that reconciliation and auditing 
processes would be streamlined.  

 

Can the Mayor explain what specifically has gone wrong this year?  

 
Reply 

 
I assume that you refer to service charge bills for 2012-13. Regenter B3 and 
Pinnacle have undertaken a review of their service this year and taken steps to 
improve the processing of service charge bills. Pinnacle regrets the delay in 
processing the service charge bills for 2012-13, which was caused by delays in 
processing some elements of the service charges. 
 
Pinnacle has confirmed that actual bills for 2012-13 service charges have now 
been issued and all leaseholders should have received these w/c 28 October 
2013.      

Page 55



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 25 
 
             Priority 4 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Ray Woolford  
 
Member to reply:  The Mayor 
 

Question 
 
The Build the Lennox project, is one of the most visionary projects ever to be 
launched in London with potential to generate huge numbers of jobs, kick start 
the local economy and give huge pride to all residents of Lewisham. 
Can the  Mayor and Council, on behalf of all Lewisham residents, seek to work 
with the Trustees of the project to see how the Council’s support can be used to 
secure funding, and to ensure that the pledge by the Convoy Wharf developers, 
to give over land to the project, is secured because at present the developer 
says that it will offer the land but feel the project will be unable to secure 
funding?  
 
The full support of the Mayor and Council, would help address this issue, whilst 
giving real boost to fundraising and turning this vision into reality.  

 
Reply 

 
I have made it very clear that the Council is supportive of the Build the Lenox 
project following their presentation to Mayor and Cabinet in September. The 
Council will work with GLA, Hutchison Whampoa, and the Build the Lenox 
Group to review and agree the most appropriate way forward to ensure the 
inclusion of the project in the Convoys Wharf development. 

Page 56



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 26 
 
             Priority 4 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Dermot McKibbin 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 
How many private landlords have been prosecuted for unlawful eviction in 
recent years by the Council and how does this figure compare with other 
neighbouring authorities? 
 

Reply 
 
The Council undertakes civil action rather then criminal proceedings to deal 
with illegal evictions as this results in better outcomes for the tenants involved. 
The immediate concern for the Council and any household facing illegal 
eviction is to have the tenancy reinstated.  A criminal prosecution does not 
achieve the reinstatement of the tenancy. Once a tenant has either re-entered 
their property or had to find alternative accommodation it is very difficult to 
subsequently get them to act as a witness in a criminal prosecution.   
  
The Council does have a robust civil action programme in place where the 
Tenancy Relations Officers assist the tenants to prepare papers and claims for 
court action to obtain injunctions for re-entry where appropriate, attend court 
hearings with them and help them pursue civil action for damages which can 
result in  financial compensation if the court feels it appropriate. 

Page 57



 

Speed is essential in commencing action to gain re-entry to a private sector 
property where an illegal eviction has taken place and the civil action provides a 
cost effective service for tenants who would not be able to pursue action 
through the court system without assistance and in most cases would not be 
eligible for publicly funded assistance from a solicitor or in a position to pay 
directly for legal representation.   
 
Hence for all these reasons the Council has not undertaken any criminal 
prosecutions of landlords for unlawful eviction. 
 
There is no published information available on the level of prosecutions in 
respect of illegal evictions that neighbouring authorities have carried out. There 
is no statutory duty for local authorities to report this information to the 
Department for Communities and Local Government and enquiries made to 
London Council’s and the South East London Housing Partnership have 
confirmed that there is no collated data held on this subject centrally in London. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 58



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
        
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 27 
 
             Priority 4 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mrs Richardson 
 
Member to reply: Deputy Mayor 
 

Question 
 
At CQT in June 2013 the Council answered my question (7) on the subject of 
street lighting, saying "The purpose of the new lighting is to illuminate the road 
and footway to the current British Standard, BS 5489-1 which takes account of 
light pollution.  The authority seeks to minimise  light spill and ensure that the 
new lighting causes as little disruption as possible. The light used is changing 
from orange sodium unit to white unit which has a lower impact on wildlife." 
 
The British Standards produced were based on the results of the Royal 
Commission on street lighting and I am still waiting for a complete reply to my 
concerns that in Manor Lane Terrace the new lighting, installed after my original 
question, is creating maximum light spill in the gardens and interiors of houses 
both the ground floors and first floors.  The person earmarked to answer 
concerns on where the British Standards were clearly not being met only dealt 
with some points, not the important points. 
 
Will the Council answer these concerns properly as we now have no night time 
in Manor Lane Terrace and higher light levels than in some other, busier roads? 
In addition where is the line of responsibility and accountability drawn between 
the paid provider and the Council contracting the service out? 

Page 59



 

How can the Council claim there is no impact on wildlife (what about plant life?) 
when there is no night and the night sky has disappeared? 
 

Reply 
 
The scheme in Manor Lane Terrace will have its lighting levels tested once the 
old redundant columns have been removed, the photometric testing will be 
carried out to ascertain if the lighting levels for that location are what we would 
expect and conform to the British Standard.  However, we are confident that the 
design is correct and this will be checked once the scheme has been 
completed. 
 
As Mrs Richardson is aware, we are in the process of arranging a site visit to 
her property to assess what the effects are on her property. 
 
The Council has not said there is no impact on wildlife, we stated that white 
light has less impact than yellow lighting.  With all changes there is a balance 
between varying concerns, from road safety, fear of crime and the effects on 
wildlife and we believe that this has been taken into account in this instance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



 

 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
        
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 28 
 
             Priority 4 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mr Mills 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 
Brockley leaseholders are soon to endure a cycle of ‘decorative works’ being 
carried out by the council’s PFI agents Rydon, part of the PFI consortium. Can 
the Mayor explain what safeguards and approvals processes he and the 
Council have in place,  through the PFI contract or otherwise, to manage the 
cost of scaffolding that might need to be erected as part of any work? How will 
the length of scaffolding being erected be limited? Learning lessons from the 
2011 Leasehold Valuation Tribunal, will more cost-efficient means of carrying 
out work (e.g. small cranes) be used?  
 

Reply 
 
 
The Council’s priority is to achieve best value on all contracts of this nature for 
all of its residents. In this case, achieving best value on the works programme 
will also translate into lower costs for leaseholders.  
 
To that end scaffolding will only be used in line with the necessary Health and 
Safety Regulations and any further statutory regulations to enable safe access 

Page 61



 

by operatives to carry out the necessary works. Consideration will be given, 
where appropriate, to other forms of access where Health and Safety legislation 
permits and where the costs of employing this are more cost effective than 
scaffolding. The scaffolding for the contract is procured on an annual basis at a 
fixed sum rate therefore the cost, and subsequent recharge to leaseholders, is 
not directly linked to the amount of scaffolding used and/or the duration of use 
on each individual property or block. The total cost of the scaffolding for the 
year is then apportioned to the properties/blocks where it is used and the 
recharges to leaseholders are then applied accordingly. Scaffolding will only be 
erected for the minimum period required while all necessary works take place.   

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      

Page 62



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 29 
 
             Priority 5 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Ray Woolford  
 
Member to reply:  Councillor Klier 
 

Question 
 
In line with the link between food and educational achievement, does Lewisham 
Council have plans to extend free school meals to all children in the borough up 
to the age of 16? 

 
Reply 

 
The Council has no plans to extend free school meals to all children up to the 
age of 16. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 63



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 30 
 
             Priority 5 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Dermot McKibbin 
 
Member to reply: Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 
How many injunctions have Council staff obtained in recent years to help 
private tenants who have been unlawfully evicted and how does this figure 
compare with other neighbouring boroughs? 
 

Reply 
 
At the end of October 2013 the Council has assisted 11 tenants to obtain  
injunctions.  
 
There is no published information in respect of illegal evictions for other 
boroughs. The  Department for Communities and Local Government,  London 
Councils and the South East London Housing Partnership have all confirmed 
that there is no data held on this subject centrally in London. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



 

     

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 31 
 
             Priority 5 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mr Mills  
 
Member to reply:  Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 
How long will leaseholders have to pay Lewisham and its PFI agents ‘Regenter 
B3’ once cyclical works have been completed to our properties?  

 
Reply 

 
Repayment arrangements for the lifecycle programme works will be on the 
same basis as those for the Refurbishment programme. 
 
As per the terms of individual leases, all leaseholders are required to pay 
service charge demands within 28 days. The Council however, operates an 
extended repayment options policy that allows leaseholders, who sign up to an 
agreed repayment plan, a longer period of time to pay these charges. 
Leaseholders will receive written details of the payment options in place when 
the consultation period commences.  
 
 
 

Page 65



 

There are a range of options that are available for resident leaseholders, 
including; 
 

• For bills under £3,000, a 24 month interest free period for lessees is 
available 

• For bills between £3,000 and £10,000, a 36 month interest free period 
for resident lessees in available 

 
Please note, all interest free periods are subject to leaseholders agreeing and 
adhering to a repayment plan at the onset and the Council reserves the right to 
apply interest to any outstanding balances not paid in accordance with the 
above.  
 
In situations where leaseholders are experiencing hardship, the Council and 
RegenterB3 will work closely with the leaseholder to agree a suitable option.  
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

      

Page 66



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 32 
 
             Priority 6 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Ray Woolford  
 
Member to reply:  Councillor Smith 
 

Question 
 
The perfectly good school and 3 bedroom family home on the former site of 
Deptford Green School has been cleared for months. Local residents in New 
Cross and Deptford are concerned this space has not yet been returned to the 
community and fear the Council plans to develop this site. 
 
Can the Council please confirm that it is not going back on its word about 
community space, and confirm when contractors expect the space to be 
returned to the community, and could the park plans include an outdoor gym? 

 
Reply 

 
The Council is currently in the process of procuring a development partner to 
deliver a new public park and housing scheme on the former site of Deptford 
Green school, in line with the planning permission (DC/10/73438) granted in 
2010. The park will be public open space and the Council is requiring the 
development partner to complete the park before they can receive any freehold 
ownership rights on the housing, which means that the park will be delivered 
towards the start of the programme. It is likely that a development partner will 
be appointed in early 2014. However there is still a detailed planning process to 
be undertaken for the housing element of the site and it is therefore likely that 
works on site will not begin until sometime in 2015.      

Page 67



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 33 
 
             Priority 6 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Mr Mills  
 
Member to reply: Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 

What assurances can the Mayor give that his PFI agents within the Regenter 
B3 consortium will adhere to the terms of individual leaseholders’ leases, 
particularly in respect of access rights and fair notice before surveys, 
inspections and works are carried out. What assurances can he give that no 
employees or contractors will turn up requiring access un-announced? Is he 
aware of such practice happening at the moment?  
 

Reply 
 

RegenterB3 has given assurances that every effort will be made to adhere to 
contractual obligations including the notification protocol. Fair Notices for 
surveys, access rights, inspections and then the undertaking of works will be 
programmed in line with the timescales set out in the contract. In the event that 
RegenterB3 is made aware of any non compliance with the protocol, then 
action will be taken to ensure it is not repeated.  
 
RegenterB3 is only aware of one recent incident where a contractor visited a 
property on a weekend without prior notification to the resident. The contractor 
in question has been formally disciplined in line with company procedures.  

Page 68



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

        
             
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 34 
 
             Priority 7 
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Ray Woolford  
 
Member to reply:  Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 

Tenants of Bittern Court Edward Street Deptford SE8 5HW, have constant 
problems with condensation and extraction to kitchen and bathrooms which 
does not conform to Decent Homes, and is putting tenants health and well 
being at risk. Can the Council explain why after wiring flats in the block for 
installation of extractors, the blocks housing officer is telling tenants that 
extractors cannot be fitted, but may or may not be fitted as part of Block 
refurbishment? 
 
Can the Cabinet Member confirm what programme of works  are planned for 
this block, and when the tenants’ reasonable request to get extractors fitted, will 
be carried out? 
 

Reply 
 
 

The single pane windows at Bittern Court were replaced with double glazed 
units more than ten years ago, and at that time it was assessed that no further 
ventilation outlet would be required and as such no wall space was allocated for 
that purpose.  All Decent Homes works have since been carried out to Bittern 

Page 69



 

Court, and no other works of this nature are currently due except for any 
lifecycle works that may be required to maintain the property.  
 
The Council recognises that these are not satisfactory conditions for the 
residents of Bittern Court and has therefore instructed Lewisham Homes 
officers to review the most effective solution for these ongoing issues as part of 
its investment programme in the Council’s housing stock. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 70



 

Question 

Q 
Time 

          
            PUBLIC QUESTION NO. 35 
 
             Priority 8 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 

Question asked by: Ray Woolford  
 
Member to reply:  Councillor Wise 
 

Question 
 

Heston House Tanners Hill Deptford; Can the Council please confirm when it 
will be installing the new Kitchens promised as part of Decent Homes funding, 
and when it will be ensuring the extractors that have been installed will be 
working? Can the Council also confirm when the former drying area in the 
basement area will be cleared of rats and mice. 
 

Reply 
 

Decent Homes works for Heston House are scheduled to commence in early 
2014.  
 
Mitie, which is the contractor undertaking the works, is currently completing 
surveys to assess the level of works required to complete that process, and 
these surveys will identify whether extractors and/or new kitchens will be 
required to achieve the Decent Homes standard. Mitie and Lewisham Homes 
officers will be meeting with the Tanners Hill Tenants and Residents 
Association on 28 November 2013 to discuss the programme, and answer any 
concerns residents may have. Lewisham Homes has reported the pest control 
incident to the Council’s pest control service who will attend and treat the area 
within the week. 

 

Page 71



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\0\0\1\ai00007100\$boaaj0bj.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Member Questions 
 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
 
7. Questions from Members of the Council 
 
 Section C, paragraph 14 of the Constitution, provides for questions relevant to the 

general work or procedure of the Council to be asked by Members of the Council.  
Copies of the questions received and the replies to them will be circulated at the 
meeting. 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 7

Page 72



 

 
          
 

         QUESTION No. 1 
 
          
         Priority 1 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Harris   
of the Cabinet Member for Resources 

 
Question 

 

 

How many times have the following websites been accessed from computers 
provided by Lewisham Council (in libraries, computers used by council staff) 
or over Wifi provided by Lewisham Council in September 2013 (or any 
appropriate 30 day period)? 
 
i. Wonga.com 
ii. www.quickquid.co.uk/ 
iii. https://www.wizzcash.com/payday-loans/  
iv. www.paydaysuk.com/  
v. moneyshop.tv 
vi. www.epayday.co.uk/ 
vii. www.albemarlebond.co.uk 
xiii. http://www.oakam.com/ 
 
And 

 

http://www.lewishampluscu.co.uk/ 
 

Reply 

 
The reports below detail the number of hits at the top level of the websites defined in 
the Council Question. Table 1 shows access by Council staff using Council 
equipment and the Council network. Table 2 shows similar information in respect of 
members of the public accessing the same websites. The reporting is only on the top 
level URL (e.g. www.wizzcash.com) and it is not possible to identify access to 
individual pages within the site. 
 
 

Page 73



 

ACCESS BY STAFF TO SELECTED WEBSITES 
 

WebSense Appliance reporting – 1 September 2013 to 30 September 2013 

URL Total Number Users Total Number Hits 

www.wonga.com 16 456 

www.quickquid.co.uk 5 258 

www.wizzcash.com 1 26 

www.paydaysuk.com 0 0 

www.moneyshop.tv 3 5 

www.epayday.co.uk 1 1 

www.albemarlebond.co.uk 0 0 

www.oakam.com 2 5 

www.lewishampluscu.co.uk 6 95 

please note the users are reported by code numbers and are not actually identified in 
the reports 

 
ACCESS BY THE PUBLIC TO SELECTED WEBSITES 
 

WebSense Appliance reporting – 1 September 2013 to 30 September 2013 

URL Total Number Users Total Number Hits 

www.wonga.com 10 30 

www.quickquid.co.uk 10 47 

www.wizzcash.com 2 2 

www.paydaysuk.com 1 1 

www.moneyshop.tv 1 3 

www.epayday.co.uk 0 0 

www.albemarlebond.co.uk 0 0 

www.oakam.com 0 0 

www.lewishampluscu.co.uk 9 264 

please note the users are often reported by IP address and may represent more than 
one user of that machine 

 
 
 
* The Websense reports show that all the Wonga.com hits for a user occurred on one 
day, with the six users in October accruing 118, 40, 6, 139, 16 & 31 hits respectively. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 74



 

          
 

         QUESTION No. 2 
 
          
         Priority 1 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Brooks   
of the Mayor 

 
Question 

 

Following the revelation that Her Majesty’s official opposition, will, if elected 
continue the Coalitions spending plans for 15/16, 16/17, is it still the Mayor’s 
view that the cuts are bad for Lewisham ? 
 

Reply 
 

 

It is hardly a revelation, more a statement of the obvious. The Labour Party 
have pledged to match the Coalition Government’s overall spending envelope 
for 2015/16 when they are successful at the next general election but within 
that envelope I have no doubt that Chancellor Balls will make some very 
different choices about priority areas of spending and achieve a much greater 
degree of fairness than Chancellor Osborne has even attempted. 
 
The shadow chancellor has also made clear that he will increase borrowing to 
enable infrastructure projects like building 200,000 new homes a year to go 
ahead thus not only helping to solve the housing crisis but also creating jobs 
and growth. 
 
The damage that has been done by the cuts forced on this borough by the 
Coalition Government is very significant.  The Council has been forced to 
make cuts of £83m since 2010 and has to find a further £85m over the next 
four years. So far we have been able to minimise the impact on front line 
services, but the savings we have to find in the future will be very tough.  
 
But the cuts to the borough go much further than those to the Council budget. 
Thousands of households in Lewisham are suffering as a result of the 
bedroom tax, hundreds of households are being hit by the benefit cap, and 
countless more working households are seeing their incomes fall because of 

Page 75



 

the below inflation rises to pay and tax credits. Overall, it’s estimated that the 
impact of the government’s welfare reforms alone is more than £80m in 
Lewisham.  
 
I am asked if it is still my "view that the cuts are bad for Lewisham?" - I do and 
I am very surprised that the questioner doesn't think so too. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 76



 

          
         QUESTION No. 3 
 
          
         Priority 1 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Ingleby   
of the Deputy Mayor 

 
Question 

 

Does London Borough of Lewisham have any possible buildings for siting 
micro-windmills, and over what period of time could they deliver a profit or 
saving to the building's costs? 
 

Reply 
 

 

In 2009 the Council analysed the different renewable energy technologies and 
their relative applicability within Lewisham1.  The report suggested that wind 
power was a comparatively less suitable technology in an urban environment 
like Lewisham since “local microclimate issues coupled with the presence of 
multi-storey buildings are likely to affect local wind conditions significantly 
which will affect the efficiency of equipment”.  
 
In many cases however there are alternative renewable technologies that can 
be considered, for example photovoltaic solar panels that convert the energy 
of the sun to electricity. 
 
One of the key factors in relation to decisions to retrofit renewable 
technologies on buildings is the length of time the building is expected to be 
owned for.  This can have a significant effect on the business case if the 
lifespan of the building is shorter than the likely payback period.  The payback 
period for renewable technologies, including the Government’s feed-in-tariff 
where appropriate, is usually from around 8 years and upwards.  Payback 
periods will vary depending on the cost of the technology, site-specific issues 

                                                           
1
 

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/policy/Documents/Lewisham%20Renewables%20E

vidence%20Base%20Study.pdf 

Page 77



 

such as shading or the angle or pitch of roofs and whether the installation 
attracts the feed-in-tariff subsidy and the rate it is eligible for.   
 
The Council is evaluating the use of all corporate sites in relation to the wider 
review of efficiency savings required over the short and medium term.  The 
accommodation strategy resulting from this assessment will inform future 
investment priorities across the corporate estate including for renewable 
technologies. 
 
The most effective way to reduce costs associated with gas and electricity is 
to reduce consumption.  Improvements to heating systems, insulation and 
other potential actions that can reduce energy consumption will be considered 
alongside investment in renewables to ensure most effective use of 
resources. Alongside this the Council has an on-going programme of 
monitoring energy consumption across the corporate estate and schools, and 
targeting improvements designed to minimise waste and reduce energy bills. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

          
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 78



 

         QUESTION No. 4 
 
          
         Priority 1 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Hall   
of the Mayor 

 
Question 

 

Will the Mayor make a statement on the Lewisham Future Programme? 
 

 

Reply 
 

The impact of the government’s most recent public spending review means 
that the Council has to plan now for significantly higher levels of savings, on 
top of those already taken in the last 3 years. The scale of the challenge 
ahead is huge, with savings now targeted at around £85m over the next four 
years. The Lewisham Future Programme is recognition of the need to adopt a 
budget approach at a scale to match the challenge.  
 
In preparing savings options for members, officers are having, under the 
Lewisham Future Programme, to look at new ways of working: to innovate 
internally across council services and with partner agencies to achieve 
savings at an unprecedented level, whilst trying to minimise the impact on 
local communities. The Lewisham Future Programme and the approach 
adopted to scale up our savings commitment is now the subject of reports to 
overview & scrutiny select committees, the outcomes from which will be 
reported into the Mayor & Cabinet for 18th December, 2013.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 79



 

          
 

         QUESTION No. 5 
 
          
         Priority 1 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Johnson   
of the Deputy Mayor 

 
Question 

 

Given that the Deputy Mayor cited concerns about lack of enforcement as one 
of the reasons why he was unwilling to introduce a default borough-wide 
20mph policy, will he now review his position in the light of the Association of 
Chief Police Officers (ACPO) announcement that they have strengthened 
their guidance on effectively enforcing 20mph speed limits, and will he follow 
Southwark, Camden, Islington, City of London, Waltham Forrest, Greenwich, 
Hackney, Haringey and Lambeth and ensure Lewisham also adopts a default 
borough-wide 20mph policy? 
 

 

Reply 
 

 

The “ACPO Speed Enforcement Policy Guidelines 2011-2015: Joining Forces 
for Safer Roads” gives guidance on the application and enforcement of 
20mph and other speed limits.  It does not support the adoption of borough-
wide 20mph zones/limits but does support the introduction of 20mph 
zones/limits in certain circumstances and locations such as residential and 
shopping areas. The Summary at the end of the Police Policy Guidelines 
includes the following “Police service position on all speed limits (including 
20mph roads)” as: 
 

• Appropriate speed limits are supported, so long as they look and feel 
like the limit giving visiting motorists who wish to confirm that choice; 

• The desired outcome has to be speeds at the limit chosen so as to 
achieve safe roads for other and vulnerable users not high speeds 
and high enforcement: 

• Self-enforcing (with reducing features) not requiring large scale 
enforcement; 

Page 80



 

• Only introduce where average speeds are already close to the limit 
imposed (24 in a proposed 20mph area) or with interventions that 
make the limit clear to visiting motorists; 

• Speeding problems identified in an area must have the engineering, 
site clarity and need re-assessed not simply a call for more 
enforcement; and 

• Enforcing against drivers who simply misread the road is not 
appropriate. 

 
The Council will continue to introduce 20mph speed limits/zones in 
appropriate roads with due regard to these guidelines and other relevant 
regulations.  Working within these guidelines will ensure that the Police will 
consider routine enforcement of the 20mph speed limit (patrols attending 
whenever possible). 
 
Based on this, a borough wide 20mph limit is not being considered at this 
time.    
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



 

          
 

         QUESTION No. 6 
 
          
         Priority 1 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Curran   
of the Mayor 

 
Question 

 

Will the Mayor advise us of any meetings he has had or intends to have with 
the Mayor of London to press for a decision that is sympathetic to Deptford's 
heritage with regard to Sayes Court Garden and the Royal Dockyard at the 
site sometimes known as Convoys Wharf? 
 

 

Reply 
 

 

The decision by the Mayor of London to intervene in the Convoys Wharf 
project is wrong and was opposed by this Council.  The legislation which 
established the London Mayoralty gave that mayor individual powers in 
relation to planning matters which no other mayor, including myself, enjoys.  
This intervention exposes the dangers of giving an individual such unfettered 
power.   
  
I have already made it very clear that the Council is supportive of the Build the 
Lenox and Sayes Court Garden projects.  Council officers will work with the 
GLA, Hutchison Whampoa, Sayes Court Garden Group and the Build the 
Lenox Group to review and agree the most appropriate way forward to ensure 
the inclusion of the projects in the overall Convoys Wharf development. We 
will also make very clear the key issues and concerns about this scheme 
more generally.  I shall demand a meeting with the Mayor of London to press 
those views at the most appropriate time ahead of his decision making on the 
application. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 82



 

         
         QUESTION No. 7 
 
          
         Priority 1 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor De Ryk   
of the Mayor 

 
Question 

 

John Ball school in Blackheath is some way into the process of becoming a 
three-form entry primary school, and other schools have been encouraged to 
take bulge classes and/or are being explored for permanent expansion. It is 
clear that we need solutions to a permanent lack of available primary places 
across London. Would the Mayor comment on what steps are being taken to 
get ahead of the crisis in Lewisham? 
 

Reply 
 

Since 2008 Lewisham has responded successfully to an unprecedented 
increase in demand for primary places by creating over 2,600 additional 
reception places for 5 year olds. This demand has been driven by a 
continuing surge in the birth rate, and latterly, significant net inward migration. 
Approximately 2,300 of these places have been through partial expansions of 
schools (77 bulge classes), and 270 have been though full school expansions.  
Insufficient capital funding has been made available from central government 
to allow more full expansions of schools.  Over this 5 year period, more than 
three quarters of Lewisham primary schools have been expanded. 
 
For the 2013-14 school year, Lewisham has created 455 additional places, 
and has begun the process of some school expansions for delivery in 
2014/15, including at John Ball.  Detailed plans are in place to meet the 
projected demand for additional primary places through to 2016/17.  Beyond 
delivery for the 2014/15 academic year, for which the required funding is in 
place, the implementation of these plans depends on surety of finance from 
Central Government.   
 

 

 

Page 83



 

         QUESTION No. 8 
 
          
         Priority 1 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Ibitson 
of the Deputy Mayor 

 
Question 

 

Please give an update on the efforts of Lewisham Sports Consortium to 
extend their lease on Firhill Road playing field.  When is this likely to be 
completed?  
 

Reply 
 

The Lewisham Sports Consortium (LSC) occupy the above property under the 
terms of a lease which was granted for 25 years from 28th November 2003 
until 27th November 2028 (approximately 15 years unexpired) with 5 yearly 
rent reviews. 
 

The LSC are seeking a longer lease and removal of certain terms in their 
existing lease to facilitate a Lottery Funding (LF) Application. Whilst the 
council in principle support this application, we are not in a position to grant 
the new longer lease until lottery funding has been approved.  
 

As evidence to support the application to the LF the Council is supplying the 
lessee with Heads of Terms (HOT’s) . It has been proven in connection with a 
similar case that a supportive letter by the council is sufficient for an 
application to the LF. Supplying HOT’s provides more detail of terms of a new 
lease, and the Councils support for the application. 
 

Dialogue has been on-going with LSC for approximately 1 year with a number 
of Council Officers, some of whom no longer work for Lewisham. This has 
clearly had an impact on the length of time that the process has taken.   
 
There are points in the HOT’s that remain to be agreed between the parties 
but these should be agreed over the course of the next few weeks. A meeting 
with the lessee is proposed in order to ensure that the process is concluded. 
 

 

Page 84



 

          
         QUESTION No. 9 
 
          
         Priority 1 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Maines 
of the Deputy Mayor 

 
Question 

 
What is the Council budget in the current financial year for fixing pot holes in 
the borough's roads. 
 

Reply 
 

 

The Council has budgeted £139k for potholes in this current financial year. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 85



 

          
        QUESTION No. 10 
 
          
         Priority 1 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Foreman 
of the Cabinet Member for Community Safety 

 
Question 

 
At what point does the Council feel it is necessary for a CCTV camera to be 
installed on a residential street? What is the criteria for such installation? 
. 
 

Reply 
 
 

The installation of any new CCTV in the Borough needs to be inline with the 
Home Office guidance and an assessment of the area.  
 
Guidance can be found under: 

Information Commissioners Office (ICO) CCTV code of practice: Revised 
edition 2008   

http://www.ico.gov.uk/for_organisations/data_protection/topic_guides/cctv.aspx 

Although the vast majority of Lewisham’s CCTV camera system is located on 
main roads, town centres and key transport routes, some CCTV provision 
already exists in a number of residential locations around the Borough.   
 
Where an assessment of crime or ASB in a residential street warrants a 
coordinated response, the Council also has access to a number of mobile 
CCTV cameras which can be installed on almost any street in Lewisham 
(depending on the availability of an electricity point and a secure location for 
the camera) and these are connected directly to the CCTV control room.  
 
These mobile cameras offer the Local Authority and the Police a vital tool in 
investigating and detecting crime and ASB as the costs of installing 

Page 86



 

permanent CCTV at certain locations would be disproportionate to the level of 
crime reported.   
 
While many people welcome an increase in CCTV on our streets, we 
have to strike a balance between use of CCTV and other surveillance 
equipment in public places to protect people's safety against their right 
to privacy. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



 

          
 

        QUESTION No. 11 
 
          
         Priority 1 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Bonavia 
of the Cabinet Member for Community Services 

 
Question 

 
The public fireworks display organised by the Council and held on Blackheath 
earlier this month was once again enjoyed by many local residents and 
residents. For the purposes of preparing for future fireworks displays, please 
could you confirm the following for each of the events held in 2012 and 2013 
respectively: 
 
(a) An estimate of the numbers attending the fireworks display; 
 
(b) The overall cost of the fireworks display, together with a breakdown of 
costs for stock, fireworks specialists' services and other costs; 
 
(c) How the cost was met broken down by: sponsorship, online donations, 
donations given to volunteers on the day of the fireworks display and by the 
Council itself; and 
 
(d) The cost borne by the Council divided by the number of Lewisham Council 
Tax payers. 
 
Finally, please can you confirm what steps are being taken to attract funding 
for future displays, including whether the Council will approach the Royal 
Borough of Greenwich for a financial contribution. 
 

Reply 
 

 

a) The attendance numbers for 2012 and 2013 are estimated to be 
 between 80,000 and 100,000.  
 

Page 88



 

b) In 2013 the total cost of Blackheath Fireworks is  
 estimated to be £108,673.  The cost of the display is £25,000 
 with production costs at £83,673. 

 
 In 2012 the total cost of Blackheath Fireworks was £106,341. 
 The cost of the display was £25,000 and the production costs 
 was £81,341. 

 
c) In 2013 the Council budget for the event is £36,000 and the 
 additional income generated is £43,017, which is made up of 
 the following: 
 

Bar and catering income £17,312 

Sponsorship L&Q £10,000 

Glendale (annual funfair income) £5,000 

Business contributions £1,565 

Public donations (online and bucket collection) £8,660 

Prize draw entries £480 

      
 The remaining shortfall of £29,656 will be met from budgets 
 elsewhere in the Culture and Community Services division. 
 

In 2012 the Council budget for the event was £36,000 and 
additional income generated was £62,422, which was made up 
of the following: 

  

Private sponsors of the fireworks £25,000 

Bar and catering income £14,148 

Sponsorship L&Q £5,000 

Glendale (annual funfair income) £10,000 

Business contributions £601 

Public donations (online and bucket collection) £7,673 

  
The remaining shortfall of £7,919 was met from budgets 
elsewhere in the Culture and Community Services division. 

 
d)   On the basis that there are 120,777 Council Tax payers in the 
 borough the cost borne by the Council divided by the number 
 of Council Tax payers in 2013 was 54p and in 2012 was 36p. 
 

Officers continually look for different ways to attract funding for the 
Event.  We will continue to request financial and other support from the 
Royal Borough of Greenwich. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     
 

Page 89



 

        QUESTION No. 12 
Priority 1 

          
         
   

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Jacq Paschoud 
of the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People 

 
Question 

How much progress has been made in handing the Generation Playclubs 
over to new management? What is the timescale for the completion of the 
handover and establishment of new services? What services are proposed to 
be run from the playclub on Bellingham Green? 

Reply 

Deptford Park and Forster Park Generation Playclub sites have been handed 
over to Clyde Early Childhood Centre and Downderry Primary School 
respectively.  Clyde started new provision at the site from 28th October.  
Downderry have started renovation work on the building with the delivery of 
services set to begin from the start of January 2014. 
 
All providers have been sent the Heads of Terms for the sites and once these 
have been agreed and returned, leases will be produced by the Council’s 
legal services for signature and leasing of the buildings. 
 
Those new services proposed to run from Bellingham are: 

• Cook and eat sessions for parents and children together – cooking 
simple family food (bookable). 

• Healthy eating on a budget – to include a ‘shopping tour’ to the local 
Co-op (bookable). 

• Outdoor Learning sessions (combination of open access and 
bookable). 

• ‘Bouncy Beats’ sessions – music and movement for under 5s and their 
mothers, fathers and carers (bookable). 

• Mental well-being sessions (bookable). 

• Soft-play sessions (open-access). 

• Sessions for dads, childminders and other particular groups (open-
access). 

• Toy library sessions and 2 ‘stay and play’ sessions per week (open-
access). 

Page 90



 

         
        QUESTION No. 13 
 
          
         Priority 1 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Peake 
of the Deputy Mayor 

 
Question 

 

Is the council adequately prepared for this winter in terms of grit availability? 

Reply 

The highways term contractor has commenced the winter season.  Our salt 
barn is full in anticipation and will be replenished as used during the season. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



 

          
 

        QUESTION No. 14 
 
          
         Priority 1 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Feakes 
of the Cabinet Member for Resources 

 
Question 

 

How were new procurement rules (contracts under £50,000 must include one 
small business on the tender list) publicised to small businesses? 

Reply 

The Procurement rules were changed for processes below £50,00 to include 
the requirement that “At least one of the quotations must be from a local 
contractor, supplier or service provider, if feasible.” 

The Contract Procedure Rules, which form part of the Constitution (April 
2013) was changed to reflect this policy and this is published on the Council’s 
webpage. The Economic Development section have also publicised this 
change to the rules via the Business Advisory Service. Officers have also 
attended a meeting of the South East London Chamber of Commerce to brief 
them of this change. 

An article appeared in the Guardian in April showing the impact of this change 

:http://www.theguardian.com/local-government-network/small-business-

blog/2013/apr/25/lewisham-council-support-local-businesses 

The Code of Practice for Contractors, Suppliers and Service Providers 
includes a section on Local, Business, Local Labour, and this document is 
issued to all companies and organisations who express an interest in 
providing services to Lewisham. 

 

 

Page 92



 

          
 

        QUESTION No. 15 
 
          
         Priority 1 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Fletcher 
of the Cabinet Member for Customer Services 

 
Question 

 

Please provide figures for the amount paid out in Housing Benefit in each of 
the last ten years. 
 

Reply 

The information requested is shown below. 
 

Financial Year HB expenditure £m 

2003/04 100.5 

2004/05 115.1 

2005/06 127.6 

2006/07 140.6 

2007/08 151.4 

2008/09 161.0 

2009/10 191.7 

2010/11 204.8 

2011/12 218.0 

2012/13 229.5 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



 

        
 

               QUESTION No. 16 
 
          
         Priority 2 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Harris   
of the Cabinet Member for Customer Services 

 
Question 

 

 

What is the timetable for Decent Homes works for social properties 
(Lewisham Homes plus other relevant social housing providers) within 
Lewisham Central Ward? 
 

Reply 

 
Lewisham Homes publishes its future major works programme for Decent 
Homes on its website – please see link for full programme. 
http://www.lewishamhomes.org.uk/major_works/our_future_mw_programme 
 
The extract relating to the Lewisham Central Ward is provided below. 
The year provided indicates when the Decent Homes programme will 
commence.  The statement ‘complete/ongoing’ means that the Decent Homes 
process has begun. This may mean that a survey has been carried out but it 
does not necessarily mean that actual works have started. 
 
 

WARD ESTATE STREET YEAR 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

31 BEACON RD 31 Beacon Rd 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

HETHER GROVE Benden House 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

HETHER GROVE Campshill Place 2015-16 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

HETHER GROVE Canada Gardens 2014-15 

LEWISHAM HETHER GROVE Canterbury 2014-15 

Page 94



 

WARD ESTATE STREET YEAR 

CENTRAL 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

HETHER GROVE Chiddingstone 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

HETHER GROVE Monument 
Gardens 

2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

HITHER GREEN LANE Campshill Road 2015-16 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

HITHER GREEN LANE Courthill Road 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

HITHER GREEN LANE Hither Green 
Lane 

2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

KNOWLES HILL 
CRESCENT 

Knowles Hill 
Crescent 

2015-16 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

LEGGE ST Legge Street 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

LEWISHAM PARK 72 TO 
77 

Lewisham Park 
72 To 77 

2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

LINGARDS ROAD 9 TO 20 Lingards Road 9 
To 20 

2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

LITTLEBOURNE Littlebourne 2015-16 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

LONGBRIDGE WAY Longbridge Way 2015-16 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

MERCATOR Chesney House complete/ 
ongoing 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

MERCATOR Clavering House complete/ 
ongoing 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

MERCATOR Ericson House complete/ 
ongoing 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

MERCATOR Freshfield Close complete/ 
ongoing 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

MERCATOR Mercator Road complete/ 
ongoing 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

MERCATOR Rawlinson House complete/ 
ongoing 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

MERCATOR Saxton Close complete/ 
ongoing 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

PLUMMER COURT Plummer Court 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

ROMBOROUGH GDNS Guyscliff Road 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

ROMBOROUGH GDNS Romborough 
Gardens 

2015-16 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

ROMBOROUGH GDNS Romborough Way 2015-16 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STAINTON AND 
WOODLANDS 

Stainton Road 2015-16 

Page 95



 

WARD ESTATE STREET YEAR 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STAINTON AND 
WOODLANDS 

The Woodlands 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
LEE GREEN 

Bonfield Road 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
LEE GREEN 

Cressingham 
Road 

complete/ 
ongoing 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
LEE GREEN 

Gilmore Road complete/ 
ongoing 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
LEE GREEN 

Limes Grove 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
LEE GREEN 

Lingards Road 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
LEE GREEN 

Manor Park complete/ 
ongoing 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
LEE GREEN 

Morley Road 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
LEE GREEN 

Sharsted Villas complete/ 
ongoing 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
LEE GREEN 

Slaithwaite Road 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
RUSHEY GREEN 

Beacon Road 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
RUSHEY GREEN 

Brightside Road 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
RUSHEY GREEN 

Courthill Road 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
RUSHEY GREEN 

Elthruda Road 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
RUSHEY GREEN 

Harvard Road 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
RUSHEY GREEN 

Hither Green 
Lane 

2015-16 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
RUSHEY GREEN 

Knowles Hill 
Crescent 

2015-16 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
RUSHEY GREEN 

Lewisham Park 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
RUSHEY GREEN 

Mount Pleasant 
Road 

2015-16 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
RUSHEY GREEN 

Romborough Way 2015-16 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
RUSHEY GREEN 

Springrice Road 2014-15 

LEWISHAM 
CENTRAL 

STREET PROPERTIES 
RUSHEY GREEN 

Wellmeadow 
Road 

2015-16 

 
 

Page 96



 

The Council’s first stock transfer – Lewisham Park was transferred to L&Q in 
April 2007 and is located within the Lewisham Central ward.  The three tower 
blocks, opposite Lewisham Hospital, comprise 204 homes of which 164 were 
tenanted homes.  Decent homes works were completed to these properties in 
2009. 
 
The Council transferred its street properties in wards of Forest Hill, 
Sydenham, Perry Vale, Rushey Green, Catford South and Lewisham Central 
to L&Q in 2010.  The transfer area comprised 2413 tenanted homes and 1180 
leasehold homes.  L&Q has completed all kitchens, bathrooms, electrical 
upgrades and heating works in 2012 to its tenanted properties within 
Lewisham Central ward and the window replacement works will commence 
across the ward in 2014. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 97



 

          
          QUESTION No. 17 
 
          
         Priority 2 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Brooks   
of the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People  

 
Question 

 

Paragraph 5.29 of the 2010/11 budget – 10th February 2010 states the 
following: 
 
‘During 2010, the Council bid for additional funding from the Basic Need 
Safety Valve round of capital grant, but received no allocation. 
 
During 2009, short term measures have been taken to provide additional 
capacity in a number of schools via ‘bulge’ classes. Although further similar 
expansion is planned for 2010, along with a permanent expansion and rebuild 
of both Gordonbrock and Brockley schools, these measures fall short of 
meeting the projected permanent needs’. 
 
Can the Cabinet Member please confirm that the additional funding requested 
and refused was under a Labour government ? 
 
Does the Cabinet Member today accept as stated above ‘Those measures fell 
short of meeting the projected permanent needs’ ?  
 

Reply 
 

 

The government in 2010 used a flawed formula to allocate Basic Needs 
funding which is why Lewisham failed to receive the grant we required.  
 
The scale of the problem in London has become much clearer since then and 
yet the Coalition Government has so far not addressed the crisis in funding 
across the capital.   
 
 

 

Page 98



 

 

        QUESTION No. 18 
 
          
         Priority 2 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 

Question 
 

Question by Councillor Ingleby   
of the Cabinet Member for Strategy and Communications 

 

Is it possible to have calendars showing the advance of both Skanska lighting 
posts and the tree pruning rota to the relevant neighbourhoods of Lewisham 
over the next 3 months printed in Lewisham Life? 
 

Reply 
 

The communication team have looked into this.  The biggest issue is that 
Lewisham Life is produced quarterly and the detailed programme of works 
scheduled by Skanska can change from week to week.  We would not be able 
to guarantee that the information would be accurate once it is down in print.  
The schedule is available online and I will ask officers to make reference to 
this and promote the link in a future edition of Lewisham Life.  All information 
about street lighting can be found at 
http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/transport/roads-and-
pavements/Pages/street-lighting-questions.aspx 
 
Tree pruning is slightly different.  Officers are currently analysing the results of 
the Council’s 2013 Street Tree Stock Condition Survey before they make 
recommendations about future maintenance regimes. Once this is completed 
it will be clearer if it may be possible to publish a forward plan of works. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



 

 

 

        QUESTION No. 19 
 
          
         Priority 2 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Johnson 
of the Deputy Mayor 

 
Question 

 

In the light of continuing concerns from local residents, will the Deputy Mayor 
agree to review traffic speeds on Brookmill Road as well as working with the 
Metropolitan Police to ensure enforcement action on speeding traffic is 
stepped up? 
 

Reply 
 

Brookmill Road (A2210) is a London Distributor road and hence an important 
part of the Lewisham’s road network.  It is also part of the Emergency 
Services Priority Route Network and a bus route.  A Zebra crossing was 
installed in 2002 and more recently two vehicle activated bend signs were 
installed to improve safety. Although a change on speed limit is not 
considered suitable I will ensure that Brookmill Road is on the list of roads that 
the Council wish to see enforced by the Police. The Police maintain a list of 
roads where excessive speed has been cited by the Council which they 
endeavour to enforce as and when they have available resources.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 100



 

 

        QUESTION No. 20 
 
          
         Priority 2 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Ibitson 
of the Cabinet Member for Community Services 

 

Question 
 

Please can the Cabinet Member give an update on when Bellingham Leisure 
& Lifestyles Centre will be transferred into the main Fusion leisure contract?  
 

Reply 
 

All the legal documentation relating to the transfer has been agreed.  
However, the list of staff due to be transferred from GLL to Fusion via BCP is 
subject to TUPE transfer and is currently under negotiation.  We are working 
towards a handover date of 1 February 2014.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



 

 

        QUESTION No. 21 
 
          
         Priority 2 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Maines 
of the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People 

 
Question 

 

Will the Deputy Prime Minister's announcement that all Lewisham year 1 & 2 
pupils will receive a free, healthy, hot school lunch from next September  
have any; 
 i) impact on the capital budget  
ii) effect on the revenue budget of Lewisham schools ? 
 
 

Reply 
 

I understand that the Coalition Government has set aside £600m to provide a 
free meal to all key stage 1 pupils nationally.  However, no details have been 
made available as to how the policy will be implemented in practice nor how 
local authorities will be funded for this new duty.  It is unclear whether the 
£600m will cover the real costs of this initiative.  For example, in order to 
provide more hot meals in our primary schools there will inevitably be some 
capital investment required.  
 
We will be lobbying central government to ensure that no additional costs fall 
upon local authorities or schools. 
 
Schools currently pay for the costs of free school meals through their 
delegated budgets funded by the Dedicated Schools Grant.  An increase in 
the numbers of free meals will have an impact on schools’ budgets in terms of 
meals costs and potentially on related supervision costs.  Once firm details 
are provided by the Government we shall work with schools to assess the 
capital and revenue implications. 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 102



 

 

 

        QUESTION No. 22 
 
          
         Priority 2 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Foreman 
of the Cabinet Member for Customer Services 

 
Question 

 

Does the Council log the costings of the removal of rubbish that has been fly-
tipped by street? If so, how much has removal from Further Green Road cost 
over the last 18 months? 
 
 

Reply 
 

The Council logs and monitors the overall costs of removing fly tipping from 
the streets of Lewisham. The Council does not currently log the costs of 
removing fly tips from individual roads and we are therefore unable to provide 
a costing by road. 
 
The Council removes fly tips quickly and, year to date, the Council has 
cleared 68% of fly tips that have been reported within one day.  
 
The Council also takes enforcement action against fly tipping and these 
actions are logged. For the period May – September 13 there have been 689 
actions taken in relation to fly tipping. These include investigations, warning 
letters, statutory notices, FPN and Duty of Care Inspection. 
 
The Council advertises to residents the correct way to dispose of waste and 
makes it easy for people to report fly tips through the use of the Love 
Lewisham app. This has the added benefit of reducing the transactions costs 
of reporting fly tips and other environmental issues.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



 

 

        QUESTION No.23  
 
          
         Priority 2 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Bonavia 
of the Deputy Mayor 

 
Question 

 

Transport for London are currently considering the prospects of constructing 
one or more new river crossings across the Thames between East and South-
East London. Please can you confirm what engagement the Council has had 
with Transport for London on this issue and what views the Council has so far 
expressed in such engagement, in particular on the proposal known as the 
new Silvertown Tunnel. Please also confirm the Council's understanding as to 
the future development of TFL's proposals. 
 

Reply 
 
 

The Council waits for further consultation/dialogue with TfL on the subject 
following our initial consultation in early 2012. The following is a synopsis of 
our response to that consultation:  
 

• LB Lewisham supports the principle of increasing capacity across the 
river to unlock economic potential in the southeast region of London.  

• The Council has concerns about the proposed locations of the 
crossings which are concentrated into a fairly small area, mostly 
serving Greenwich and the Enterprise Zone at the Royal Docks. This 
concentration will exacerbate, rather than disperse the current 
congestion pressures. 

• The proposed Silvertown Tunnel relies on the same southern 
approaches as the existing Blackwall Tunnel.  These routes, including 
the A2 area and the South Circular, already suffer from daily 
congestion.  As the only primary alternative to the Dartford crossings, 
these routes come under extreme pressure when the M25 is not 
operating smoothly. The Council therefore has reservations about the 
impact of an additional 6000 vehicles per hour on these routes. 

Page 104



 

• The Council requests details of the modelling underpinning the 
proposals, the predicted additional flows on roads affecting the 
Lewisham area, and any mitigating measures that would be proposed 
as part of the project. 

• The Council urged greater consideration of a major heavy goods 
crossing further to the east of Blackwall Tunnel.  Such a crossing would 
relieve, rather than exacerbate congestion on the existing approaches 
to the Blackwall Tunnel.  This would also increase resilience to events 
at the Dartford crossings by greater dispersal on key routes across 
south east London. 

• A greater spread of alternative river crossings would allow a greater 
dispersal of economic benefits, whilst still supporting the important 
regeneration sites in east London. 

• Another concern allied to the new crossing was the proposed new ferry 
crossing at Gallions Reach and the potential loss of the free crossing at 
Woolwich.  The Council have reservations about replacing it with a 
charged service, or replacing it with a service in too close proximity to 
the Blackwall and Silvertown crossing points. 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



 

 

         QUESTION No. 24 
           
                                 Priority 2 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Peake 
of the Cabinet Member for Community Services 

 
Question 

 

What are the usage figures for Forest Hill Pools for each of the last twelve 
Saturdays? 
 

Reply 
 

 

The usage figures for Forest Hill Pools for the last twelve Saturdays are as 
follows: 
 

Date Number of users 

31 August 2013 357 

7 September 384 

14 September 344 

21 September 302 

28 September 266 

5 October 296 

12 October 393 

19 October 387 

26 October 285 

2 November 383 

9 November 359 

16 November 320 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



 

 

        QUESTION No. 25 
 
          
         Priority 2 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Feakes 
of the Cabinet Member for Resources 

 
Question 

 
Taking into account the recent takeover of responsibility for public health by 
local authorities, and the fact that smoking in Lewisham is at 22.1% which is 
higher than the England average, does the Council feel it is appropriate to 
have £5.5 million invested in tobacco companies? 
 
 

Reply 
 

The pension fund’s investment in equities, is done as part of pooled funds.  
These funds are not managed on an active basis, which would be when 
stocks are selected because they are expected to make a good return.  
Instead, their selection is made on a passive basis, whereby the aim is to 
achieve returns in line with the index.   
 
The purpose of the funds in which the pension fund invests is that they 
replicate and track their respective indices.  By their nature, these funds will 
need to hold a stock if it is included in the index.  Therefore, if tobacco 
companies are in the FTSE All Share index, then in order for the fund to 
achieve its goal of closely tracking the index and matching the index return, 
they must also invest in the tobacco stocks, in the same weights as the index.  
 
In line with the current strategy, it is not possible to exclude any particular 
industry, such as tobacco, from the pension fund, or have any direct influence 
to change the portfolio of stocks through exercising our voting rights.  Such 
exclusions can only be made with a segregated portfolio, which would need to 
be managed on an active basis.  This would incur significantly higher 
administration fees and would go against the current investment strategy, as 
the pension fund has a duty to its members to maximise financial returns over 
the long term within acceptable risk parameters.   
 

Page 107



 

To put this level of investment in context, as at the end of March 2013, an 
investment of £5.5m represented 0.6% of the overall value of the fund, which 
stood at £868m. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 108



 

        QUESTION No. 26 
 
          
         Priority 2 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Fletcher 
of the Cabinet Member for Customer Services 

 
Question 

 
What proportion of the budget for the Local Support Scheme has been spent 
so far? 
 
 

Reply 
 

 

The annual budget for the Local Support Scheme (LSS) is £1.5m. This covers 
emergency loans and grants. To date, expenditure against this has been: 
£30k on loans and £114k on grants, overall spend being £144k.  
 
Spend is less than anticipated and significantly lower when compared to 
Jobcentre+ spend for the same period last year. However, the downturn in 
spend is consistent with the position both nationally and across all London 
boroughs. The main reason for the underspend is that councils have different 
award criteria compared to that adopted by Jobcentre+ and generally they do 
not offer a second emergency loan where the first one remains outstanding. 
This is very different from previous years when Jobcentre+ would make a 
maximum of 3 awards at any given point.  
 
The Council is currently reviewing qualifying criteria with a view to widening 
the Scheme’s accessibility to more of Lewisham’s residents. In addition, and 
in conjunction with Southwark and Lambeth, we are currently exploring the 
development of a shared service arrangement as a delivery model. It is 
anticipated that as a result of the review, the qualifying criteria will be modified 
to ensure a consistent approach is adopted across all 3 councils.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 109



 

 

        QUESTION No. 27 
 
          
         Priority 3 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Ingleby   
of the Deputy Mayor 

 
Question 

 

What are the minimum safe distances beyond which trees are not liable to be 
pursued for subsidence cases against the Council? Does a legal responsibility 
remain on a developer not to build in the first place within a minimum distance 
of disruptive tree  roots, similar to legislation with regard to building in flood 
plains? 
 

 

Reply 
 

It is not possible to identify a general zone of influence for all trees as each 
species grows differently and may be influenced by other factors such as size, 
health and soil conditions.  Any claim alleging subsidence damage due to the 
action of tree roots are considered based on the evidence presented. 
 
Building Regulations require suitable foundation design to ensure that roots 
from nearby trees will not damage the building. 
 
There is good practice advice (for example BS Trees in relation to 
construction, NHBC guidance on foundation design for tree roots), but not 
primary legislation. 
 
Planning permission for new development often requires developers to take 
account of the proximity of trees and requires evidence and suitable 
protection measures to ensure that development will not damage trees that 
contribute to amenity. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 110



 

         QUESTION No. 28 
 
          
         Priority 3 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Johnson   
of the Mayor 

 
Question 

 

Given recent revelations about the deplorable and illegal practice of 
‘blacklisting’ within the construction industry, will the Mayor ensure that any 
company known to have been involved in blacklisting practices and not to 
have indemnified their victims, will not be invited to tender contracts 
by the London Borough of Lewisham until they have: 
(1) identified the steps taken to remedy blacklisting for affected workers; 
(2) identified the steps taken to ensure blacklisting will not happen again; and, 
(3) given assurances that they do not employ individuals who were named 
contacts for the Consulting Association. 
 

 

Reply 
 
 

I agree with the questioner that the illegal practice of blacklisting in the 
construction industry is deplorable. He will note that there is a motion on the 
Council agenda to discuss this issue and I trust that he will support it.  
 
Although in principle the Council would not wish to employ a company 
found to have been involved in blacklisting activities and which had 
failed to compensate the  victims of such blacklisting,  it may not be 
possible to determine at this point all of the  victims who have not been 
indemnified and whether any compensation scheme or actual 
compensation proposed by a bidding company will provide a 
reasonable indemnity. The Council has to act fairly  in all its 
procurement decisions. However, I have asked officers to look into 
what we can do within our procurement processes.  
 
 
 

Page 111



 

         QUESTION No. 29 
 
          
         Priority 3 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Ibitson   
of the Deputy Mayor 

 
Question 

 
 

Is there any update on Network Rail's plans to 'renew' the footbridge over the 
Hayes line at Broadmead? If not, can we get one please?  
 

 

Reply 
 

The Council knows of no proposals to renew this bridge and is waiting for a 
response from Network Rail as to whether this is on any future programme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



 

         QUESTION No. 30 
 
          
         Priority 3 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Maines   
of the Cabinet Member for Customer Services 

 
Question 

 
 

Has a study been undertaken on the impact of the changes in ways parking 
can be paid for on the performance of traffic wardens ? 
 
 

Reply 
 

The Council is not aware of any studies being undertaken that specifically 
examines the impact of the changes in the ways parking can be paid for on 
the level of penalty charge notices issued.   
 
A study by London Councils reviewed the number of penalty charge notices 
issued over the last five years and found the number issued had decreased 
by 10%.  The study concluded the reduction was attributable to the economic 
downturn and the introduction of the mobile telephone payment option which 
reminds drivers their parking session is about to expire and gives them the 
option of extending it. 
 
The Council is implementing the mobile phone payment option alongside 
other methods of payment and does anticipate a drop in the number of 
penalty charge notices issued as a result. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 113



 

         QUESTION No. 31 
 
          
         Priority 3 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Foreman   
of the Cabinet Member for Customer Services 

 
Question 

 
 

Does Love Lewisham keep a list of fly-tipping “hotspots” so further action can 
be taken in the relevant areas if needed? 
 
 

Reply 
 

Love Lewisham is a reporting method for the public.  It enables staff to 
respond and deal with fly-tipping cases.  Staff utilise this to take appropriate 
action and tackle relevant areas.  It enables hot-spots to be proactively 
patrolled as much as resources allow.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



 

         QUESTION No. 32 
          
         Priority 3 
 
   
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Peake   
of the Cabinet Member for Customer Services 

 
Question 

 
 

a) Does Lewisham Council aim to be the leading collector of business and 
commercial waste in the borough, or is it happy for businesses to use other, 
private-sector, collectors? 
 
b) Does Lewisham Council make a profit on its business and commercial 
waste collection service? If so, how much last year? 
 
c) Do businesses which use other services need to undergo more detailed 
inspection regimes? 
 

Reply 
 

a)Lewisham is the leading collector of commercial waste in the borough, with 
over 50% business with LB Lewisham.  The Commercial Waste team are 
striving to have all of the businesses in the borough with Lewisham. 
 
If enforcement action is taken out against a business, legally the team must 
ensure that a contract is in place, though legally are not at liberty to persuade 
businesses to take out a Lewisham contract.  (This is carried out by a different 
team to the Commercial Waste team) 
 
b) Lewisham Council does not make a profit on its commercial waste 
collection service.  It strives to provide an excellent service and the budget is 
based on nil surplus over the year.  On occasions it may make a small surplus 
at the end of the year.  When this occurs consideration is given in regard to 
raising the fees and charges for the service the following year. 
 
c) The Clean Streets (Enforcement) team do check businesses to ensure that 
they have suitable trade waste contracts and take enforcement action as 
necessary, however they do this based on fly tipping hotspots or other 
intelligence given to them and not based on which company the business use. 

Page 115



 

         QUESTION No. 33 
 
          
         Priority 3 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Feakes   
of the Deputy Mayor 

 
Question 

 
 

Can the Council estimate the financial loss to businesses and market traders 
while work on Deptford High Street has been taking place? 
 

Reply 
 

It is not possible to quantify losses to business.   However, the aim of the 
works that have been funded by the GLA through the Outer London Fund, is 
to provide a longer term benefit to the High Street and to encourage more 
people to visit the town centre. 
 
Deptford High Street was in poor condition with inadequate lighting, inefficient 
drainage and a cluttered public realm making the space unpleasant to use.  
Consultation with local people had also revealed that many felt unsafe using 
the street at night. 
 
Prior to the works, occupation of the street market had been in steady decline 
for a number of years and action was needed to stem the decline and to 
improve its prospects. The layout and quality of the street made the market 
environment very dysfunctional and difficult for pedestrians to move through. 
Added to this, as market traders retired, the market was not attracting younger 
people to replace them.   
 
The works undertaken have addressed all of the physical issues, however a 
lot of other work has been undertaken to draw people to the town centre. This 
includes events and marketing, training for new market apprentices and 
support to help shop keepers to embrace technology and social networking to 
improve their business’ bottom line. 
 

Page 116



 

Although works to the street were completed ahead of schedule, in 
recognition of the disruption, officers sought relief from the Business Rates 
Agency and asked them to assess the current rates charges for suitable 
dispensation. This assessment was undertaken independently by the agency 
and as a result a 10% discount was applied to business rates for the duration 
of the works. 
 
Shop keepers who rent a forecourt from the Council will also not be charged 
for any period that their forecourt was unusable.  For example they won’t be 
charged the monthly fee that their forecourt was out of use even if it was out 
of use for just a week. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 117



 

         QUESTION No. 34 
 
          
         Priority 3 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Fletcher   
of the Cabinet Member for Community Services 

 
Question 

 
 

How many contracts does the Council have in place in relation to adult social 
care?  Of these how many include stipulations against the use of zero hours 
contracts and in relation to payment of the London Living Wage? 
 

Reply 
 

The Council has 81 procured / commissioned contracts across older adults, 
mental health and learning disability services ranging from residential care, 
supported living (including Extra Care Housing), day services, welfare meals, 
cleaning, funeral and domiciliary / personal care services.  Additionally, the 
Council has individual spot placement contracts for 184 older adults and 130 
adults with a learning disability, both in and out of borough.  Individual 
services for adults with a learning disability are mainly commissioned through 
SLaM. 
 
The Domiciliary Care Framework and commissioned services for people with 
a learning disability pay at the London Living Wage level. 
 
There is no specific mention of zero hours contracts in our contracts and 
no reference in the Code of Practice for Contractors.  There is specification in 
contracts to pay London Living Wage where it is possible to identify staffing 
costs that are attributable to Lewisham residents. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



 

         QUESTION No. 35 
 
          
         Priority 4 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Johnson   
of the Cabinet Member for Community Services 

 
Question 

 
What is the Cabinet Member doing to ensure residents in receipt of direct 
payments for care packages are not disadvantaged by the switchover from 
weekly to four-weekly payments and can you guarantee that any resident who 
has an ongoing contract obliging them to make weekly outgoing payments for 
their care will have the option of continuing to receive weekly payments from 
the Council?  
 

Reply 
 
 

We have the facility in place to pay Direct Payment users weekly, fortnightly 
and four weekly and we have been paying users this way for the last two 
months.   
 
If you are aware of specific users with issues about their payments please do 
forward their names to the Direct Payments Team and we will fully 
investigate.  The Direct Payments Team can be contacted directly 020 8314 
9675. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 119



 

         QUESTION No. 36 
 
          
         Priority 4 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Ibitson   
of the Cabinet Member for Community Services 

 
Question 

 
What support can the Council offer to a local resident who is interested in 
setting up a 'Men in Shed' project in Bellingham?  
 

Reply 
 

We recognise the very important role that initiatives like ‘Men in Shed’ projects 
play in supporting older people to continue to lead active lives and we are 
keen to support the development of community solutions like this. 
 
The Council has recently funded a community development worker for each of 
the GP neighbourhood clusters.  The role of these workers is to provide 
practical support for initiatives such as this.  This will improve the ability to 
provide services which sustain older and more vulnerable residents in playing 
an active role in their communities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 120



 

         QUESTION No. 37 
 
          
         Priority 4 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Maines   
of the Cabinet Member for Community Services 

 
Question 

 
What is the financial out turn of the Blackheath firework display held on 
Saturday 2nd November. How much money was raised and from what 
sources? 
 

Reply 
 

The cost of this Blackheath Fireworks 2013 is estimated to be 
£108,673.  The fixed cost of the display is £25,000 with production 
costs of £83,673. 

 
The Council budget for the event is £36,000 and the additional income 
generated is £43,017, which is made up of the following: 
 

Bar and catering income £17,312 

Sponsorship (L&Q and Glendale) £15,000 

Business contributions £1,565 

Public donations (bucket collection and online 
donations) 

£8,660 

Prize draw entries £480 

 
Based on the figures above, the shortfall for this year’s display is 
£29,656.  We expect the final budget to be very close to the details 
outlined above.   
 
A shortfall of £25,000 is attributed to the withdrawal of financial support 
from a key, long-term sponsor of the display. The amount contributed 
by Glendale has reduced by half, to £5,000, as a result of a reduction 
in income due to a limit on the number of annual funfairs taking place 
on Blackheath.  

Page 121



 

         QUESTION No. 38 
 
          
         Priority 4 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Feakes   
of the Cabinet Member for Children and Young Services 

 
Question 

 
What actions are the Council taking to improve the educational outcomes for 
Looked after Children, which are much worse than average for Lewisham? 
 

Reply 
 

Looked After Children in Lewisham currently achieve higher than those 
nationally and in inner London.  We are proud that 40 of our Looked After 
young people are currently at university, more than in other London boroughs.   
However, we remain determined that our Looked After Children should 
achieve as well as their peers.   
 
We are in the process of appointing a virtual Headteacher to the Looked After 
Children Education team to focus on raising standards further.  We are 
currently reviewing all the Personal Education plans (PEPs) to ensure they 
provide additional support where needed and have aspirational targets for our 
young people. 
 
From April next year, funding to schools which our Looked After Children 
attend will increase. PEPs will ensure this funding is used appropriately to 
support their learning needs. 
 

Because our Looked After Children have multiple needs, we are also ensuring 
that partners across the system play their role, including from mental health 
services to ensure barriers to learning are removed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 122



 

         QUESTION No. 39 
 
          
         Priority 4 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Fletcher 
of the Cabinet Member for Community Services 

 
Question 

 
The Council holds a large amount of artwork that is not on display - when 
does the Council intend to have this valued? 
 

Reply 
 

Officers currently have two quotations for providing services to value the 
artwork collection.  A third quotation is being sought and a decision will then 
be made on when this work can be carried out. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



 

         QUESTION No. 40 
 
          
         Priority 5 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Feakes   
of the Cabinet Member for Children and Young People 

 
Question 

 
The Council has not been meeting it’s targets on the stability of placements 
for Looked after Children. How does it hope to improve this? 
 

Reply 
 
 

Providing our looked after children with stability of care is key to all aspects of 
their development and therefore the outcomes they are likely to achieve. 
 
We measure both short  (looked after for 12 months) and longer term (four 
years plus) stability and we have found it difficult to reach our targets in the 
last six months. 
 
We have put the following measures in place to address this issue: 
 

• providing more placement support, for example CAMHS support, at an 
earlier stage before difficulties escalate;  

 

• delivering specific training to foster carers to assist them in managing 
Looked After Children with complex needs and challenging behaviours; 

 

• a senior manager will be required to review any case before a 
placement move is agreed; 

 
Our Looked After Children figures do not include our Adoption figures which 
remain good.  56 children have been adopted in the last 2 years.   As we also 
place children quickly it means that this cohort of settled children do not 
appear in the data for placement stability. 
 

Page 124



 

         QUESTION No. 41 
 
          
         Priority 6 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Feakes   
of the Deputy Mayor 

 
Question 

 
How did the Council decide on a “pop-up restaurant” as the best choice of 
event for Catford, taking into account the fact that a ticket costs £35? 
 

Reply 
 

The Catford Canteen came about as the result of several initiatives, including 
the Outer London Fund project on Catford Broadway, which includes ventures 
both to attract visitors to the town centre and support local businesses and 
entrepreneurs by holding events (monthly markets and supper clubs) and 
training schemes for market traders. As a result of both of these ventures, the 
project team gathered feedback from the local community and from those 
businesses trading at the markets and supper clubs, which suggested that 
further food related events would be well attended and provide important 
business testing opportunities.  
 
Whilst the initiatives discussed above were underway, CRPL (the Council’s 
regeneration company for Catford) forfeited a unit lease in the Catford Centre 
and had an empty unit on the market. Officers utilised this as an opportunity to 
create a space for a pop-up restaurant, supported by funding from the Outer 
London Fund and the High Street Innovation Fund, which provides a 
meanwhile use whilst the unit is being marketed. This supports the CRPL 
objectives to ensure that the centre is well managed and supportive of the 
regeneration aims for the town centre. 
 
The space is being rented out to individual chefs and caterers, who are 
running evening dinner events and brunch events. Each individual chef 
decides on the price of their menu, which ranges at present from £15 - £35 
and can include up to 6 courses and wine. The Catford Canteen currently has 
around 15 different people booked in to run events between now and March 

Page 125



 

2014, the majority of which are local businesses or market traders. The space 
is designed to allow these individuals to test business ideas and to gain 
valuable experience in event and restaurant management. They also receive 
business and event management support from existing council services. 
Whilst CRPL and the Council are accommodating these events by providing a 
space for them to happen in and support for the traders, each individual event 
is managed by the chef or caterer.  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 126



 

         QUESTION No. 42 
 
          
         Priority 7 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Feakes   
of the Customer Services 

 
Question 

 
Will be Council be taking remedial action to replace trees lost during “St 
Jude’s Storm” on 28th October? 
 

Reply 
 

Unfortunately a total of 118 trees were brought down by the high winds 
generated by this storm. 92 of these were street trees with the remaining 26 
lost from parks and other open spaces. 
 
Officers  will continue to work with resident and amenity groups to identify and 
where possible secure funding for replacement trees. 
 
This years new tree planting programme will see 73 trees planted  and 
officers hope to plant a minimum of 41 in the 2014/15 season. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 127



 

         QUESTION No. 43 
 
          
         Priority 8 
 
   
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Feakes   
of the Cabinet Member for Customer Services 

 
Question 

 
What is the average waiting time for an allotment for a Lewisham resident? 
 

Reply 
 
 

The current average waiting time for a Lewisham applicant across all 37 sites 
in Lewisham is 4 years. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 128



 

        QUESTION No. 44 
 
        Written Reply 
   
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
 

27 NOVEMBER 2013 
 
 
 

Question by Councillor Maines 
of the Cabinet Member for Customer Services 

 
Question 

 

What is the net increase in affordable homes in Lewisham in each of the last 
five years ? 
 

Reply 
 

The Planning Service Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) sets out details of 
affordable housing provision annually. The table below, taken from the AMR, 
provides details of net housing completions and affordable housing 
completions from 2008/9 to 2012/13. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The table shows that both the level of affordable housing and the ratio 
between social rented and intermediate units varies on a year-to-year basis. 
The number of affordable housing units completed in 2011/12 and 2012/13 
are higher than preceding years. In total there have been 1,873 affordable 
homes completed since 2008/9.   
 
Over the three years 2009/10 to 2011/12 the percentage of new housing 
available in Lewisham that was affordable was 36%, roughly in line with the 
London average of 38%. 
 

Year 2008/9 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

Social rented/ 

affordable rent 
69 87 259 357 299 

Inter-mediate 159 81 100 197 265 

Ratio 30:70 52:48 72:28 64:36 57:43 

Total net 

affordable 
228 168 359 554 564 

Page 129



 

         

        QUESTION No. 45 
 
        Written Reply 
   
 
 
 

LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

COUNCIL MEETING 
27 NOVEMBER 2013 

 
 
 

Question by Councillor Maines 
of the Deputy Mayor 

 
Question 

 

How many apprenticeships have been created by Lewisham Council, in year 
over the last 5 years? 
 
 

Reply 
 

A total of 354 apprenticeships have been created by Lewisham Council over 
the last five years.  
 

 
 
 

Page 130



 

 

Council 

Title Matters referred by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:  Emergency 
Services Review 

Contributor Overview and Scrutiny Committee Item No.  

Class Part 1 Date 27/11/13 

 
1. Summary 
 

This report presents the final report and recommendations arising from the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee’s Emergency Services Review, which will be 
circulated separately to members and be available on the Council website at: 
 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=2835 
 
 

2. Recommendation 
 

Council is recommended to receive the report and recommendations of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
3. Context  
 

On 23 January 2013, Council resolved to ask the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
to undertake an urgent investigation into emergency service provision across the 
Borough. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee agreed to carry out an in depth 
review, and considered evidence from a range of sources at its select committees. 
The Committee agreed the report and the recommendations on 14 October 2013. 
 

4. Financial implications 
 

There are no financial implications arising out of the implementation of the 
recommendation in this report. 

 
 
If you have any queries on this report, please contact Salena Mulhere, Overview & 
Scrutiny Manager (0208 3143380), or Kevin Flaherty, Head of Business & 
Committee (0208 3149327). 

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 131



Overview and Scrutiny Committee
October 2013

Overview and Scrutiny 
Emergency Services Review

Page 132



 

Membership of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 2013/14:  
 
Councillor Alan Hall (Chair) 

Councillor Kevin Bonavia (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Olufunke Abidoye 

Councillor Jackie Addison 

Councillor Obajimi Adefiranye 

Councillor Anne Affiku 

Councillor Christine Allison 

Councillor Abdeslam Amrani 

Councillor Pauline Beck 

Councillor Paul Bell 

Councillor John Bowen 

Councillor David Britton 

Councillor Duwayne Brooks 

Councillor Suzannah Clarke 

Councillor Jenni Clutten 

Councillor Liam Curran 

Councillor Vincent Davis 

Councillor Amanda De Ryk 

Councillor Alexander Feakes 

Councillor Peggy Fitzsimmons 

Councillor Julia Fletcher 

Councillor Patsy Foreman 

Councillor Vicky Foxcroft 

Councillor Helen Gibson 

Councillor Sven Griesenbeck 

Councillor Carl Handley 

Councillor Michael Harris 

Councillor Ami Ibitson 

Councillor Mark Ingleby 

Councillor Stella Jeffrey 

Councillor Darren Johnson 

Councillor Madeliene Long 

Councillor Chris Maines 

Councillor Jim Mallory 

Councillor Pauline Morrison 

Councillor John Muldoon 

Councillor Marion Nisbet 

Councillor Sam Owolabi-Oluyole 

Councillor Stephen Padmore 

Councillor Jacq Paschoud 

Councillor John Paschoud 

Councillor Philip Peake 

Councillor Eva Stamirowski 

Councillor Alan Till 

Councillor Dan Whittle 

 

Page 133



1 
 

Contents 
 

1.! Chair’s introduction .............................................................................. 2!

2.! Executive summary ............................................................................. 3!

3.! Recommendations .............................................................................. 7!

4.! Purpose and structure of review ........................................................ 10!

5.! Findings ............................................................................................. 14!

6.! Finance .............................................................................................. 15!

7.! Assets ................................................................................................ 21!

8.! Perception ......................................................................................... 29!

9.! Response .......................................................................................... 38!

10.! Prevention ......................................................................................... 66!

11.! Access ............................................................................................... 79!

12.! Partnerships ...................................................................................... 87!

13.! Future ................................................................................................ 92!

14.! Monitoring and ongoing scrutiny ....................................................... 98!

15.! Glossary of terms .............................................................................. 99!

16.! Sources ........................................................................................... 103!

Page 134



 

1. Chair’s introduction  
 

The Emergency Services Review is the culmination of 
many months hard work by Overview & Scrutiny at 
Lewisham Council. I would like to thank the small scrutiny 
team for all their guidance and dedication.  
 
Councillors of all parties have examined the Ambulance, 
Fire and Police services in detail including Lewisham 
Hospital’s Accident and Emergency department. 
 
The common themes emerging from the review are that 
there are significant funding reductions leading to major 
service changes. Furthermore, services that aim to reduce 
demand like prevention and probation are under severe 
strain too. The Emergency Services Review shows that 
2010 was a high water mark for Lewisham’s 999 services. 
 
This review would not have been possible without the  
co-operation and participation of the Ambulance, Fire  
and Police borough leaders and I would like to thank  
them for all their efforts. 
 
Since the Emergency Services Review was agreed the Court of Appeal has ruled that 
the Secretary of State for Health, Jeremy Hunt did not have the power to make decisions 
on Lewisham Hospital following the appointment of a Trust Special Administrator for 
another NHS Trust.  
 
All this shows that our final recommendation: “The Mayor and Council must continue to 
be vigilant to ensure that Lewisham has the best possible Emergency Services” is 
prescient.  
 

 

 
Councillor Alan Hall 
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

 
 

Page 135



 

3 

2. Executive summary  
 
 
Lewisham is a diverse, vibrant and well-connected south east London borough. Its 
population is fluid and dynamic, accessing London’s variety of employment, leisure and 
cultural facilities. The population has in recent years been impacted most significantly by 
austerity, with incomes down, significant benefit reductions and growing levels of 
homelessness. 
 
All local public service agencies have been facing rising demand and significant financial 
constraints. The government has proposed to cut an average of 20% from government 
spending over the next 4 years and reduce the government’s budget by £83bn.Local 
government has been particularly badly affected, with the largest proportionate share of 
spending cuts. Lewisham Council has implemented major organisational and service 
changes over the past three years, reducing its overall net revenue budget by £82m. 
£17m of savings agreed for 2014/15, with a further £85m of savings required by 2016/17 
from the current revenue budget of £284m. 
 
It is against this background that the dependency on emergency services is seen to be 
most acute – as numbers of local residents grow, household stress intensifies and the 
most vulnerable residents face the biggest pressure on household budgets in living 
memory. All these factors have an influence on demand for local emergency services 
and associated risks to life and community well-being.  
 
Finance 
The London Fire Brigade’s funding has reduced by £52m in the last four years, while a 
further savings target of £45.4m over the next two years has been added. The London 
Fire Brigade aims to achieve this through reducing the number of fire stations, 
appliances and fire station staff in London.  
 
The Metropolitan Police Service is required to save £500m from 2013 to 2016. This 
follows savings delivered in 2011/12 of £146m and £70m 2012/13. These further 
savings will be delivered through changes to the rank mix of police officers and the 
policing model used, reductions in the cost of back office support, more efficient use of 
property and reductions in the cost of IT support.   
 
The NHS is required to make total savings of £20 billion per year by 2014/15 and trusts 
throughout the NHS have efficiency targets of around 4-6 per cent per year. The London 
Ambulance Service’s budget will have a reduction of £54m by 2015/16, which will largely 
be achieved by a reduction in London Ambulance Service staff posts. However the 
London Ambulance Service recently received £14.8 million of extra funding to deal with 
the increased demand for services. 
 
In addition to the pressures on the London Ambulance Service, there has been recent 
uncertainty about the status of Lewisham Hospital’s accident and emergency unit due to 
the appointment of a Trust Special Administrator to look at the problems associated with 
the South London Healthcare NHS Trust. Among the recommendations made by the 
Trust Special Administrator were some related to Lewisham Hospital, including 
proposals to close its accident and emergency unit. Lewisham Council strongly objected 
to the proposals and launched a successful legal challenge in the High Court against to 

Page 136



 

4 

the decision to implement these recommendations. The government appeal against this 
ruling was unsuccessful. 
 
Assets 
The disposal and more efficient utilisation of assets forms a key part in the savings 
identified by the emergency services. However, their future use will be influenced by the 
planning frameworks and policies in place and planning protections for community 
facilities as set out in the London Plan and the Lewisham Core Strategy. The London 
Plan is the overall strategic plan for London, and includes a strong theme promoting and 
protecting community and other social facilities. The Lewisham Core Strategy places a 
strong emphasis on ensuring the provision and protection of appropriate social 
infrastructure. 
 
The London Fire Brigade’s approach to their assets includes savings related to their 
improved handling of assets, which includes closing some fire stations. The original plan 
included proposals to close New Cross and Downham fire stations, although under the 
revised plan only Downham station was earmarked for closure.   
 
The Metropolitan Police Service has a number of objectives related to their assets, 
including the development of Front Counters and Contact Points, creating a more 
efficient estate and selling off the New Scotland Yard. Within Lewisham, Brockley police 
station has already closed and Sydenham is due to close. 
 
The London Ambulance Service has three bases in Lewisham, all of which are due to 
stay open. The Trust Special Administrator proposals had potentially significant changes 
for the estate of Lewisham Hospital, including an almost 60% reduction in its size. 
However, these proposals have not been progressed due to the successful legal 
challenge.  
 
Perception 
There was a widespread and significant response to the London Fire Brigade proposals 
to close Downham and New Cross fire station, and to the Secretary of State for Health’s 
decision to downgrade the A&E and maternity services at Lewisham Hospital.  
 
Lewisham Council submitted a response to the consultation by London Fire Brigade 
outlining their concerns of the potential implications of the proposal to close two fire 
stations in the borough and the meeting held in Lewisham had the second highest 
attendance for all of the public meetings held across London. The London Fire Brigade 
acknowledged that there was very strong opposition to any reduction in the number of 
fire stations, fire engines and fire fighter posts and the original proposals were revised to 
suggest the closure of 10 instead of 12 fire stations with one of those being retained 
being New Cross. 
 
Responses to The Mayor’s Office for Policing And Crime draft Police and Crime Plan 
consultation highlighted concerns that the changes to the local policing model would 
undermine the relationships and local knowledge built up and progress made to date.  
Concerns were raised that access for local people to their local police officers would  
be hindered by these changes, as well as concerns about the new bases for the local 
ward teams. 
 

Page 137



 

5 

The proposals affecting Lewisham hospital, including closing the accident and 
emergency unit, received the most publicity and the strongest reaction from local people 
out of all the proposals related to emergency services in the borough. Thousands of 
local people petitioned and marched against the proposals and a highly successful 
community campaign led by SaveLewishamHospital resulted in the Council’s successful 
legal challenge to the decision by the Secretary of State for Health. 
 
Response 
The emergency services have set targets for first response of six minutes for the fire 
service, eight minutes for ambulance and 15 minutes for police. Proposals from the 
emergency services to change the way they deliver their services led to concerns over 
the effect these will have on response times.  
 
The London Fire Brigade proposals to close two stations in Lewisham would mean that 
the borough average times for Lewisham were still within the limits set by the London 
Fire Brigade London wide targets. However information provided for the review 
illustrated how the proposed changes would impact severely on some of the borough’s 
communities and raised concerns about the London Fire Brigade’s ability to reach the 
worst affected parts of the borough quickly in the case of an emergency. In addition 
there were concerns over the time it takes to receive and despatch emergency calls and 
the ability of a third fire engine to reach the scene of a serious incident.  
 
The Metropolitan Police Service believes that the Local Policing Model and its 
programme of asset rationalisation will move officers from stations and enable them to 
spend more time in neighbourhood teams, dealing with local issues. It proposes to free 
up emergency teams from dealing with non-critical work, in order to ensure that it retains 
the ability to respond rapidly when required.  
  
Across London the demand for emergency healthcare is increasing, meaning increasing 
demands on London Ambulance Service. The ambulance service must ensure that it is 
able to speedily and safely admit patients to a hospital accident and emergency 
department. The London Ambulance Service intends to proactively manage calls and 
direct non-critical calls to appropriate alternative provision as well as improve the 
working practices of ambulance staff. 
 
The potential loss of the accident and emergency unit at Lewisham Hospital required the 
London Ambulance Service to reconsider how it would deliver the best clinical outcomes 
for Lewisham citizens. Reports of overcrowding at accident and emergency units in 
neighbouring boroughs led to serious concerns about the future health and wellbeing of 
Lewisham citizens should the proposed changes to Lewisham Hospital have gone 
ahead. 
 
Prevention 
Prevention forms a key part of the strategies and plans of the emergency services within 
London. There is a recognition that responding to and dealing with emergency situations 
is the most expensive and difficult part of their business. Given the financial pressures 
that emergency services are under, preventing the need to respond in the first place is 
one of the most effective ways of cutting costs.  
 
The London Fire Brigade identifies that the best way of reducing the potential for fires to 
occur is to change the behaviour of residents by concentrating on how to continue to 

Page 138



 

6 

improve fire safety awareness. This includes identifying at risk groups through the 
analysis of demographic information and working with young people at an early age.  
 
Housing providers also have a large role to play in making sure that buildings under their 
control are safe and less likely to catch fire, as well as ensuring their tenants are aware 
of what they can do to lessen the risk of fire and be safe. The Council has a key role 
both as a regulator and as a body who deals with landlords and can carry out 
enforcement against providers. The London Fire Brigade has stressed the importance of 
systems to reduce the spread of fire, including sprinkler system. 
 
Neighbourhood policing is identified by the MPS as being a key to carrying out 
preventative work. Interacting with young people is a useful preventative measure and 
Safer Schools Officers will be based in specific secondary schools with primary schools 
having a named officer as a single point of contact.  Youth offenders have the highest 
rate of reoffending and the cost of young people in the criminal justice system is high, so 
approaches like Project Daedalus which addresses reoffending are important to crime 
prevention.  
 
Reducing demand for emergency responses as well as better discharging and reduced 
admissions are seen by the London Ambulance Service as important to prevention work. 
Differentiating between the most critical incidents and issues that might be better dealt 
with by other services is one of the London Ambulance Service’s key areas of work. 
Integrating services with other healthcare providers supporting people to make 
appropriate choices about their needs forms a key part of goals the London Ambulance 
Service has committed to achieving. 
 
Access 
The proposals to close a number of Lewisham’s front-facing public buildings represent a 
significant change to the way in which citizens interact with public services. The fire 
service’s proposals to close Downham fire station is likely to impact on citizens’ 
perception of their safety and the work carried out by the service to engage with the 
community. Whilst the MPS suggests that its changes will result in greater police 
presence in neighbourhoods and better access to local officers, opportunities to engage 
with the force will be significantly altered by the proposals to withdraw from these 
buildings. 
 
One of the greatest areas of concern in the borough has been the proposals to 
downgrade services at Lewisham hospital’s accident and emergency unit. Analysis of 
transport connections from postcodes in the borough to the five major hospital sites 
outside of the borough indicated that residents’ journeys would generally be less 
convenient and involve more changes. 
 
Partnership and Future 
There are a number of statutory bodies and responsibilities that ensure local authorities 
work closely in partnership with the emergency services and other public bodies. The 
emergency services also work closely with other organisations, especially in order to 
carry out prevention work. Due to the financial and service delivery pressures they face, 
public sector organisations such as local authorities and the emergency services will 
work more closely together in the future, as they seek to pool resources and deliver 
more effectively.

Page 139



 

7 

 

3. Recommendations 
 
Having considered all the evidence received, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

makes the following recommendations: 
 
Assets 
1. In the event that emergency services providers identify assets for disposal, the 

Council should be satisfied that there is no demand for alternative social and 
community use of that asset before it is disposed of, as set out in the Lewisham 
Core Strategy. 

2. When putting forward proposals to close facilities or alter the delivery of services 
from public buildings, Lewisham’s emergency services should consult with 
Councillors and the local community about the best use of their assets and any 
potential options for replacement facilities. 

 
Perception 
3. Local councillors should be kept up to date with the names and contact details of 

the appropriate officers who have direct responsibility for managing officers 
working at ward level. These officers should engage with their relevant local 
assembly. 

4. Information about the local policing model should be provided to local assemblies 
by the appropriate senior officers. 

 
Response 
5. The decision to close Downham Fire Station leaves some residents, schools and 

businesses in Lewisham subject to unacceptable average attendance times, and 
at greater risk. The LFB ward level response times should be provided annually 
for consideration by Overview and Scrutiny in Lewisham and the relevant Cabinet 
Member. 

6. The decision to close Downham Fire Station leaves some residents, schools and 
businesses in Lewisham subject to unacceptable average attendance times, and 
at greater risk. An annual update should be provided by the borough commander 
on LFB targets and performance in the borough. 

7. The Safer Lewisham Partnership and the Safer Stronger Communities Select 
Committee should annually review if the MPS is on target to achieve the objective 
of providing 647 police officers in Lewisham by 2015. 

8. Lewisham should seek to learn any lessons from the early rollout out of the Local 
Policing Model in Lambeth. 

9. The work of Safer Neighbourhood Teams should be reported to the Safer 
Stronger Communities Select Committee annually, as part of the Safer Lewisham 
Partnership update. 

10. Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee believe that the impact of the 
changed model of policing at a neighbourhood level will represent a real reduction 
in service. For this reason, the implementation of the new policing model should 
be reviewed annually by Overview and Scrutiny and the relevant Cabinet 
Member. 

11. The Metropolitan Police Service should regularly publish information on its 
website outlining performance in relation to achieving the target response times of 
15 minutes for urgent calls and 90 minutes for non urgent calls. 

Page 140



 

8 

12. Safer Stronger Community Select Committee should continue to annually review 
performance information from the Metropolitan Police Service in Lewisham. The 
information provided to the Committee should include response time 
performance. 

13. The fact that Lewisham Hospital has had numerous LAS patients diverted to it 
from neighbouring trusts in recent months should be noted. Capacity and activity 
at neighbouring A&E departments, as well as Lewisham, should be closely 
monitored by Lewisham CCG before any future proposals to change to accident 
and emergency provision are proposed or implemented at Lewisham Hospital. 

14. More public information on the Norovirus is needed to support people to self 
manage the illness where appropriate and to help prevent the spread of disease 
and the closure of hospital wards. 

 
Prevention 
15. The LFB in Lewisham should focus its education and fire prevention activities in 

the priority postcodes that will be most significantly affected by the increase in 
ward level response times. 

16. The possibility of setting up and funding a branch of the Fire Cadets in Lewisham 
should be explored as part the Youth Service’s new commissioning approach. 

17. Housing providers should carry out further work to assess how information about 
vulnerable residents in high rise accommodation could be shared with the LFB in 
the event of a serious fire.   

18. Lewisham’s social housing providers should be encouraged to have a clear policy 
in place that enables residents to report and escalate concerns about fire safety. 

19. Where non-critical risks are identified in Lewisham Homes properties, these 
should be recorded and added to an action plan, to be reported to the Housing 
Select Committee as part of the Lewisham Homes six monthly review. 

20. Lewisham’s social housing providers should be asked to demonstrate that their 
maintenance, caretaking, contracted staff (and anyone else who has a 
responsibility for building maintenance or procurement of building works) are fully 
trained to understand fire risks and where relevant, to carry out work in line with 
the most recent fire safety advice. 

21. An ongoing programme of fire safety awareness for tenants, including safe 
evacuation routes, should be instigated by all registered social landlords. 

22. Clear information about fire safety, and safe evacuation routes, should be 
provided to all new tenants as part of their welcome pack. 

23. The Council should encourage Lewisham’s housing providers to follow Lewisham 
Homes’ risk based approach to installing sprinklers in their housing stock 
(referral). 

24. Fire Safety should be considered strategically by the South East London Housing 
Partnership and good practice shared. 

25. Volunteering opportunities for adults, to support the cadet branches of the LFB 
and MPS, should be publicised locally to increase the capacity of the cadets to 
involve more young people 

26. The Mayor should call on the Government to revise plans to transfer the funding 
for Youth Offending Services. Current funding will not cover costs and will have a 
significant impact on Council finances: the impact of this should be closely 
monitored by Mayor and Cabinet and reviewed by the Public Accounts Select 
Committee 

27. National campaigns, such as the recent “Choose well” campaign, need to be 
supported and reinforced locally. Clear, appropriate guidance should be given to 

Page 141



 

9 

people locally, about the most appropriate local service to access if they have an 
urgent medical need outside of GP hours, when they are making routine contact 
with health services. 

28. Out of Hours care and urgent care both need to be comprehensive, easily 
accessible and well publicised to enable the public to choose the most 
appropriate care setting for their needs. 

 
Access 
29. The effectiveness of the police contact points in Lewisham should be reviewed by 

the borough commander after six months of operation, the results of the review 
should be provided to Overview and Scrutiny and the Safer Lewisham 
Partnership. 

 
Partnership 
30. The CCG has a key role in ensuring that appropriate urgent care and out of hours 

services are available. The Council and CCG need to work closely together to 
ensure that  all the necessary care pathways are in place, and appropriately 
utilised, to ensure undue and inappropriate pressure is not placed on Accident 
and Emergency units. 

31. The Council should continue to work closely with Lewisham and Greenwich NHS 
Trust to ensure appropriate and timely discharge from hospital takes place where 
patients have social care needs. 

32. The CCG should work with the Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust to 
understand the high number of patients attending A&E who require specialist 
referral to the mental health team. The CCG should then review the appropriate 
care pathways, particularly the out of hours availability of services, to ensure that 
there is an appropriate level of service provided. 

 
Future 
33. Projected future population growth should be factored into all future service 

planning 
34. The Mayor and Cabinet, the Safer Lewisham Partnership, the Health and 

Wellbeing Board should regularly review performance against the 
recommendations made within this report, in their role as local strategic 
leadership bodies. 

35. The Mayor and the Council must continue to be vigilant to ensure that Lewisham 
has the best possible Emergency Services 

 
 
 
 
  

   

   

Page 142



 

10 

4. Purpose and structure of review 
 
4.1. Lewisham Council was concerned about the impact and scale of the cuts being 

proposed to emergency services in Lewisham and resolved in January 2013 that: 
 
“Given the severity of cuts to emergency services across the borough, Council asks the 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee to undertake an urgent investigation into 
emergency service provision across the borough”1. 

 
4.2. In April 2013 the Overview and Scrutiny Committee decided to direct its select 

committees to carry out a review of emergency services in Lewisham. This was at 
a time when there were ongoing consultations about substantial organisational 
and operational changes to the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS), the London 
Fire Brigade (LFB) and the London Ambulance Service (LAS). Proposals to 
reduce the Accident and Emergency Service (A&E), and emergency maternity 
care, at Lewisham Hospital had recently been agreed by the Secretary of State 
for Health, despite strong opposition from thousands of local people, their elected 
representatives and the GPs responsible for commissioning acute care locally.  

 
4.3. The Committee was concerned about the scale and pace of change being 

proposed to the delivery of emergency services in Lewisham and was worried 
that the cumulative impact of these proposals may not have been fully 
considered. The Committee wanted to ensure that the implications of all of the 
proposed changes were fully understood and planned for, and that a joined up 
approach to ensuring the best possible services for local people was taken. Given 
the ongoing reduction in local government funding, the Committee felt it important 
that the Council’s role in relation to emergency service provision was also taken 
into account.  

 
4.4. The topic of emergency services in Lewisham met the criteria for carrying out a 

scrutiny review, because it was: 

• an issue that affected a large number of people living, working and studying in 
Lewisham 

• strategic and significant 

• an appropriate time to carry out scrutiny of those services. 
 
Terms of reference and key lines of inquiry  
 
4.5. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered how each of its Committees 

might best contribute to the review. It was agreed that the review would focus on: 

• clarifying the key policy initiatives and financial constraints impacting locally 

• identifying the local implications for services 

• considering the potential impact of any service changes. 
 
4.6. In determining the scope of the review, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

considered the existing scope of responsibilities held by its select committees. 
The Committee was reminded that local authorities have an important statutory 
role in monitoring the performance of their local Crime and Disorder Reduction 

                                            
1. 

Lewisham Council meeting 23 January 2013 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=2369&Ver=4 

Page 143



 

11 

Partnership. In Lewisham this is known as the Safer Lewisham Partnership and it 
is monitored by the Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee. 

 
4.7. Local Authority Overview and Scrutiny functions also have an important statutory 

role in relation to the provision of service by, and performance of, health bodies 
providing services for local people. In Lewisham this statutory role is performed 
by the Healthier Communities Select Committee. These functions include: 

• all powers given to the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee by the Health 
and Social Care Act 2001  

• to require the attendance of representatives of health bodies at meetings of the 
select committee to address it, answer questions and listen to the comments of 
local people on matters of local concern. 

 
Select Committee scrutiny 
 
4.8. The Committee tasked the Select Committees with the following terms of 

reference: 
 
Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee – Police and Fire Services 

• To clarify the policy initiatives and financial circumstances impacting on the MPS 
and the LFB 

• Identify the related impact on services and performance locally  

• Consider the potential impact of any service changes. 
 
Healthier Communities Select Committee – Emergency healthcare 

• To clarify the policy initiatives and financial circumstances impacting on the LAS 
and A&E provision in Lewisham 

• Identify the related impact on services and performance locally 

• Consider the potential impact of any service changes.  
 
Sustainable Development Select Committee – All services: estate and asset implications 

• Consider the potential impact of any service changes as they impact on estate 
and assets. 

 
Housing Select Committee – landlord and tenant specific implications 

• Identify the related impact on services and performance locally, particularly in 
relation to tenants and housing providers (Lift call outs, fire safety checking 
responsibilities etc) 

• Consider the potential impact of any service changes specifically in relation to 
tenants and housing providers. 

 
Public Accounts Select Committee – financial implications 

• Consider the potential financial impact, of any service changes, and how they 
may impact financially on the Council and its partners. 

 
Children and Young People Select Committee – Impact on young people Prevention 

• Engagement with young people in schools via the schools police officer and Safer 
Neighbourhood Team engagement with primary schools 

• Engagement work with young people in relation to fire prevention, fire safety and, 
if appropriate, in relation to hoax calling 

• Support to schools emergency planning in relation to fire evacuation 

Page 144



 

12 

• Any implications for children's social services including changes to youth 
offending services 

• Potential healthcare service implications for children related to the proposed 
changes to A&E services and related acute paediatric services. 

 
4.9. Each committee considered the terms of reference allocated to it by the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee, before considering a further report from officers about 
how its section of the review might be carried out. The Public Accounts Select 
Committee considered its terms of reference and resolved to defer to other 
Committees, unless it was required to carry out specific work on public finances.  

 
Select Committee meetings 
 
4.10. The Select Committees dedicated time at the following meetings in 2013 to the 

completion of the review: 
 
Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee 

• 8 May (evidence) 

• 3 July (evidence) 

• 3 September (recommendations). 
 
Healthier Communities Select Committee 

• 29 May (evidence) 

• 9 July (evidence) 

• 4 September (recommendations). 
 
Sustainable Development Select Committee 

• 22 May (evidence) 

• 11 July (evidence) 

• 10 September (recommendations). 
 
Housing Select Committee 

• 16 May (evidence) 

• 19 June (evidence) 

• 11 September  (recommendations). 
 
Children and Young People Select Committee 

• 2 July (evidence session and recommendations). 
 
 
4.11. Alongside the written evidence considered (listed in the sources section) 

Committees received evidence from the following officers and representatives 
from the Council and partner organisations: 

• David Abraham (Clinical Director for Strategy, Lewisham Clinical Commissioning 
Group)  

• Dr Liz Aitken (Director of Service for Acute Medicine, Lewisham Healthcare NHS 
Trust) 

• Kevin Brown (Assistant Director Operations London (South), London Ambulance 
Service) 

• Graham Norton (Lewisham Operations Manager, London Ambulance Service) 

Page 145



 

13 

• Joy Ellery (Director of Knowledge, Governance and Communications, Lewisham 
Healthcare NHS Trust) 

• Martin Wilkinson (Chief Officer, Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group) 

• Mark Andrews (Lewisham Borough Fire Commander, London Fire Brigade) 

• John Turner (Lewisham Borough Fire Commander, London Fire Brigade) 

• Chief Superintendent Russell Nyman (Lewisham Borough Police Commander, 
Metropolitan Police Service) 

• Superintendent Mike Gallagher (Lewisham Deputy Borough Police Commander, 
Metropolitan Police Service) 

• Sergeant Steve Marks (Lewisham, Metropolitan Police service) 

• Hilary Barber (Director of Corporate Services, Lewisham Homes) 

• Brian Regan (Planning Policy Manager, London Borough of Lewisham) 

• Ian Smith (Director for Children’s Social Care, London Borough of Lewisham) 

• Peter Stunell (Transport Policy Officer, London Borough of Lewisham) 

• John Roberts (GIS/CAD Manager, London Borough of Lewisham) 

• Geeta Subramaniam-Mooney ( Head of Crime Reduction and Supporting People, 
London Borough of Lewisham). 

 
Other relevant meetings 
 
4.12. 28 January 2013 - The Mayor of London held a public meeting in Lewisham to 

hear local people’s views on his draft Police and Crime Plan. 
 
4.13. 22 April 2013 - Central London Forward - The Chair of Overview and Scrutiny and 

the Cabinet Member for Community Safety attended a meeting of central London 
boroughs to discuss the impact of the fire service proposals on inner London. 
Information was received from the LFB as well as specialist information about 
maintenance, tall buildings, heritage buildings and response time in central 
London. 

 
4.14. 22 May 2013 - The London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority held a public 

consultation meeting on the draft Fifth London Safety Plan at Sydenham Girls 
School. 

 
Completion of the review 
 
4.15. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee met in October to review the evidence 

gathered, consider the recommendations put forward by the Select Committees. 
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee then agreed recommendations for action, 
that the Committee felt necessary, to safeguard the ongoing effective provision of 
emergency services for people in Lewisham, in light of the evidence considered. 
The summary of evidence gathered and the recommendations made are set out 
in the rest of this report. 

 

Page 146



 

14 

5. Findings 
 
5.1. The proposals for changes to the fire, police, ambulance and local accident and 

emergency services encompassed a large amount of detailed information, and 
aroused a huge amount of public interest, and in some instances concern. A large 
amount of written and verbal evidence was considered by the members of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, across a number of Select Committee 
meetings, over a period of six months. 

 
5.2. By considering in detail: the service change proposals put forward by the various 

bodies responsible for the delivery of emergency services, the financial and policy 
context within which they were being made and the views and experiences of 
local people, members identified eight key themes, across all of the emergency 
services in Lewisham, that encompassed the key areas of concern that needed to 
be considered collectively: 

 

• Finance 

• Assets 

• Perception 

• Response 

• Prevention 

• Access 

• Partnership 

• Future. 
 

5.3. As the aim of the review was to look at the proposed changes to the emergency 
services collectively, the evidence gathered and the conclusions of the Committee 
are outlined in relation to each of these eight key themes. 

Page 147



 

15 

6. Finance 
 
6.1. In May 2010 the incoming coalition government proposed to cut an average of 

20% from government spending over the next four years. The aim of this was to 
decrease public expenditure and reduce the structural national deficit. In October 
2010 a spending review was announced to cover the four years from 2011-12 to 
2014-15 and reduce the government’s budget by £83bn2. As part of this the NHS 
is required by the government to make total savings of £20 billion per year by 
2014/15 and trusts throughout the NHS therefore have efficiency targets of 
around 4-6 per cent per year. In the spending review of 2013 a further £11.5bn of 
savings were identified, including a 10% cut in resource budget for local 
government. 

 
6.2. These significant reductions in public sector expenditure over the course of the 

current Parliament have had an impact at the local level. Lewisham Council has 
already cut its revenue budget by £53m since May 2010. Further savings of 
between £30m and £55m will be required in 2013/14 and 2014/15, with a likely 
estimated savings requirement of £85m over the next four years3. 

 
6.3. Changes to the emergency services in London are being driven due to the 

pressures from central government to cut expenditure as well as the Mayor of 
London’s commitment to reducing the Greater London Authority (GLA) precept 
drawn from council tax. Due to the scale and profile of the 2012 London Olympics 
savings had not been sought for police and fire from frontline service delivery, 
instead being drawn from efficiencies in the back office functions. However, 
through late 2012 and early 2013 announcements were made regarding changes 
to the emergency services: 

• In April 2011 the London Ambulance Service (LAS) announced a five-year 
‘cost improvement programme’ involving a reduction of £54 million in their 
budget, a 19% reduction 

• In January 2013 the Commissioner of the London Fire Brigade (LFB) 
published proposals for the Draft Fifth London Safety Plan (LSP5), including 
the need for significant savings -a consultation period on the plan ran until 
June 2013, after which a final plan was produced and submitted 

• In January 2013, the Mayor of London announced the publication of the draft 
London Police and Crime Plan 2013-16, which included the need for savings 
of £500m - following a consultation period the final plan was announced in 
April 2013  

• It was estimated that the hospitals that make up the neighbouring South 
London Healthcare NHS Trust (SLHT) will have overspent by £356m over the 
period 2004/05 to 2012/13 - the Trust was placed under the Unsustainable 
Providers Regime, and a Trust Special Administrator (TSA) was appointed to 
address the financial issues of that Trust. 

 
Fire 
 
6.4. The draft LSP5 set out the budgetary pressures facing the LFB, with the 

government reducing funding by £31.5 million over the next two years and the 

                                            
2.
 Spending Review (2010) HM Treasury: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-review-2010 

3. 
Revenue Budget Savings Proposals 2013/16, report to all Select Committees: 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s18608/03SavingsReportSelectCommittees.pdf 

Page 148



 

16 

Mayor of London reducing his council tax by 10 per cent by 2016. This reduced 
the money available for public services including the LFB, with the LFB required 
to save £45.4m over the next two years4. 

 
6.5. At the Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee meeting held on 8 July 

2013 the Lewisham Borough Fire Commander, John Turner outlined these 
financial pressures. Whilst there had been substantial reductions in funding of 
£52m in the last four years which had been achieved without reducing frontline 
services, it was clear that the new savings target of £45.4m over the next two 
years could not be found without making significant changes to how London is 
kept safe.  

 
6.6. The LFB has a budget of £448.2m for the year 2012/135 with which to plan and 

deliver services. The draft LSP5 set out proposals for how the LFB might deliver 
services to Londoners in a more efficient way and suggested: 

• reducing the number of fire stations in London from 112 to 100, including the 
closing of stations at Downham and New Cross 

• cutting the number of fire engines to 151 from 169 [A 151/100 option – 151 
appliances at 100 stations] 

• having 520 fewer fire station staff (4,584) for fire engines and special vehicles  

• having 56 fewer middle managers [officers] (200).  
 
6.7. The Chancellor’s spending announcement for 2015/16 stated that fire and rescue 

authority budgets would be reduced by 7.5 per cent overall, meaning that funding 
would be reduced compared to that set out in the provisional grant settlement for 
2014/156. However, the London Mayor's budget guidance for 2014/15 maintains 
the London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority (LFEPA)’s funding for 
2015/16 at the same level as that for 2014/15.7 

 
LSP5 following the consultation 
 
6.8. Following the consultation period, the draft LSP5 was submitted to LFEPA on 18 

July 20138. Changes made to the draft plan included proposing that there were 
155 appliances at 102 stations (a “155/102” option) instead of the original 
“151/100” proposal, combined with changes to the Fire Rescue Units (FRUs) at 
Hornchurch and Millwall (saving £2.2m) which overall could save £18.1 million. 
This will mean the deletion of 360 station-based posts. However, it also 
represents a slight increase in the overall saving that will be achieved due to the 
inclusion of FRUs in the savings plans and associated reduction of posts from 
FRUs. 

 
6.9. Within Lewisham the changes made to the LSP5 will mean the New Cross Fire 

Station will remain open with one appliance. However, the FRU (a purpose built 
vehicle designed to provide specialist rescue functions), which is based at Millwall 
just outside the borough, will close. The LFB propose this action, suggesting that 

                                            
4.
 Draft Fifth London Safety Plan 2013-16 (Consultation version) http://www.london-

fire.gov.uk/Documents/Draft_Fifth_London_Safety_Plan.pdf 
5.
 Draft Fifth London Safety Plan consultation presentation (2013) 

6.
 HM Treasury, Spending Round (2013) 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/209036/spending-round-2013-complete.pdf 
7.
 The Mayor’s Budget Guidance for 2014/15, GLA: http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2014-15MayorsBudgetGuidance.pdf 

8.
 Fifth London fire safety plan (Report to LFEPA 18 July 2013): http://moderngov.london-fire.gov.uk/mgconvert2pdf.aspx?id=2064 

Page 149



 

17 

Millwall FRU consistently has the lowest level of utilisation of any FRU, and cover 
can be provided by neighbouring FRUs. 

 
Police 
 
6.10. The Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) produced the Police and 

Crime Plan 2013-2016 in March 2013, which set out a number of priorities for the 
Metropolitan Police Service (MPS), including: 

• reducing key neighbourhood crimes by 20% (which means up to 250,000 
fewer crimes)  

• boosting public confidence in the police by 20%, up to 75%  

• cutting costs by 20% (delivering £500m savings). 
 
6.11. The Plan will deliver the £500m savings through changes to the rank mix to bring 

the MPS in line with other forces, reductions in the cost of back office support, 
more efficient use of property and reductions in the cost of IT support. This 
follows significant savings delivered in previous years, with net incremental 
savings delivered in 2011/12 of £146m and £70m 2012/13, realised through major 
change programmes covering Human Resources, Finance and Resource 
Management, and Property Facilities Management9.  

 
The Local Policing Model 
 
6.12. A new Local Policing Model (LPM) will be introduced which will change the way 

boroughs operate, and which will lead to moving more resources to the front line, 
with the aim of increasing visibility and flexibility as well as improving quality of 
service in order to increase public confidence. This will mean a change to the 
MPS's rank mix, with nearly a third fewer senior officers at Association of Chief 
Police Officers (ACPO) rank and over 1,000 fewer supervisors (all ranks between 
sergeant and chief superintendent). As the MPS has the highest support costs 
per head of population – £98 compared with the national average of £39 – the 
new model will reduce the organisation support costs and remove any duplication 
and unnecessary overheads. 

 
6.13. At the Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee meeting held on 29 July 

2013, the Deputy Borough Commander for MPS in Lewisham stated that, in order 
to achieve the savings required, the LPM would be implemented in Lewisham by 
16 September 2013.  

 
6.14. In Lewisham, there are proposals to increase the total number of officers from 

593 to 647, an increase of 54 officers on 2011 levels as outlined in the draft Plan. 
With the new model there will be a total of 110 Police constables assigned to 
neighbourhood policing who will not have a specific ward but an area they are 
based in10. The Assistant Borough Commander stated that the number of 
neighbourhood officers would increase to 129 by 2016, up from 36 in 2007 and 
that Lewisham was due to have 116 officers in place by 16 September. 

 

                                            
9.
 Police and Crime Plan (2013-16) http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/PoliceCrimePlan%202013-16.pdf 

10.
 Emergency services review: MPS report to Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee (29 July 2013) 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s23832/04%20Emergency%20services%20review-

%20police%20service%20290713.pdf 

Page 150



 

18 

Savings from the police estate 
 
6.15. The MOPAC/MPS Estate Strategy 2013-2016 sets out how the MPS will seek to 

deliver the changes to their estate. Buildings regarded as inefficient and no longer 
required will be closed and the money saved used to invest in new facilities. 
Capital sales of former operational buildings realised £78m between April 2007 
and April 2013. There is a target of a further £268m from buildings which will not 
be required for operational use by April 2016. The aim set out in the strategy is to 
also reduce the total running costs of the estate to £140m each year by April 2016 
(a 30% reduction on 2012 costs).11  

 
6.16. The Assistant Borough Commander informed the Safer Stronger Communities 

Select Committee that part of the savings contributions from Lewisham would 
come from the closure of stations. Brockley Police Station has already closed 
because it had a low footfall and was considered unviable. Sydenham Police 
Station is also being closed, but a front desk will be opened at Catford Hill Police 
Station to cover the area previously covered by Sydenham. 

 
Emergency Healthcare 
 
6.17. In 2011, the London Assembly of the GLA carried out a strategic review of the 

future of the LAS.12 It highlighted that demand was already higher for the LAS 
than other regional ambulance services, and the number of incidents attended by 
the LAS had increased 12 per cent in four years. However, the review also 
concluded that the organisation was only being forced to make large budget 
reductions after it had undergone a sustained period of growth.  

 
6.18. The NHS is required by the government to make total savings of £20 billion per 

year by 2014/15 and trusts throughout the NHS therefore have efficiency targets 
of around 4-6 per cent per year. In order to meet this, in April 2011 the LAS 
announced a five-year ‘cost improvement programme’ involving a reduction of 
£54 million in the LAS budget (from an annual budget of approximately £280 
million in 2011/12) by 2015/16 (a 19 per cent reduction compared to 2011/12). 
This will include a reduction in LAS staff posts of 893 (18 per cent reduction), 
consisting of 560 ‘frontline’ posts (staff directly responsible for patient care), and 
333 management and support posts.  

 
Increased demand for ambulances 
 
6.19. However, in January 2013, the LAS issued a joint statement with the lead 

commissioner of the service for London Primary Care Trusts, NHS North West 
London, advising that the LAS was facing increasing levels of demand, and that 
although a rise in demand was planned for, the increase was 3.2 per cent more 
than expected. Therefore, although the LAS was facing pressure to work 
differently and more efficiently to make the best use of the funding it receives, 
more investment was needed to increase staffing levels. The LAS and the 
commissioners are currently considering what changes and investment are 
required for the next financial year to ensure more staff are available to respond 

                                            
11.

 MOPAC/MPS Estate Strategy (2013-2016): http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/MOPAC%20Estates%20Strategy_0.PDF 
12.

 The future of the London Ambulance Service: A strategic review December (2011), Health and Public Services Committee 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/publications/all-publications/the-future-of-the-london-ambulance-service 

Page 151



 

19 

to patients who need an emergency ambulance and have published a 
consultation document ‘Our plans to improve the care we provide to patients’, 
outlining their aims and priorities.13 

 
6.20. At the Healthier Communities Select Committee meeting on 29 May 2013 the 

Committee was informed that the LAS recently received £14.8 million of extra 
funding, £7.8 million for this year to enable the recruitment of 240 more frontline 
staff to deal with the increased demand for services. The additional funding had 
been provided because demand for the service had increased every year for the 
last 10 years, with a 6.4% increase in calls 2012/13 including an increase of 
12.2% on life threatening (category A) calls. The LAS intends to employ an 
additional 240 members of staff over the next two years, with 120 starting in 
January 2014, and the other 120 in January 2015. 14 

 
6.21. In Lewisham the local Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

commissions services from the LAS via a central commissioning team for London 
CCGs, via a CCG consortium agreement. Lewisham CCG also works locally with 
the LAS to manage and monitor the commissioned services and the interfaces 
between services for the local emergency care system. 

 
Impact of the Trust Special Administrator 
 
6.22. In addition to the pressures on the LAS, there has been recent uncertainty about 

the status of Lewisham Hospital’s Accident and Emergency (A&E) unit. In July 
2012, the Secretary of State for Health appointed a TSA to South London 
Healthcare NHS Trust, with effect from 16 July 2012 to address issues around the 
Trust's finances. It was estimated that the hospitals that make up SLHT will have 
overspent by £356m over the period 2004/05 to 2012/13. According to the TSA 
these losses are largely a result of the excessive costs of the Private Finance 
Initiative (PFI) contract payments being made by the Trust15.  

 
6.23. Although Lewisham Hospital is not part of the SLHT, among the 

recommendations made by the TSA were some related to Lewisham Hospital. 
These included proposals for Lewisham Hospital to lose its fully admitting A&E 
service, its 24 hour surgical and medical inpatients’ service, its inpatient paediatric 
service, its critical care and obstetric led maternity units and its complex in patient 
surgery unit. As it would no longer provide emergency care it was proposed that 
Lewisham Hospital become a centre for elective surgery and be merged with 
Queen Elizabeth Hospital Woolwich in a new Trust. In addition there would be a 
rationalisation of the Lewisham Hospital estate, with a 58% reduction in the size 
of the hospital. The TSA attributed £22.6m worth of revenue savings to the 
Lewisham asset disposal. 

 
6.24. Lewisham Council’s response to the TSA draft report containing this proposal 

highlighted a number of issues with the financial suppositions outlined in the TSA 
report16. The response suggested that: 

                                            
13. 

‘Our plans to improve the care we provide to patients’ (April 2013)   
14

. Healthier Communities Select Committee minutes 
15

 Securing sustainable NHS services: the Trust Special Administrator’s report on South London Healthcare NHS Trust and the NHS 

in south east London (2013) Office of the Trust Special Administrator 
http://www.tsa.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/documents/FINAL%20REPORT.pdf 
16. 

Lewisham Council Response to the TSA recommendations (December 2012) 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s20359/Lewisham%20Hospital.pdf 

Page 152



 

20 

• The financial case put forward by the TSA lacked sufficient detail and the 
financial modelling appeared to be inconsistently applied across the Trusts 

• The estate and land use assumptions regarding the Lewisham Hospital site 
appeared flawed, with both the amount of land available for disposal, and the 
value of that land overestimated  

• The proposals failed to provide sufficient space for the clinical support 
services required for the proposed elective centre 

• The financial viability of the proposed elective centre relied upon a level of 
activity that would require sub-regional agreements and did not take into 
account patient choice and competition 

• The way in which the TSA had dealt with Lewisham Hospital’s PFI was flawed 
– if  it had been considered on the same basis as the PFI costs of South 
London Healthcare Trust then Lewisham Healthcare NHS Trust would appear 
not to be in deficit 

• The implications of a poor implementation of the proposals would be an 
increase in the risk of financial instability either for the commissioners or for 
the providers in Lewisham. 

 
6.25. Lewisham subsequently launched a legal challenge in the High Court to the 

decision of the Secretary of State for Health to implement the recommendations 
of the TSA. On 31 July 2013 the High Court ruled that the Secretary of State had 
breached provisions of the National Health Services Act 200617. The government 
is currently appealing against this decision.  

 

                                            
17

 Judgement on Lewisham Hospital (2013) R (on the application of LB of Lewisham and others) v Secretary of State for Health and 
the TSA for South London Hospitals NHS Trust, Judiciary of England and Wales: 
http://www.judiciary.gov.uk/media/judgments/2013/lb-lewisham-v-sos-health 

 

Page 153



 

21 

7. Assets 
 
7.1. Emergency service providers inhabit a number of buildings across the borough 

and across London. In order to make savings, a key factor will be the 
rationalisation and more efficient use of assets. In addition to supporting savings 
targets, some of the potential income from the disposal of surplus assets held by 
organisations could be used towards modernising equipment and premises and 
improving services. 

 
The planning framework 
 
7.2. The disposal of assets and their future use will be influenced by the planning 

frameworks and policies in place. The London Plan is the overall strategic plan for 
London, and it sets out a fully integrated economic, environmental, transport and 
social framework for the development of the capital to 2031. It forms part of the 
development plan for Greater London. London boroughs’ local plans need to be in 
general conformity with the London Plan, and its policies guide decisions on 
planning applications by councils and the Mayor of London. The London Plan 
defines community facilities as including a wide range of facilities such as ‘health 
provision, nurseries, schools, colleges and universities, community, cultural, play, 
recreation and sports facilities, places of worship, fire stations, policing and other 
criminal justice or community safety facilities and many other uses and activities 
which contribute to making an area more than just a place to live’18. 

 
7.3. At the meeting of the Sustainable Development Select Committee on 11 July 

2013, Members were provided with information about planning protections for 
community facilities as set out in the London Plan and the Lewisham Core 
Strategy. The London Plan has a strong theme of promoting and protecting 
community and other social facilities as an essential element in supporting 
inevitable growth in population, ensuring sustainable communities and reducing 
health inequalities.  

 
7.4. The London Plan requires boroughs to assess the need for social infrastructure 

and community facilities and ensure that this need is capable of being met 
wherever possible. Adequate provision for these facilities is considered 
particularly important in major areas of new development and regeneration. The 
London Plan also sets out that proposals which would result in a loss of social 
infrastructure in areas of defined need for that type of social infrastructure without 
realistic proposals for re-provision should be resisted; and the suitability of 
redundant social infrastructure premises for other forms of social infrastructure for 
which there is a defined need in the locality should be assessed before alternative 
developments are considered. 

 
7.5. If the current use of a facility is no longer needed, boroughs should take 

reasonable steps to identify alternative community uses where the needs have 
been identified. 

 
7.6. The Lewisham Core Strategy places a strong emphasis on ensuring the provision 

and protection of appropriate social infrastructure in the context of the promotion 

                                            
18. 

The London Plan http://www.london.gov.uk/priorities/planning/london-plan

 

Page 154



 

22 

of growth in the borough’s regeneration areas and the need to ensure the 
sustainability of communities borough-wide. The Core Strategy Policy 
emphasises that there should be no net loss of facilities. Existing floor space and 
facilities should be protected except where provision is being reconfigured, 
upgraded or is being re-located in order to improve services and meet identified 
needs as part of a published strategy by a local service provider.  

 
7.7. In all such cases the Council will need to be satisfied that the overall level of 

social and community provision is improved and there is no demand for an 
alternative social and community use for that floor space. This policy approach 
should ensure that facilities are fit for purpose and provide sufficient flexibility to 
meet the needs of both the providers and local communities.  

 
7.8. The Lewisham Core Strategy defines community facilities as ‘community services 

that improve community well-being and which implement Core Strategy Objective 
11: Community well-being' 19. The Lewisham Core Strategy also sets out that the 
Council will apply the London Plan policies relating to healthcare, education and 
community and recreational facilities to ensure: 

• there is no net loss of facilities 

• the needs of current and future populations arising from development are 
sufficiently provided for 

• the preferred location for new uses will be in areas that are easily accessible 
and located within close proximity of public transport, other community 
facilities and services and town and local centres 

• co-location of services and multi-use facilities are encouraged and supported 

• a safe and secure environment is created and maintained. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fire 
 
7.9. The London Fire Brigade’s approach to their assets is set out in the Fifth London 

safety Plan (LSP5)20 under their fourth strategic aim, ‘Resources’. Objectives 
related to the use of the LFB’s assets include: 

• Explore options for further shared services 

• Review property services 

• Provide nine new fire stations through the Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and 
deliver the capital programme of station improvements 

• Explore arrangements for operational staff to undertake routine maintenance 
and repairs on stations 

• Start a programme to replace the pumping fleet and investigate options for 
improving their environmental performance. 

 

                                            
19. 

Lewisham Core Strategy (adopted 2011) 
http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/policy/Documents/CoreStrategyAdoptedVersion.pdf 
20

 LSP5 (2013-16) p6 

Recommendation 1: 
In the event that emergency services providers identify assets for disposal, the 
Council should be satisfied that there is no demand for alternative social and 
community use of that asset before it is disposed of, as set out in the Lewisham Core 
Strategy. 

Page 155



 

23 

7.10. Some of the savings identified in LSP5 are related to their improved handling of 
assets. The original plan included proposals to close New Cross and Downham 
Fire Stations, although under the revised plan only Downham Fire Station is due 
to close. 

 
Modelling for risk 
 
7.11. The models used to decide on where fire engines were to be removed and fire 

stations closed were based on the LFB’s historic incident data for five years, to 
build a picture of risk across London, as historic incidents have been found to be 
a very strong predictor of where incidents will happen in the future. The modelling 
took into account the demand for attendance generated by local risks, as well as 
the volume of incidents.  

 
7.12. Other factors that contributed to the proposals included the desirability of retaining 

at least one station in every borough, the physical quality and utility of each 
station, the recognition that some stations had received substantial levels of 
recent investment; that some stations were in a government funded PFI 
programme and that some stations provided multiple or difficult to relocate 
functions. However, in the response to the consultation on the LSP5, the LFB 
emphasised that the delivery of their agreed corporate property strategy was not 
an explicit criteria used for the selection of stations set out in the final draft plan 
and it did not play any part in the selection of stations which were due to close.  

 
The LFB asset plan 
 
7.13. The LFB's corporate asset plan sets out the following objectives:21 

• To ensure that our fire stations and other buildings are fit for purpose, in a 
satisfactory condition and energy efficient 

• To ensure that our fire stations and other buildings are well placed to enable 
us to reach incidents effectively and to the attendance standards we have set 

• To use the approved Fire Station Design Brief (2008) for all new builds and as 
a basis for refurbishments and to keep it under review to ensure its 
appropriateness for future flexible working and a modern fire service providing 
a consistent and suitable standard of accommodation for all our appliances  

• To continue to provide fire stations in prominent locations where possible that 
provide a positive and reassuring presence to the community 

• To include facilities where the community can meet and go for fire safety 
advice and information 

• To maintain our properties and preserve their value in accordance with the 
“lifing policy” that where possible, no stations shall be over sixty years old 

• To maximise the use of space in our estate including training facilities 

• To continue to unlock the potential latent value in our estate, where 
appropriate, through engaging private sector developer partnerships on 
appropriate sites under our Corporate Property Project initiative  

• To continue to take steps to reduce our carbon footprint, with sustainable 
development in design, and strive for the Excellent BREEAM rating for new 
designs  

• To continue to ensure compliance with Statutory and Regulatory Codes  

                                            
21.

 LFB Asset Management Plan (2011): Delivering property improvement & management http://www.london-

fire.gov.uk/Documents/FEP1831_(Appendix).pdf 

Page 156



 

24 

• To continue to identify income generating opportunities, where appropriate  

• To continue to develop effective joint working through partnership 
arrangements, and where appropriate co-location, with other agencies and the 
community, including shared services and functions with other local 
government organisations  

• To continue to deliver good value for money for our property assets and make 
further efficiency savings.  

 
7.14. At the time of drafting this document, no decisions have been taken on what will 

happen to stations that are closed. In the past, when stations have been closed 
they have been marketed and sold with the capital receipt used where possible to 
invest in essential improvements to the service, for example to buildings and 
equipment. The capital obtained from sales is not a permanent source of income 
and the LFB indicated that they should not be used to support revenue spending 
like day to day running costs.  

 
7.15. The property strategy for managing any closed sites will follow procedures used 

for previous decommissioning of stations (and other LFB sites). The disposal of 
any site will need to take place over a phased period and the appropriate security 
arrangements will be put in place for sites awaiting disposal. The LFB already 
share accommodation with the London Ambulance Service (LAS) and with the 
Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) and will continue to work with other emergency 
services to fully exploit this potential, although the LFB has very little surplus land 
or properties that could be used in this way.22  

 
Police 
 
7.16. The MOPAC/MPS Estate Strategy 2013-201623 indicates that as at March 2013, 

the MPS operated from 955,948 square metres of space in a total of 671 
properties of which 400 properties had day-to-day operational activities; 97 
properties are no longer required for operational use; and 174 properties were 
residential. The Estate Strategy supports the following aims: 

• Develop the required Front Counter portfolio and create the new Contact 
Points across London - in addition, raise the profile of public facing properties 
through consistent standards of signage and corporate ‘look and feel’ 

• Reduce the total running costs of the MOPAC estate to £140m each year by 
2015/16 – a 30% reduction on 2012 costs 

• Reduce the amount of space occupied by up to 300,000 sq m by 2015/16 

• Provide up to 950 modern cells, reducing the cost of the custody estate, and 
provide suitable facilities to support the reduction in the time it takes for a 
detainee being taken into custody to be processed 

• Reduce the amount of residential accommodation owned by MOPAC to no 
more than 200 units whilst working with Residential Providers to offer 
affordable accommodation to officers and staff close to where they work 

• Create a more efficient estate, fit for the operational needs of the 21st century, 
with a much smaller headquarters and less costly buildings. 

 
7.17. Achieving this aims will be in addition to the 10% reduction achieved in the annual 

cost of running the police estate between 2009 and 2013. The MPS intends to sell 

                                            
22.

 Fifth London fire safety plan (Report to LFEPA 18 July 2013): http://moderngov.london-fire.gov.uk/mgconvert2pdf.aspx?id=2064 
23

 MOPAC/MPS Estate Strategy (2013-2016), p9 

Page 157



 

25 

its New Scotland Yard headquarters and compress the amount of space used for 
desk based staff. The strategy also includes plans for the disposal of a number of 
police stations and the creation of police ‘contact points’ in other public buildings. 

 
Closures in Lewisham 
 
7.18. In Lewisham, the police stations at Brockley and Sydenham have been declared 

surplus to operational requirements. As stated earlier, Brockley Police Station has 
already been closed as it was deemed unviable to keep it open for a small 
number of visitors. Catford Hill Police Station, which is currently being used as a 
deployment base, will serve as a contact point open to the public, covering the 
area previously covered by Sydenham Police Station once that station closes. 
The local force has no budget for new builds and any money being allocated for 
new buildings would be in the form of PFI. 
 

 Brockley Police Station 
 

Emergency Healthcare 
 
7.19. The LAS has 3 bases within Lewisham, at Deptford, Forest Hill and Lee. There 

are no proposals to change any of these assets. The LAS has an agreement with 
the LFB that at a number of locations across London they share a “standpoint”: a 
convenient location at which the ambulances can wait for emergency calls to be 
allocated to them, enabling them to be wait and be deployed at the most 
appropriate locations to reach emergency calls promptly.  

 
7.20. Following the Trust Special Administrator’s (TSA) proposals for changes to the 

Lewisham Hospital site, Lewisham Council queried whether the draft 
recommendations were based on realistic assessments and whether they were 
deliverable.  

 
Challenging the TSA over asset usage 
 
7.21. The Council highlighted that the successful implementation of the TSA’s preferred 

option would result in significant changes to the Lewisham Hospital site. These 
changes included a reduction of almost 60 per cent in the size of the site, and the 
major refurbishment of the remaining buildings, so that the hospital becomes a 
centre of excellence of elective care. However, whilst the TSA presumed that 
such changes would free up a substantial package of land for sale, the Council 
identified substantial problems with the proposals and the assumptions on which 
they had been based. The Council highlighted that: 

Page 158



 

26 

• the site contains a Grade II listed building and conservation area status in 
parts of the site  

• The Council also owns the Registry Building which is on the eastern boundary 
of the site alongside the High Street, which could restrict use. 

• In line with existing planning policy, if ever plans were received by the Council 
for the site, the Council would pursue a mixed ‘housing and business use’ on 
the site (to help generate employment in an economically deprived area) 
rather than solely residential usage, which would reduce the land value, and 
retail usage would be completely rejected. 

 

 
Source: TSA 

 
7.22. An indicative assessment showed that 25 per cent of the land currently shown for 

disposal would need to be retained. When considered in combination with the 
Council’s assessment a more realistic disposal price per hectare would be £3.3m, 
not £5m as suggested by the TSA. The savings that the TSA could expect to 
make from the site would be substantially reduced and the planning restrictions 
which would be placed on the site by the council would mean that the 
development potential was limited. 

 
7.23. Considering the substantial investment that Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust 

has already made in its buildings and facilities, including a refurbishment and 
rationalisation of its urgent care centre and accident and emergency department, 
the Council recommended that the TSA reconsider fully the viability of removing 
provision from Lewisham. 

 
7.24. As noted in the Finance section, Lewisham undertook a successful legal 

challenge against the decision of the Secretary of State for Health to implement 

Page 159



 

27 

the recommendations of the TSA. The Government has been given leave to 
appeal the ruling in Lewisham’s favour and a hearing of the appeal is imminent. 

 
 
 

Recommendation 2: 
When putting forward proposals to close facilities or alter the delivery of services from 
public buildings, Lewisham’s emergency services should consult with Councillors and 
the local community about the best use of their assets and any potential options for 
replacement facilities. 
 

Page 160



 

28 

Emergency services asset map 
 

Page 161



 

29 

8. Perception 
 
8.1. The “Emergency Services” are highly valued by the British public. Calling 999 and 

feeling confident that appropriate help, free at the point of service, is going to 
arrive quickly is an important foundation of civil society. Changes to emergency 
provision, particularly when there is no real public concern with the current 
provision, can cause some distress and anxiety. Explaining the rationale of any 
proposed service changes to people and giving service users/the local community 
the opportunity to comment on the proposals before any decision is taken and 
any changes are made, is a key part of planning, informing and implementing 
service changes. 

 
8.2. As previously outlined, a number of London wide, or South- East London wide, 

service changes to emergency services have been announced recently that are, 
to varying degrees, prefixed by outlining of a financial imperative for the proposed 
changes. When a service change is perceived as a “cut” or reduction in quality or 
quantity of services, or a reduction in the accessibility of service, it can cause high 
levels of concern across the community, particularly by those most directly 
impacted. 

 
8.3. The terms “engagement” and “consultation” are often used to refer to the process 

of talking to people about proposed changes before they happen. “Engagement” 
with service users and the public can play a critical role in helping people 
understand the role of services, and the challenges they face, and can directly 
impact on the public perception of the services and any changes proposed. Public 
perception is also heavily shaped by people’s direct experiences of the services 
that they receive, as well as the experiences of their loved ones, friends and 
neighbours.  

 
8.4. Some public services are legally required to carry out a formal consultation 

process for a prescribed period of time when proposing major changes to 
services, with an expectation that the views of local people and service users will 
inform the final decision that is made. In Lewisham in recent months, proposals 
were published in relation to the fire service and accident and emergency service 
at Lewisham Hospital that plainly felt to the local community as a “cut” in services 
for people in Lewisham, that were driven  primarily by financial motives: the Trust 
Special Administrator (TSA) proposals to reduce Accident and Emergency (A&E) 
provision at Lewisham Hospital, as well as to remove emergency maternity care 
from the Lewisham Hospital site, and the London Fire Brigade (LFB) plans for the 
restructuring of services explicitly mentioned the closure of two fire stations in the 
borough and the loss of 64 fire brigade staff. This section will look at how 
consultation with people in Lewisham took place, the views expressed about the 
proposals relating to emergency services in Lewisham, and if/how those views 
were taken into account. 

 
Fire 
 
8.5. In January 2013 the LFB Draft Fifth London Safety Plan (LSP5) was published by 

the Commissioner of the LFB, outlining the context for and specific changes 
proposed to the services delivered by the LFB. The plan advised that there was a 
need for the LFB to save £45.4million over the coming two years. It is within the 

Page 162



 

30 

context of needing to make large scale financial savings that the specific plans for 
service changes, which included the closure of 12 fire stations in London, two in 
Lewisham, 18 fire engines and over 500 fire fighters, were outlined for 
consultation.  

 
8.6. The consultation on LSP5 was put forward as an opportunity for Londoners “to 

have a say on how their fire and rescue service is run!I urge everyone to visit 
our website and tell us what they think” 24.(LFB Commissioner Ron Dobson).As 
the responsible body that “runs the London Fire Brigade and makes decisions on 
key matters including strategy, policy and the Brigade’s budget”25, the London 
Fire and Emergency Planning Authority (LFEPA) was the body responsible for 
putting the proposals to Londoners.  

 
8.7. Before the consultation with Londoners began, the draft plan made headlines as 

LFEPA recorded its opposition to many of the proposals in the plan put forward by 
the Commissioner, namely the station closures, and appliance and staff 
reductions, and had attempted to reject the elements of the plan that dealt with 
station closures before it was put out for consultation with Londoners. In response 
to this the Mayor of London used his powers of direction to instruct LFEPA to 
begin a public consultation, by 13 February 2013, on the version of the plan that 
was originally presented to it. 

 
8.8. At an extraordinary meeting of the Authority on Monday 11 February 2013, a 

majority of members supported a resolution to not comply with the Mayor’s 
direction. Subsequently, the Mayor wrote to LFEPA saying that he would seek 
legal redress to ensure that his direction was followed. At a meeting of the 
Appointments and Urgency Committee on Tuesday 26 February 2013 members 
voted to authorise that public consultation on the whole of the draft fifth London 
Safety Plan could begin. 

 
8.9. This discord between the governing body, the Mayor of London and the 

Commissioner and the focus on the context of the financial savings underpinning 
the proposed service changes set the tone for the consultation process and drew 
attention to the concerns the governing body had about the reasons for and 
appropriateness of the specific proposals put forward. The consultation went 
ahead from 4 March 2013 to 17 June 2013.  Over 1800 online responses to the 
consultation questionnaire were submitted, with another 400 questionnaires 
completed and posted to LFB. A further 102 formal responses were submitted 
from organisations, groups and individuals. 

 
8.10. Lewisham Council submitted a response to the consultation outlining the 

concerns, of the Council and its constituents, of the potential implications of the 
proposal to close two fire stations in the borough. The Council felt the proposals 
to close New Cross and Downham Fire Stations would have a disproportionate 
impact on the borough, relative to impacts on other boroughs of the proposals 
and would reduce the level of emergency service, and therefore safety, for some 
of the most deprived areas of the borough. The concerns about the impact of the 
proposals on the safety of people in Lewisham were echoed by local politicians, 

                                            
24.

 LFB Press release, Ron Dobson (10 June 2013): http://www.london-
fire.gov.uk/news/LatestNewsReleases_lastchanceonfireconsultation.asp#.UkBmjdJJOAg 
25. 

LFB News release (4 June 2013) http://www.london-

fire.gov.uk/news/LatestNewsReleases_Sayonfirebrigadeproposals.asp#.UkGXItJJMuc 

Page 163



 

31 

local groups and large numbers of local people with people gathering together 
outside the threatened stations to protest and the proposals.26 

 
8.11. Thirteen petitions, with signatures totalling 21,770, were submitted in response to 

the consultation, specifically opposing the closure of fire stations. Of those 
petitions, two were specifically in opposition to the proposed closure of Downham 
Fire Station and totalled over 4700 signatures. 

 
8.12. Phoenix Community Housing is a not-for-profit resident-led housing association 

that owns and managers over 6000 homes in the Bellingham, Whitefoot and 
Downham areas of Lewisham. They responded to the consultation voicing 
concerns on behalf of all of the tenants of the association, that the loss of 
Downham Fire Station, and increased response times in the surrounding wards 
would mean significantly less cover and increased risk for tenants in those 
areas.27 

 
8.13. Public meetings were also held across London as part of the consultation 

process, with 24 meetings held in total as some meetings were held jointly 
between two boroughs. LFB recorded the attendance at the 24 meetings at 
approximately 1330 and approximately 180 people attended the meeting held in 
Lewisham, which was the second highest attendance for all of the public 
meetings held as part of the consultation.  

 
8.14. In analysing the consultation, the LFB noted that: “there was very strong 

opposition to any reduction in the number of fire stations, fire engines and fire 
fighter posts across all respondents (94% - 2, 010 out of 2145)”.28 

 
8.15. After the consultation process had concluded, the original proposals were revised 

by the Commissioner to suggest the closure of 10, rather than 12 fire stations with 
one of those being retained being New Cross Fire Station. The proposals were 
also altered to reduce the total number of fire engines by 14 rather than 18 and to 
increase the loss of fire-fighters from 520 to 552, but this was suggested with a 
focus on specialised fire rescue units and the crewing of those units. 

 
8.16. Throughout the respective formal consultation processes, the rationale for the 

proposals was put forward. Professional assurances were given that the quality 
and accessibility of services would not be negatively impacted. These 
reassurances were based upon modelling which showed that the average 
attendance times would remain close to the targets of six minutes for the first 
appliance and eight minutes for the second appliance across London. The 
Commissioner maintains that, in some instances, the public expectations and 
perceptions of the structures necessary to deliver effective services was incorrect: 
“The belief that emergency cover depends upon the resources normally located in 
a locality was strongly felt and expressed. It is true that cover is significantly 
affected by the availability of nearby resources but respondents made insufficient 

                                            
26.

 News Shopper article on LSP5 consultation (15 July 2013): 

http://www.newsshopper.co.uk/news/10548683.Downham_fire_deaths_on_Boris_Johnson_s_head_after_station_closure__says_ca
mpaigner/ 
27

 Phoenix Community Housing Response to Draft Fifth London Safety Plan consultation (17 June 2013) 
28 Fifth London fire safety plan (Report to LFEPA 18 July 2013): http://moderngov.london-fire.gov.uk/mgconvert2pdf.aspx?id=2064 

Page 164



 

32 

allowance for the evidence provided that shows how Brigade resources are, in 
fact, deployed from any station to maintain pan-London response performance.”29 

 
8.17. However, in considering the ward level information regarding attendance times, it 

was clear to local people that there was a direct link to the reduction of fire 
stations and the attendance time they could anticipate, if they were to need the 
LFB in an emergency. The marked rise in average attendance times to above the 
six and eight minute averages in the localities around the stations proposed for 
closure,  indicated to local people that the proximity of resources did have a 
tangible impact on the effectiveness of the emergency services that  they could 
expect to receive and the perception, that the emergency fire service people in 
Lewisham could expect to receive would diminish as a result of these changes, 
persists, even if the ward level averages appear to be in line with targets.  

 
8.18. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee fully support the legal action undertaken 

by Lewisham Council and others in relation to Downham Fire Station. 
 
Police 
 
8.19. In January 2013, the Mayor of London announced the publication of the draft 

London Police and Crime Plan 2013-16, including the need for savings of £500m. 
Following a consultation period the final plan was announced in April 2013. The 
Plan set out the 20:20:20 target that the Mayor has set the Metropolitan Police 
Service (MPS), to: 

• Reduce key neighbourhood crimes by 20%  

• Boost public confidence in the police by 20%, up to 75%.  

• Cut costs by 20% (delivering £500m savings). 
 
8.20. The Mayor’s Office for Police and Crime (MOPAC) carried out a London wide 

consultation on the draft Police and Crime Plan, and a number of public 
engagement meetings were held, including on in Lewisham that was well 
attended by local people, concerned to fully understand the potential impact on 
Lewisham. 

 
8.21. The new Local Policing Model was outlined within the London Police and Crime 

Plan and is a key part of how the MPS plan to meet those targets. The different 
model of policing aims to change the way boroughs operate and move more 
resources to the front line; increasing the visibility and flexibility of the police; and 
thereby improve the quality of the service in order to increase public confidence.   

 
8.22. This model of policing aims to build on the success of the very popular Safer 

Neighbourhood Team (SNT) model that has been in place across boroughs for a 
number of years and has seen dedicated sergeants, Police Constables (PCs) and 
Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) in all wards in the borough building 
strong relationships with the local SNT panels and local people and schools.  

 
8.23. SNT’s were very popular with their local communities and the model of a local 

team based in the ward was well understood, with good relationships built up with 
local people, businesses and schools in every ward. There were concerns voiced 
that the changes to the local policing model would undermine the relationships 

                                            
29 Fifth London fire safety plan (Report to LFEPA 18 July 2013): http://moderngov.london-fire.gov.uk/mgconvert2pdf.aspx?id=2064 

Page 165



 

33 

and local knowledge built up and progress made to date, with only one dedicated 
PC per ward always being assigned to a ward under the new model, in place of 
the previous sergeant, PC and PCSO (s) allocated to each ward.  

 
8.24. In response to these concerns, the Assistant Borough Commander advised the 

Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee that under the new model, 110 
police constables will be assigned to neighbourhood policing, however they would 
be assigned to an area rather than specific wards”30. He further stated that the 
total number of neighbourhood officers would be 129 by 2016, up from 36 in 
2007, and that 116 of those officers were due to be in place by September 2013. 
He also advised members that some existing PSCOs were being recruited to fill 
the new police constable posts, ensuring that their experience was not lost and 
that there was a balance across the borough of experienced and probationary 
officers with an existing knowledge of the area. 

 
8.25. At the public meeting held by MOPAC in the Civic Suite and at the Safer Stronger 

Communities Select Committee, it was advised that, in Lewisham, under this 
model the total number of officers in the borough should increase from 593 to 
647, an increase of 54 officers on 2011 levels. 

 
8.26. There were concerns raised by members locally regarding the actual increase on 

officers that could be expected in Lewisham as a result of the implementation of 
the plan. The baseline figures, of officers per borough in 2011, used in the draft 
plan to show the increase of officers in each borough by 2015, have been 
challenged by members of the London Assembly. In relation to Lewisham, the 
number of officers in 2011was quoted in the draft plan as being 593. In the data 
available on the London Data Store,31 and submitted in response to the 
consultation on the plan,32 the actual number of officers in Lewisham at that time 
was 634. This means that rather than an additional 54 officers in the borough by 
2015, there would only be an actual increase of 13 additional officers.  

 
8.27. Members have highlighted public concern that the knowledge and experience 

built up in the current SNTs will be lost within the changed model, and the 
dedicated front line ward based support will actually be reduced rather than 
improved, to one officer from at least four per ward, with the 110 police 
constables moving around the borough rather than being more closely aligned to 
ward areas. Members were also concerned that the effective relationships built up 
with local councillors and ward panels would be disrupted with the changed model 
and the loss of a number of dedicated local officers. 

                                            
30. 

Emergency services review: police service report safer Stronger Communities (29 July 2013) 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s23832/04%20Emergency%20services%20review-
%20police%20service%20290713.pdf 
31

 The London Data Store was created by the GLA to make all the data it holds available for analysis and use by the public 

http://data.london.gov.uk 
32

 Response to Police and Crime Plan Consultation  London Assembly Labour Group and Joanne McCartney 
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Joanne%20McCartney%20AM%2C%20London%20Assembly.pdf 

http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/London%20Assembly%20Labour%20Group.pdf 

Page 166



 

34 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.28. Since 2011 there had been a match funding arrangement in place, where the 

Council had provided funding for six police constables, from 2011-2013, with a 
matched number of additional posts provided by the MPS. These post holders 
were deployed to assist with integrated offender management as well as to tackle 
anti-social behaviour, guns & gangs and serious youth violence. Given the 
pressure on the Council finances, and the imminent changes to the local policing 
model, and lack of clarity at that time, about potential future matched funding 
arrangements, ceasing the funding of the six police constable posts was agreed 
as a saving in February 2013, that this funding would not be provided by the 
Council once the existing contract ended in 2013.  

 
8.29. The Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee heard from Assistant 

Borough Commander Michael Gallagher in July 2013 that Satisfaction levels in 
Lewisham had shown a marked improvement in the past five years. Satisfaction 
with local policing was now at 78%, up from 52% in 2007. However, confidence 
was currently at 55%, which was low in comparison to other areas and confidence 
figures had seen a downward trend in recent years. High levels of satisfaction in 
comparison to low levels of confidence would seem to indicate that in Lewisham 
people’s interactions with the police were generally positive, but the general 
feeling in the area about the police’s ability to deal with crime was low. This is 
recognised by the MPS locally as something that they need to tackle as a priority 
within the new policing model in Lewisham. 

 
8.30. The Safer Lewisham Partnership Plan recognises that people in the borough want 

to ‘feel safe in their communities’. One of the key aims of the Mayors 20:20:20 
plan is to increase satisfaction in policing (up to 75%) – in relation to the figures 
given by Assistant Borough Commander, Superintendent  Gallagher, this figure 
has already been achieved in Lewisham. Further information has been requested 
about the low confidence figures 

 
8.31. Lewisham has an active and vibrant Community Police Consultative Group 

(LCPCG) which has a rich history of supporting the wider community in Lewisham 
in engaging with the police. The LCPCG is an independent forum for Lewisham’s 
residents, businesses and representatives of community organisations to engage 
with the police and other agencies who are working to make Lewisham a safer 
place.  

 
8.32. Under the Mayor of London’s proposals, the LCPCG will be replaced by a Safer 

Neighbourhood Board which would have a slightly different role and focus than 
the engagement approach of the current forum. The Mayor’s Police and Crime 

Recommendation 3:  
Local councillors should be kept up to date with the names and contact details of the 
appropriate officers who have direct responsibility for managing officers working at 
ward level. These officers should engage with their relevant local assembly. 
 
Recommendation 4:  
Information about the local policing model should be provided to local assemblies by 
the appropriate senior officers 

Page 167



 

35 

Plan only set out high level proposals for the creation and delivery of safer 
neighbourhood boards, further information is still awaited but it has been 
proposed that the new Board would hold the Borough Commander to account for 
the performance of the local force and monitor:  

• Complaints 

• Stop and Search figures 

• Custody visiting 

• Crime figures. 
 
8.33. Arrangements for the new Safer Neighbourhood Board in Lewisham will need to 

be in place by April 2014. It is important to have an effective mechanism of 
engagement for the police and local community that builds on previous 
engagement. Further information from the Mayor of London’s office regarding the 
creation of the new Boards is awaited.  

 
8.34. The Assistant Borough Commander informed the Safer Stronger Select 

Committee that part of the savings contributions from Lewisham would come from 
the closure of stations. Brockley Police Station had already closed because it had 
a low footfall and was therefore unviable. Sydenham would also close, but a front 
desk would be opened at Catford Hill to cover the area previously covered by 
Sydenham. Concerns were raised by members, and members of the public that 
access for local people to their local police officers would be hindered by these 
changes, and concerns were raised about the new bases for the local ward  
based teams, as these stations currently provided bases for the local SNTs.  

 
8.35. In responding to the Police and Crime Plan consultation, the Safer Lewisham 

Partnership advised, in relation to the closure of police stations:  
 

“There is concern that officers may be located at such a distance from the areas  
they serve that the notion of greater police numbers on Neighbourhood Teams 
may not actually be visible to the local residents. There is clearly a concern that 
there is a feeling amongst local residents that the closure of public service 
buildings as a whole is symbolic and has feelings of loss and disinvestment”.33 

 
Emergency Healthcare 

 
8.36. Of all the proposals related to emergency services in the borough recently, the 

one that has received the most publicity and the strongest reaction from local 
people has been the proposal affecting Lewisham hospital. Thousands of local 
people have petitioned and marched against the proposals and organised a 
campaign to oppose the plans for change at the hospital site. 

 
8.37. The Trust Special Administrator (TSA) was appointed by the Secretary of State 

for Health, under the unsustainable provider regime, to tackle the problem of a 
failing trust that provided acute services in two neighbouring boroughs. The TSA 
published a draft report outlining the actions he proposed the Secretary of State 
should take to tackle the financial problems of the failing trust and continue to 
provide health services to the population that trust served. 

 

                                            
33

 Safer Lewisham Partnership Consultation Response to the MOPAC Police and Crime Plan consultation (2013) 

http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Safer%20Lewisham%20Partnership_0.pdf 

Page 168



 

36 

8.38. There was shock and dismay across Lewisham as the TSA proposed major 
service changes to the services provided in a separate Trust, Lewisham 
Healthcare NHS Trust, which provides acute and community health services 
across the borough of Lewisham from its base at Lewisham Hospital. The TSA 
proposed reducing the accident and emergency provision from a fully admitting 
A&E and also proposed the loss of emergency maternity care, with only a midwife 
led unit remaining in Lewisham. 

 
8.39. Public reaction to these proposals was widespread, across Lewisham and 

beyond, with the consultation meetings organised by the TSA to discuss his draft 
proposals being well attended and his proposals vociferously challenged by local 
people at those meetings, in responses to the consultation and in the local press. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Protestors marching through Lewisham 
 

8.40. The enormous level of public concern with the proposals related to changing the 
services and reducing accident and emergency provision at Lewisham hospital 
led to a high profile campaign to “Save Lewisham A&E” being launched. The 
campaign group was extremely well organised and lead by local Lewisham GPs 
with numerous events, including marches and vigils, organised and attended by 
1000’s of local people. 

 
8.41. Amongst the range of events organised, the campaign organised a “Lewisham 

People’s Commission of Inquiry” to review the proposals and their potential 
impact on the local community. The Panel was chaired by Michael Mansfield QC 
and heard evidence from Professor Colin Leys, Professor Allyson Pollock, a 
number of GPs, hospital clinicians and nurses, patients and patient 
representatives, the Mayor of Lewisham and church and community 
representatives. The inquiry34 highlighted the wide range of people and 
communities in Lewisham who had come together to oppose the proposals and 
who all articulated their opposition to this “cut” to services for people in Lewisham. 
 

8.42. The strength of feeling about maintaining the emergency services and a full 
maternity service at Lewisham Hospital remains. In the face of the Secretary of 
State decision to appeal the legal decision made Lewisham Council agreed, at its 
meeting on 19 September 2013,  that:  

 

                                            
34

 Lewisham People’s Commission of Inquiry Initial report http://www.savelewishamhospital.com/wp-

content/uploads/2013/04/Lewisham-Commission-initial-findings-8-July-2013.pdf 

Page 169



 

37 

“Lewisham Council has been totally vindicated in challenging the decision of the 
Secretary of State over reducing maternity and A&E provision at Lewisham 
Hospital. The Judge concurred with the Council’s sound legal arguments that 
Jeremy Hunt acted beyond the powers set out in the Unsustainable Provider 
Regime (UPR). The decision by Jeremy Hunt to downgrade the hospital facilities 
led to widespread condemnation and anger across all Lewisham communities 
and to a highly successful community campaign led by SaveLewishamHospital, 
which also challenged the decision at the High Court.  

 
Council is disappointed that the Secretary of State has decided to ignore the 
weight of legal arguments and to appeal against the ruling and as a result waste 
even more much needed public money and lead to further months of uncertainty 
within the borough and its communities. 

 
Lewisham Council will continue to argue the case that Lewisham Hospital is well-
run, respected and financially solvent. The Special Administrator should never 
have been allowed to make recommendations outside his remit and these should 
never have been adopted by the Secretary of State. Council will continue to make 
these sound legal arguments and fight for sustainable health services within the 
borough for its communities”:35 

 
8.43. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee fully supports the legal action taken by the 

Council in relation to Lewisham Hospital. 
 
 
 
 

                                            
35

 Motion at Lewisham Council meeting 19 September 2013 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s24525/Motion%201%20Proposed%20Councillor%20Foxcroft%20Seconded%20

Councillor%20Hall.pdf 

Page 170



 

38 

9. Response 
 
9.1. In an emergency, 999 services are committed to reaching people as quickly as 

possible. For the most serious incidents London’s emergency services set these 
targets for first response: 

• The fire services in six minutes 

• The ambulance service in eight minutes 

• The Police in 15 minutes. 
 
9.2. The emergency services are called to a range of different incidents for a variety of 

different reasons and there are many different factors impact on the speed with 
which they can respond. The challenges and risks involved in each incident are 
likely to be different to some extent and in a number of cases the alarm is raised 
when the attendance of emergency services is not essential, however, when life 
saving services are required a difference of a few seconds can be vitally 
important.  

 
9.3. The London Fire Brigade (LFB), the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) and the 

London Ambulance Service (LAS) each intend to change the way in which they 
deliver their services to Londoners. The financial challenge set by government 
and the Mayor of London’s office has created an urgent imperative for all three 
services to change the way they ensure that London is kept safe. 

 
9.4. For the Fifth London Safety Plan (LSP5) the LFB consulted on proposals to close 

two stations in Lewisham, which would have resulted in the loss of the engines 
and crews stationed in these areas (New Cross and Downham). The LFB 
maintained that the proposals would have ensured that borough average times in 
Lewisham would still be within London wide targets. Nonetheless, information 
provided for the review illustrated that the proposed changes would have a much 
more significant impact on the borough’s communities at the ward level. 
Discussions during the review also raised concerns about the LFB’s ability to 
reach the worst affected parts of the borough during a major emergency as well 
as the additional time it takes to receive and despatch emergency calls and the 
ability of a third fire engine, when required, to reach the scene of a serious 
incident. 

 
9.5. The MPS is also changing the way it delivers its services. The Local Policing 

Model (LPM) and an ambitious programme of asset rationalisation are intended to 
move officers from stations and enable them to spend more time in 
neighbourhood teams, dealing with local issues. The LPM is also designed to free 
up emergency teams from dealing with non critical work in order to ensure that 
they retain the ability to respond rapidly when required. To facilitate this change 
some investigative and custody responsibilities will be moved to local policing 
teams. 

 
9.6. Last year (2012/13) the LAS received 1.7 million calls and it attended more than a 

million incidents36. In the most serious cases the LAS aims to reach patients 
within eight minutes. Unlike the fire service, the initial response is often only part 
of the emergency assistance required. Most often, the ambulance service must 

                                            
36

 London Ambulance Service Annual Report (2012/13): http://www.londonambulance.nhs.uk/about_us/publications.aspx 

Page 171



 

39 

then ensure that it is able to speedily and safely admit patients to a hospital 
accident and emergency department (A&E).  

 
9.7. Plans to downgrade Lewisham Hospital Accident and Emergency (A&E) have 

been reported in previous sections of the report. The potential loss of this 
emergency facility at the heart of the borough required the LAS to reconsider how 
it would deliver the best clinical outcomes for Lewisham citizens. Reports of 
overcrowding at A&E departments in neighbouring boroughs led to serious 
concerns about the future health and wellbeing of Lewisham citizens. 

 
9.8. The Council has been outspoken in its support for Lewisham Hospital’s A&E 

department. Plans to substantially change the delivery of services from Lewisham 
hospital were judged to have been based on incomplete consideration of local 
issues and deemed unlawful by the courts. In the context of the proposed 
changes, Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust has been working to ensure that 
its services continue to function effectively and robustly. 

 
9.9. Changes to services at Lewisham Hospital are only part of the challenge for the 

LAS. All emergency services spend a proportion of their time dealing with non-
critical incidents and false alarms. Differentiating between the most critical 
incidents and responding to issues that might be better deal with by other 
services is one of the LAS’s key areas of work and a key challenge for its future 
success. Integrating services with other healthcare providers supporting people to 
make appropriate choices about their health care needs are ambitions that the 
LAS has committed to achieving. 

 
Fire 
 

 
 

9.10. In the Fourth London Safety Plan in 2010, the London Fire Brigade stated: 
 

‘While we have been successful over the past decade in reducing the 
number of emergency incidents we have to attend... this does not directly 
lead to a reduction in the number of staff or vehicles we need. The numbers 
of incidents are reducing, but the complexity of incidents has increased and 
the risks we face are more involved.’ 
(Fourth London Safety Plan37 2010-13, p12) 

 

                                            
37

 Fourth London Safety Plan (2010-2013) http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/LSP4.pdf 

Page 172



 

40 

9.11. In contrast, LSP5 sets out proposals to reduce the number of fire stations in the 
city from 112 to 102; as well as to reduce the number of fire engines by 14 to155 
and cut the number of fire fighters in the city by 552 (around 10% of the 
workforce). 

 
9.12. London is a city of churn and change. As its population, its infrastructure, its 

people and its technology have changed so has the risk posed by fire. The LFB’s 
data demonstrates that the risk from being injured or killed in a fire is at an all time 
low and the number of recorded incidents in London has fallen to its lowest level 
since records began in 1965. The simultaneous rise in London’s population over 
this period leads the LFB to suggest that there is not necessarily a link between 
population growth and the number of recorded fires. Moreover, in its safety plans, 
the LFB sets out proposals to refocus its efforts on preventative work to ensure 
that the number of incidents, injuries and deaths continues to fall. 

 

 
Source: Draft LSP5 (p15) 

 
9.13. The draft fifth London safety plan set out proposals to close two of Lewisham’s 

five fire stations. However, following consultation on the plan the Commissioner 
revised the proposals in order to reduce the number of fire rescue units and fire 
fighters in the city, whilst retaining two of the fire stations that had been proposed 
for closure. The revised plans retained New Cross Fire Station but upheld the 
decision to close Downham Fire Station. The proposals were initially rejected by 
the London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority (LFEPA). In response, the 
Mayor of London issued the authority a direction to implement the plans by mid-
September which meant that LFEPA was subsequently required to agree to 
implement the changes.  

 
9.14. At the time of drafting this report, Lewisham Council, in partnership with a number 

of other London Boroughs had agreed to instigate legal proceedings against the 
Mayor of London and the Commissioner of the London Fire Brigade in relation to 
the decision to close Downham Fire Station. 

 
9.15. The LFB carried out modelling to assess the impact of the proposed closure of its 

12 (later amended to 10) fire stations across the city. The changes also included 
the removal of 16 fire engines from stations with more than one engine, and the 

Page 173



 

41 

deployment of those engines to other stations. One of the driving policy principles 
behind the changes has been the retention of London-wide average attendance 
times. In 2004, following the abolition of national standards for response times, 
the LFB set the target of having a first fire crew at the scene of an incident in six 
minutes. The target for a second engine (if required) is eight minutes. The chart 
below sets out the London wide average for the last decade: 

 
London average attendance times (first appliance) 

 

 
Performance against London standard for first appliance to all incidents across 
London 2000/1 – 2011/12 (minutes) Source: LSP5 supporting document 8 (p5) 

 
9.16. Original data in the draft fifth London safety plan indicates that as a result of the 

proposed changes to the LFB, attendance by a first fire engine would increase by 
13 seconds to an average of 5m:33s and a second engine would increase by 10 
seconds to an average of 6m:32s. 

 
9.17. This information needs to be considered in relation to the types of incidents the 

LFB is responding to. The chart below demonstrates that the majority of incidents 
attended by the force are not emergencies. 

Page 174



 

42 

 
Source: Draft LSP5 (p13) 

 
9.18. In Lewisham, current average response times are 4m:47s minutes for first fire 

engine and 6m:03s minutes for a second fire engine. However, modelling carried 
out for the draft plan indicated that, under the original proposals attendance times 
in Lewisham would increase to 5m:18s and 6m:15s s. The chart38 below 
illustrates how effective the LFB has been in achieving its targets in Lewisham: 

 

 
Source: LFB statistics pack for Lewisham (2013) 

 
 
 
 

 
 

                                            
38

 LFB in Lewisham (2013): http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/statistics-pack-lewisham.pdf 

Page 175



 

43 

 
9.19. Incidents in Lewisham 
 

 
Source: LFB in your borough (2013)39  

 
Impact at the local level 
 
9.20. ‘...the number and disposition of crews affects attendance times. Some places 

produce little demand for attendance. But when that attendance is required, it can 
only be serviced in a way that maximises (but does not guarantee) rescue and the 
minimisation of damage and casualties, by having crews that can attend quickly.’ 
(Fourth London Safety Plan, p42) 

 
9.21. The LFB has modelled the impact of the changes proposed in the draft fifth 

London safety plan. The results of this work were initially set out as borough 
averages. In Lewisham the modelling showed that, on average, a first fire engine 
would reach the scene of an incident 22 seconds slower than the current average 
and a second engine would reach the scene of an incident 5 seconds slower. 

 

                                            
39

 LFB in your borough 2013: http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/LFB_in_your_borough_2012-13_-_Lewisham.pdf 

Page 176



 

44 

9.22. In order to understand the potential local impact of the proposed changes at ward 
level, rather than just the average response time for the entire borough, the Safer 
Stronger Communities Select Committee asked the Borough Commander to 
provide ward level modelling data. Members received this information at their 
meeting on 8 May 2013 and it was made available on the LFB consultation 
website: 

 
Ward level data 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source: Draft LSP5 supplementary document 22 
 
9.23. These figures indicated that in the worst affected ward (Whitefoot) average 

attendance times would increase by almost three minutes for the first engine, 
taking the ward outside of the London-wide 6 minute target set by the Brigade, 
along with Telegraph Hill, Sydenham, Downham, Catford South, Grove Park and 
Bellingham.  

 
9.24. On 18 July 2013, the London Fire Commissioner provided a response to the draft 

fifth London safety plan consultation. The Commissioner revised the proposals in 
order to further cut the number of fire fighters in the city but also to reduce the 
number of fire engines being lost and decrease station closures from twelve to 
ten.  

 
9.25. The revised proposals will retain New Cross Fire Station. Subsequent to this 

change the average ward response times would be impacted in this way: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 177



 

45 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Ward response times (retaining New Cross Fire Station) 

 
Source: LFB revised ward level data (2013)40 

 
9.26. As might be anticipated, this improves the average attendance in wards 

surrounding New Cross Fire Station. However, there is no improvement for 
Whitefoot or Downham. Bellingham, Catford South, Grove Park and Sydenham 
all still remain outside of the six minute target time. 

 
9.27. The LFB maintains that response times are not the only factor which determines 

risk of injury or death in a fire. The location and intensity of the fire are also 
important, as is the mobility of people in the vicinity of the fire. Furthermore, the 
Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee heard that the move to dynamic 
mobilisation41 in 2014 would make the location of fire stations less relevant. 
Nonetheless, it is recognised that response to primary (serious) fires needs to be 
as rapid as possible. The following table provides an overview of the London wide 
impacts of the revised proposals: 

 

                                            
40

 Revised ward level data (accessed online August 2013): http://www.london-
fire.gov.uk/Documents/Ward_performance_data_revised_plan.pdf 
41

 ‘Dynamic mobilisation’ is a system which tracks the actual location of fire engines and deploys them to the nearest incidents based 

on their location, rather than the location of their home station.  

Page 178



 

46 

 
Source: LSP5 ward performance data revised plan 

 
9.28. The LFB sends a second fire engine to all primary fires (the most serious 

incidents, and those involving people). The following table sets out the average 
number of fire engines required at incidents in 2011/12: 

 

 
Source: Draft LSP5 supporting document 8 (p12) 

Page 179



 

47 

 
9.29. Information provided for the review suggests that a single fire crew cannot enter a 

burning building to rescue people trapped inside. Ward times have also been 
provided for the attendance of a second fire crew at the scene of a fire. The 
original consultation material included this model for the attendance of a second 
fire crew at the scene of an incident: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source: Draft LSP5 supporting document 22 
 

9.30. The chart below sets out the impact of retaining New Cross Fire Station: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source: LFB revised ward level data 
 
9.31. It is clear that even with the revised proposals, the borough average attendance 

figures for both first and second appliance, mask the fact that average attendance 

Page 180



 

48 

times in a number of wards in the borough would be well above the LFB target 
average attendance times.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Critical seconds 
 
9.32. Even though the dangers created by the outbreak of fire are contingent on a 

number of factors, in the most serious cases, fire can spread rapidly, with 
devastating effect.  

 
9.33. The LFB maintains that threat to life and risk to property are dependent on the 

speed with which fires are detected and reported to the emergency services as 
well as the materials involved in the fire, the location of the fire within a building 
and the construction of the building. The mobility of the people in proximity to the 
fire and the measures put in place to ensure that there are practical means of 
escape are also significant factors. 

 
9.34. The LFB acknowledges that very few fires are reported immediately and that any 

delay might allow a fire to spread or to increase in intensity. It is recognised that 
the speed with which the LFB is alerted to an incident plays a significant part in 
the chances of people being injured or killed as a result of the fire: 

 
“The fatality rate in fires where we all called in the first five minutes is low (at around 15 

fatalities per 1,000 fire casualties). When we are called between five and 10 
minutes this rises slightly to 19 fatalities per 1,000 fire casualties. But in fires 
where we are called to the fire after the first 10 minutes, the rate more than 
doubles to around 47 fatalities per 1,000 fire casualties”.42 

 
9.35. The LFB reiterates that that most fires are small and only cause minimal damage. 

However, it is also acknowledged that when an emergency response is required 
for the most serious fires, it is needed as quickly as possible: 

 
‘Many fires are small with around 60 per cent causing only slight damage. Those 
that do develop into more severe fires do so very quickly and the fire can become 
very hostile less than five minutes from the start.’ (Draft LSP5, supporting 
document 8, p11) 

 
9.36. However, fires can spread quickly and it can rapidly increase in intensity. The 

term flashover is used to describe circumstances in which the intense heat 
created by a fire causes it to spread through the air. In its consultation 
documents, the LFB reports the results of tests replicating instances of fire in 
domestic environments: 

                                            
42

 Draft LSP5 Supporting document 8 http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/Sup08-Getting-to-emergency-incidents-as-quickly-

as-possible.pdf 

Recommendation 5: 
The decision to close Downham Fire Station leaves some residents, schools and 
businesses in Lewisham subject to unacceptable average attendance times, and at 
greater risk. The LFB ward level response times should be provided annually for 
consideration by Overview and Scrutiny in Lewisham and the relevant Cabinet 
Member. 

Page 181



 

49 

‘During the tests, ‘flashover’ occurred around five minutes after the fire was first 
ignited - anyone still in the room at the time of flashover would be critically 
injured.’  
(Draft LSP5, supporting document 8, p11) 

 
9.37. The LFB is confident that its plan adequately assesses the level of risk to 

Londoners and it believes that there will be no increase in fire deaths as a result 
of its savings proposals. Even so, the proposals represent a change in direction 
by the LFB. In its previous risks assessments and plans it committed to 
preserving London’s fire fighting capacity to assure it had the capability to deal 
with major incidents, emergencies and complex operations. Yet in spite of this 
change, the LFB states that average attendance times will only increase 
marginally and that response times will remain within safe levels. 

 
9.38. The response times set out in the charts above only measure one part of a chain 

of events, which starts with the a fire breaking out and ends with people being 
taken out of harms way or the fire being extinguished. The LFB distinguishes 
between the time it takes for a call operator to deal with an emergency call 
(control activity) and the time it takes for a fire crew to mobilise and reach a fire 
(crew activity). The response times stated in the report thus far are only for crew 
activity. This is the time from which a call is received at a fire station to the time 
that an engine arrives as the scene of a fire. 

 
9.39. The LFB has an average target time of 1m 30s for a call centre operator to pickup 

a call and dispatch a fire crew. The chart below sets out performance against this 
target: 

 
Time taken to handle an emergency call (minutes) 

 
Source: Draft LSP5, supporting document 8 (p3) 

 
9.40. This activity adds, on average, almost two minutes to the average attendance 

time modelling. 
 
9.41. Another essential factor in the speed of response crews is the time it takes to 

detect a fire and raise the alarm. The time it takes to detect a fire is dependent on 
a number of different factors. The LFB highlights the importance of installing and 
maintaining smoke detectors and calling 999 as soon as possible after a fire 
starts. As part of its future plans it intends to focus prevention work on people it 
has identified as being at the most risk from fire. 

 

Page 182



 

50 

9.42. The data also indicates that when the LFB responds to incidents in less than ten 
minutes the risk of being injured in the fire is broadly even and that almost all 
critical incidents are responded to in less than 10 minutes. As part of its 
consultation, the LFB published figures setting out the distribution of responses to 
incidents by borough. This data indicates that despite the fall in attendance times, 
in almost all cases, fire engines should arrive at the scene of an incident within 10 
minutes. 

 
Emergency response 
 

‘...there are regular enough large incidents in London to justify the level of 
emergency response capacity which we hold ready each day.’ (Fourth London 
Safety Plan, p42) 

 
9.43. Current plans will reduce the number of available fire fighters, fire engines, fire 

stations and specialist teams across London. The LFB maintains that it would be 
able to respond to a major emergency or widespread civil disturbance without 
leaving areas of the borough exposed or without sufficient cover to deal with 
residential fires. However, the discrepancy in the positions outlined in the fourth 
London safety plan and the LSP5 places adds extra emphasis to the response 
times. 

 
9.44. The anticipated fall in response times is based on data from existing incidents and 

modelling. If fire crews are located a long way from areas of the borough in which 
they are required because, for example there is a major incident in the centre of 
London, then the impact on response times in the borough might be exacerbated. 
Furthermore, there is the possibility that the drop in response times could lead to 
buildings being more severely damaged before fire crews are able to arrive at the 
scene, forcing them to spend additional time at incidents they attend. 

 
9.45. The LFB is committed to ensuring that first and second engines arrive at the 

scene of an incident within the stated average times. In relation to third engines at 
the scene of an incident and specialist equipment, the LFB is committed to getting 
to incidents as quickly as possible. The LFB maintains that very few incidents 
require a third engine, and of those that do, many are false alarms. However, at 
the end of the LSP5 consultation period the LFB provided response times for third 
engines. Times for Lewisham are as follows: 

 
Source: reproduced from draft LSP5 supporting documents- third appliance response 

times43 

                                            
43

 Third appliance response times: http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/Third_appliance_response_times.pdf 

 All primary fires in 
buildings 

To high rise 
buildings (of 
6-storeys or 
more) 

Fires at high rise 
height (at 6 
storeys or 
above) 

Lewisham Number 3+ pumps Number 3+ 
pu
m
ps 

Number 3+ 
pu
m
ps 

 357 98 24 17 6 5 

Page 183



 

51 

9.46. Average response times for wards are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 

Source: Third appliance response times, p10 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.47. The LFB highlight some of the anomalous times identified in the response of third 

appliances. It highlights the time for Lee Green (18:51), it maintains that the time 
(for a single call out to the ward) is unusually high because the engine called to 
the scene was called out but found to be no longer required. This was the single 
call out for a third appliance in the ward. Nonetheless, response times over 20 
minutes are excluded from all of the LFB’s response time reporting. This is 
because the LFB believes that it would be highly unlikely for any appliance to take 
longer than 20 minutes to arrive at the scene of an incident. 

 
Police 
 
9.48. In spring 2013 the Mayor of London consulted on his Police and Crime Plan 

(2013-16). The plan sets out the Mayor’s 20:20:20 vision for policing in London. 
Data presented in the plan indicates that, almost half of the crime recorded in 
London falls under these categories: 

• Burglary 

• Violence with injury 

• Robbery 

                                                                                                                                              
 
 
 

Recommendation 6: 
The decision to close Downham Fire Station leaves some residents, schools and 
businesses in Lewisham subject to unacceptable average attendance times, and at 
greater risk. An annual update should be provided by the borough commander on 
LFB targets and performance in the borough. 

Page 184



 

52 

• Theft from the person 

• Criminal damage 

• Motor vehicle crime (theft from or theft of) 

• (Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan: p15). 
 
9.49. Therefore the Mayor has set out his ambition to: 

• Reduce these key neighbourhood crimes by 20% 

• Boost public confidence in the police by 20%, up to 75%.  

• Cut costs by 20% by delivering £500m savings. 
 
9.50. In order to meet these challenges the MPS has embarked on a substantial 

reorganisation of the delivery of its services. The stated aim of the reorganisation 
is to increase the focus on local policing and move police from stations onto the 
streets. As part of the changes the MPS has committed to: 

• Maintaining boroughs and wards as the foundation for delivery 

• Reducing management costs and investing in frontline teams 

• Moving police officers into Safer Neighbourhood Teams (SNTs) to increase 
visibility and impact on the street 

• Encouraging the conversion of Police Community Support Officer (PCSO) 
posts into Police Constables (PCs) 

• Simplifying the policing structure, reducing separate teams and squads to 
increase operational flexibility 

• Establishing more effective ways to control and assign tasks to local police in 
order to increase speed of operations and their effectiveness. 

 
9.51. In order to achieve these aims, the Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan sets out 

proposals to change the number of officers stationed in each borough by 2015. In 
Lewisham, there are proposals to increase the total number of officers from 593 
to 647, which is an increase of 54 officers on 2011 levels. It is anticipated that the 
largest proportion of these officers will be allocated to safer neighbourhood 
teams. 

 
The Local Policing Model 
 

‘Reforms to the local policing model mean the police in London will be more 
visible and available with more police officers out on the street where the public 
want to see them.’ Stephen Greenhalgh, Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime 
(Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan 2013-1644) 

 
9.52. The Local Policing Model (LPM) is designed to enhance the focus on policing in 

neighbourhoods. The most recent update from the MPS stated that the individual 
elements of the model are: 

• The borough senior leadership team - responsible for delivering Total Policing 
objectives in the borough and maximising the professionalism and productivity 
of officers and staff 

• Grip and pace centre - tasked with driving daily activity and directing the 
borough response to emerging issues - it will increase supervision, oversight 
and senior leadership team decision making 

                                            
44

 Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan (2013-16) http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/PoliceCrimePlan%202013-16.pdf 

Page 185



 

53 

• Neighbourhood policing teams - providing the visible face of local policing in 
London, building on the SNT model, they will be responsible for investigating 
some local crimes, and will be focussed on enforcement and reassurance 
activities  

• Borough support units - tasked proactively through the Grip and Pace Centre 
and borough tasking process to deal proactively with emerging crime issues - 
they will also be used to honour our commitments to pan London events 

• Emergency response - providing a prompt and effective response to 
emergency calls from the public and provide a high quality initial investigation 

• Investigation - to be delivered through a reduced number of specialist squads 
and to ensure both reactive and proactive investigations are effective through 
out and provide high quality victim care  

• Custody locally managed service delivering custody as an MPS facility, 
improving standards of detainee care, providing economies and efficiencies of 
scale. 

 
9.53. Each ward in the borough will have one dedicated police constable and one 

dedicated police community support officer. These named officers will remain 
dedicated to local policing and they will not be moved to other areas. 

 
9.54. The following chart sets out the structure of the LPM in Lewisham: 
 

 
Source: MPS Lewisham 

 
9.55. Police officers from Lewisham’s 18 wards will be organised into three policing 

clusters, with six wards in each cluster. There will be 41 officers in the north and 
south clusters. The central cluster will have 46 officers because it covers the 
borough’s town centres. 

 
9.56. Sergeants will move officers within the cluster in order to make policing resources 

more flexible, effective and efficient. Each area inspector will balance cluster 
priorities with borough and ward priorities. In addition to the improved flexibility of 
the model, the LPM will enable the Borough Commander to hold cluster 
inspectors to account for issues in their areas. 

 

Page 186



 

54 

9.57. A major recruitment drive is taking place in the borough to bring the local force up 
to full strength before it implements the LPM. The Lewisham MPS has stated that 
it is committed to drawing as many of these recruits as possible from London to 
ensure that they have local knowledge. Members of the Safer Stronger 
Communities Select Committee questioned the Deputy Borough Commander 
about the difficulties and potential pitfalls of moving officers into area based teams 
at the same time as attempting to maintain local connections.  

 
9.58. The Committee was also concerned about the savings being achieved through 

the reduction of experienced officers in specialist teams, which appeared to result 
in responsibilities being reallocated to local policing teams. The most pressing 
concern was that local teams were being brought up to strength with new officers, 
many of whom would be serving out their probation at the critical phase of 
transition to the new model. The LPM is being implemented in Lewisham from 
mid September. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Responding to local issues 
 
 
 
9.59. Ward based safer neighbourhood teams will make three promises to their wards. 

These will be SMART (specific, measurable, attainable, relevant, time-bound) 
objectives which are simple, easy to monitor and straightforward to implement. It 
is intended that this focus on neighbourhood priorities will be balanced with wider 
priorities in the three policing clusters. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.60. Brockley and Sydenham Police Stations are being closed as part of the MPS’s 

asset rationalisation programme. People will be able to contact the police over the 
phone, on the internet and at Lewisham’s remaining police stations. The MPS has 
committed to retaining one 24-hour police front counter in each borough, which 
will be open seven days a week. In Lewisham this will be Lewisham police 
station. Officers will also be available Wednesday and Thursday evenings 
between 7pm and 8pm, and Saturday between 2pm and 3pm at the following 
‘contact points’: 

• Contact point 1: Blackheath Ward, Blackheath BR Station SE3 

• Contact point 2: New Cross Ward, Deptford Lounge, Deptford SE8 

• Contact point 3: Bellingham Ward, Catford Hill Police Station, Catford SE6 

• Contact point 4: Sydenham Ward, Sainsbury’s Savacentre, Sydenham SE26 

• Contact point 5: Catford South Ward, Torridon Road Post Office, Catford SE6. 
 

Recommendation 9: 
The work of Safer Neighbourhood Teams should be reported to the Safer Stronger 
Communities Select Committee annually, as part of the Safer Lewisham Partnership 
update. 

Recommendation 7: 
The Safer Lewisham Partnership and the Safer Stronger Communities Select 
Committee should annually review if the MPS is on target to achieve the objective of 
providing 647 police officers in Lewisham by 2015 
 
Recommendation 8: 
Lewisham should seek to learn any lessons from the early rollout of the Local Policing 
Model in Lambeth 
 

Page 187



 

55 

9.61. Figures from the MPS45 indicate that public satisfaction levels with policing in 
London have remained consistent over the last five years. Satisfaction with local 
policing is now at 78%. However, public confidence in policing in Lewisham 
remains at around 55%, which is low in comparison to other areas. The high level 
of overall satisfaction in comparison to low levels of confidence indicates that 
interactions with the police across London are generally positive, but the general 
feeling in Lewisham about the police’s ability to deal with crime is significantly 
lower. The figures below (accessed in July 2013) show recent police confidence 
levels in the borough.  

Source: Met Police Uk (url)46 
 
9.62. The focus on neighbourhood policing and priority crimes is expected to increase 

confidence and satisfaction levels. 
 
9.63. Detailed plans for Safer Neighbourhood Boards, which will replace Community 

Police Consultative Groups, have not yet been published. The Head of Crime 
Reduction and Supporting People advised the Safer Stronger Communities 
Select Committee that it would likely be in the best interests of Lewisham if 
decisions about the functions and the membership of the board were agreed 
locally, in order to build on the successful elements of the Lewisham Community 
Police Consultative Group. 

 
9.64. The Council continues to work with its partners in the Safer Lewisham Partnership 

to work towards: 

                                            
45

 MPS confidence and satisfaction data - Surveys in the MPS: Londoners’ Views Count (2013) 
http://www.met.police.uk/about/documents/lvc_quarter_1_13_14.pdf 
  
46

 Lewisham Police Confidence results. Accessed online at: http://www.met.police.uk/confidence/lewisham.html on 18/07/13 

Page 188



 

56 

• Reducing key crimes with particular reference to serious youth violence and 
violence against women and girls 

• Ensuring all public services work collaboratively and with communities to 
prevent crime support victims and reduce re-offending and improving 
confidence across all criminal justice agencies. 

• Ensuring that anti-social behaviour, which is the issue of greatest concern to 
residents, is dealt with swiftly and proportionately, with the victim at the heart 
of finding a resolution. 

 
9.65. The Partnership’s strategic action plan sets out how partners work together to 

tackle crime and disorder priorities, build on best practice around effective crime 
reduction and set clear objectives and outcomes to be achieved. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Emergency response 
 
9.66. The MPS has a target response time of 15 minutes for urgent calls and 90 

minutes for less urgent calls and, as noted above, the MPS has committed to 
providing visits to all victims of crime who request one. 

 
9.67. By 2015 the LPM will reduce the number of officers dedicated to emergency 

response in Lewisham from 50 to 40. Emergency calls will still remain with 
emergency response teams but other, non urgent work such as the detention of 
suspects and attendance at minor incidents will be distributed to other teams.  

 
9.68. The MPS does not publish response times for its emergency teams on its 

website. Nor are the response times available on the MOPAC website. Additional 
resources are being focused on connecting with Londoners through differing 
channels. The roll-out of the non-emergency police 101 number is designed to 
enable residents to easily access information and to report non-serious incidents. 
This is also designed to limit the number of non-urgent calls to 999. 

 
9.69. In the case of major incidents at the London level, dedicated ward based officers 

are expected to remain based in their ward, with support from a dedicated PCSO. 

Recommendation 10: 
Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee believe that the impact of the 
changed model of policing at a neighbourhood level will represent a real reduction in 
service. For this reason, the implementation of the new policing model should be 
reviewed annually by Overview and Scrutiny and the relevant Cabinet Member.  

Recommendation 11: 
The Metropolitan Police Service should regularly publish information on its website 
outlining performance in relation to achieving the target response times of 15 minutes 
for urgent calls and 90 minutes for non urgent calls. 
 
Recommendation 12: 
Safer Stronger Community Select Committee should continue to annually review 
performance information from the Metropolitan Police Service in Lewisham. The 
information provided to the Committee should include response time performance. 
 

Page 189



 

57 

Emergency healthcare 
 

 
Source: LAS Annual Report (2012/13) 

 
9.70. Across London the demand for emergency healthcare is increasing. In 2012/13 

the number of 999 calls received by the LAS reached 1.7 million (as illustrated by 
the chart above). The number of incidents attended has also increased over the 
past five years, as have the number of life-threatening incidents attended. 

 
9.71. In order deliver the best clinical outcomes for 

patients and to manage the level of demand 
placed on the service, the LAS categorises 
emergency incidents according to their 
seriousness47. ‘Category A’ calls are 
designated as the most serious life-
threatening cases. These are instances 
where patients are critically injured or are in 
need of emergency intervention in instances 
such as heart attack or breathing obstruction. 
The service aims to reach these patients 
within eight minutes. 

 
9.72. Category C cases are further divided 

according to their seriousness. They range 
from urgent cases, which require a response 
within 20 minutes, to non-urgent incidents, 
which require a response within an hour. 

 
9.73. The LAS consistently achieves the national 

target of reaching 75% of category A cases 
in eight minutes and 95% of cases within 19 

                                            
47

 Call categories and examples – LAS, our plans to improve the care we provide for patients (2013): http://tinyurl.com/ohxb85n 

Page 190



 

58 

minutes. The chart below sets out how Lewisham has performed against the 
category A target in 2013: 

 
Category A response times: target 75% within eight minutes 

 Jan-13 Feb-13 Mar-13 Apr-13 May-13 Jun-13 Jul-13 

Bromley 80% 82% 80% 75% 80% 78% 79% 

Greenwich 87% 87% 85% 80% 84% 84% 80% 

Lambeth 84% 84% 83% 83% 84% 81% 79% 

Lewisham 84% 86% 83% 75% 80% 77% 77% 

Southwark 84% 85% 83% 80% 83% 80% 77% 

Source: LAS online48  
 
9.74. Achieving and maintaining rapid response times is a key indicator of the 

effectiveness of ambulance services. However, as with other healthcare 
providers, the service has to ensure it achieves response times at the same time 
as improving clinical outcomes for patients. There are 11 clinical quality 
indicators, as follows49: 

• Outcome from acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI50) 

• Outcome from cardiac arrest - return of spontaneous circulation - measuring 
patients in cardiac arrest who, following resuscitation, have a pulse/ heartbeat 
on arrival at hospital 

• Outcome from cardiac arrest - survival to discharge - the rate of those who 
recover from cardiac arrest and are subsequently discharged from hospital 

• Outcome following stroke for ambulance patients 

• Proportion of calls closed with telephone advice or managed without transport 
to A&E (where clinically appropriate) 

• Re-contact rate following discharge of care (i.e. closure with telephone 
advice or following treatment at the scene) 

• Call abandonment rate 

• Time to answer calls 

• Service experience - the LAS is required to demonstrate how it finds out what 
people think of its service – and how the service acts on that information. 

• Category A 8 minute response time 

• Time to treatment by an ambulance-dispatched health professional. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                            
48

 LAS, Latest response times (accessed online September 2013): 

http://www.londonambulance.nhs.uk/about_us/how_we_are_doing/meeting_our_targets/latest_response_times.aspx 
49

 LAS, Clinical quality indicators (accessed online September 2013): 
http://www.londonambulance.nhs.uk/about_us/how_we_are_doing/clinical_quality_indicators.aspx 
50

 STEMI is an acronym meaning 'ST segment elevation myocardial infarction', which is a type of heart attack. 

Page 191



 

59 

 
 

9.75. To continue to achieve these targets in the context of increasing demand and 
government pressure on NHS finances, the LAS is embarking on a number of 
changes to the delivery of its services. In its most recent consultation, ‘Our plans 
to improve the care we provide for patients: a time for a change’51, the LAS 
highlighted the motivation for it to alter the delivery of its services. Amongst the 
reasons for change it stated: 

• Demand from stakeholders 

• Changes in the culture of the NHS 

• Increased levels of demand 

• Staff workloads 

• The implications of GP commissioning 

• The potential for the increased integration of services. 
(Our plans to improve the care we provide for patients, p4-5) 
 
9.76. The consultation, which ran from 25 April to 24 May 2013, sets out its vision for 

ambulance services in 2015. The LAS has committed to reaching all patients 
requiring a face to face assessment within one hour, as well as noting the 
requirement to improve working practices and build effective working relationships 
with other healthcare services. 

 
9.77. The LAS has identified that many of the calls it receives do not require an 

emergency response and might be better dealt with by other healthcare providers. 
One of its clinical quality indicators measuring the ’proportion of calls closed with 
telephone advice or managed without transport to A&E’ is designed to provide a 
measure of the interaction of the entire urgent care system. The LAS believes that 
this measure should reflect the availability of alternative urgent care destinations 
(for example, walk-in centres) and provision of treatment to patients in their 
homes. 

 
9.78. Yearly increases in calls to the LAS and the rise in the number of life-threatening 

incidents mean that the service needs to ensure that it targets its resources to 
ensure that it has capacity to deal with the most serious cases. It intends to 
enhance its work with out of hours GP services, urgent care centres, NHS111 and 
London’s other healthcare providers to ensure that patients are directed to the 
services that will best meet their needs. In order to meet its future obligations the 
LAS intends to: 

• adapt its frontline workforce 

• introduce a clinical career structure 

• provide more telephone clinical assessments for less serious calls 

• align rosters with demand 

• provide rest breaks 

• change annual leave arrangements 

• increase vehicle availability 

• extend the use of active area cover 

• respond differently to patients. 
(Our plans to improve the care we provide for patients, p1752) 

                                            
51

 LAS, our plans to improve the care we provide for patients (2013): http://tinyurl.com/ohxb85n 
52

 LAS, our plans to improve the care we provide for patients (2013) 

Page 192



 

60 

 
Emergency response 
 
9.79. At its busiest times, the LAS has 300 crews from 70 stations in operation 

throughout London. It receives more than 4000 calls a day, about 40 of which are 
to the most serious life threatening emergencies. Lewisham has three ambulance 
stations, which form part of the LAS’s Southern division.  

 
9.80. An ‘active area cover policy’, which positions ambulances, bikes and staff are in 

locations of high demand, is used by the LAS to increase the speed of response 
times and improve clinical outcomes. In future it is proposed that the use of active 
area cover is increased, in order to continue to improve responsiveness. 

 
9.81. Ambulances are fitted with a computerised data terminal system which notifies 

ambulance crews of the route to the nearest hospital, as well as urgent care, walk 
in, major trauma, cardiac or stroke centres, or areas of excellence, dependent on 
the needs of each patient. Crews use their judgement to decide which hospital is 
the most appropriate. This might mean they need to change their planned 
destination in cases where a patient’s condition deteriorates while in the 
ambulance. 

 
9.82. The target for patient handover from ambulance to hospital is 15 minutes. In 

Lewisham the current average time for handover is 13.2 minutes. On occasion, 
during periods of high demand, this can take significantly longer, which increases 
the time before the ambulance and crew are available to respond to another call. 

 
9.83. The LAS ensures that it has robust divert policies in place to deal with instances 

when A&Es are unable to accept patients. It is rare for ambulances to be turned 
away from A&E. The two main reasons for this to happen are: 

• clinical safety issues 

• an unexpected incident occurring at the hospital. 
 
9.84. There were 1 or 2 diverts from Lewisham Hospital A&E to other A&Es last winter 

because of issues with capacity. There were significantly more diverts from 
Queen Elizabeth Hospital in Woolwich and Princess Royal University Hospital in 
Farnborough. Lewisham A&E received some of these diverted ambulances. In 
previous years the A&E had received approximately 3 diverts from other 
hospitals. However, last winter there were 22 ‘diverts’ to Lewisham Hospital by 
other services. It was also reported by the LAS that during periods of highest 
demand in the winter queues were developing at Queen Elizabeth Hospital, which 
caused ambulances to avoid the hospital and choose other A&Es, including 
Lewisham. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recommendation 13: 
The fact that Lewisham Hospital has had numerous LAS patients diverted to it from 
neighbouring trusts in recent months should be noted. Capacity and activity at 
neighbouring A&E departments, as well as Lewisham, should be closely monitored by 
Lewisham CCG before any future proposals to change accident and emergency 

provision are proposed or implemented at Lewisham Hospital. 

Page 193



 

61 

 
Lewisham Hospital A&E 
 
9.85. In preparedness for the proposed changes to Lewisham Hospital A&E, when the 

Trust Special Administrator (TSA) draft report was published, the LAS carried out 
mapping work to assess the impact of the downgrading of the hospitals’ 
emergency department. One of the key difficulties with the changes in the 
borough would have been the travel time to A&Es outside of the borough, and the 
time it would take ambulance crews to return from locations outside of the 
borough back to active service in Lewisham, which may have increased response 
times, particularly at busy periods. The LAS is keeping proposals for the hospital 
under review. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
9.86. During December 2012 A&E activity at Lewisham Hospital increased by 10%, 

when compared to the same period 2011/12, in addition the impact of patients 
from outside of the borough attending the department and being admitted rose 
significantly. As a result, Lewisham Hospital did not meet the target of 95% of 
patients being seen, treated and discharged from A&E within 4 hours of arrival in 
A&E. 

 
9.87. As well as the significant increase in official and unofficial ambulance diversions 

from other hospitals, the achievement of this target was hampered by a number of 
factors, including: 

• A severe Norovirus outbreak in December and early January, which considerably 
impeded performance for that period - the outbreak closed 123 beds in the 
hospital, which had a significant impact on the capacity of the hospital to deal with 
admissions from the A&E 

• Mental health activity from December 2012 until the end of March 2013 - during this 
period there were 608 patient arrivals who required specialist referral to the 
Mental Health Team - of the 608 arrivals 241 breached the four hour performance 
standard, or 39.64% of patients. 

 
9.88. Times may also have been impacted by a change to the triage process being 

used in A&E. Staff at the hospital were also working with the potential impact of 
the TSA recommendations, which cast doubt over the over the future of the 
hospital. 

Page 194



 

62 

 
9.89. In response to targeted actions taken by management and clinicians in the A&E, 

performance improved significantly towards the end of April 2013. Joint work was 
undertaken across the hospital and across the local healthcare system to identify 
necessary actions to support achievement of the A&E targets. As a result of these 
efforts Lewisham is now on track in meeting the 95% A&E target; it achieved 
95.55% in the last quarter. The action plan remains in place to help the A&E 
continue to meet the target of 95% of patients to be seen, treated and discharged 
from A&E within 4 hours. 

 
9.90. The A&E is also making improvements to its triaging processes in order to deliver 

treatment quickly and to and signpost patients to other services where necessary. 
There are a number of initiatives that which are designed to improve the patient 
experience in A&E that are being developed in Lewisham. These include: 

• improvements in the accessibility of patient records 

• additional senior medical assessment earlier in the triage process 

• more joined-up working across the hospital and with social care and primary care. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Impact of the TSA proposals 
 
9.91. Effective maternity services rely on the ability to deal with unforeseen 

emergencies in pregnancy and delivery. Throughout pregnancy and delivery, 
medical situations can develop that require emergency intervention, and in most 
cases the speed with which those interventions happen can have a huge impact 
on the health of mothers and babies, and in some cases, the speed of emergency 
response can be a matter of life or death. 

 
9.92. Lewisham Hospital currently has a fully functioning maternity and obstetric-led 

delivery unit, as well as a midwife led birthing unit. Both of which are extremely 
well utilised and well regarded by women. The TSA proposed removing the 
obstetric led delivery unit at Lewisham hospital, leaving no emergency provision 
for maternity services at that site. This proposal would mean that all pregnant 
women in Lewisham would have to travel out of the borough to access obstetric 
led maternity services. The potential knock –on affects of such a decision were 
immediately obvious to pregnant women and those who had previously used 
maternity services: any woman in labour who developed complications would 
need to be transferred by ambulance to another hospital as an emergency, 
putting extra pressure on LAS and exacerbating an already stressful medical 
emergency for the mother. In removing such a core service from Lewisham 
hospital, there were fears voiced locally that this was an attempt to “run down” 
Lewisham hospital by the “back door”. The lack of emergency maternity provision 
would impact on neo-natal and special care baby and paediatric services, as well 
as leading to less people choosing to use the midwife led service that would 
remain as there would no longer be the safety net of emergency care on site if 
needed. 

Recommendation 14: 
More public information on the Norovirus is needed to support people to self manage 
the illness where appropriate and to help prevent the spread of disease and the 
closure of hospital wards. 
 

Page 195



 

63 

 
9.93. The Council and its partners highlighted serious concerns about the impact of the 

TSA’s proposals on emergency clinical care for children in the borough. The most 
pressing concern was that the loss of the A&E department might have a 
significant impact on paediatric accident and emergency services and on 
children’s services more generally. In its response to the TSA, the Council noted 
that Lewisham had been rated “outstanding” by the Care Quality Commission and 
Ofsted for its child safeguarding. Yet, the TSA proposals did not adequately 
assess the potential effect of the loss of A&E services on children, even though 
there is currently a paediatric A&E at Lewisham Hospital, alongside the adult A&E 
department.  

 
9.94. The Council and its partners believe that the quality of care in the borough across 

a range of services has been enhanced by effective partnership working and the 
creation of effective communication between healthcare providers. Therefore, 
removing services from the hospital would have created the risk that these quality 
relationships and patient centred partnerships would be lost.  

 
Mental health 
 
9.95. In the Council’s response to the TSA recommendations, it was also noted that the 

proposals would have had a detrimental impact on mental health services in the 
borough. The co-location of services at Lewisham hospital with an on-site 
psychiatric inpatient unit,provides opportunities for close working relationships 
and liaison between psychiatrists and nurses and results in effective management 
and early discharge.  

 
9.96. There are on average 150 people who are seen by the South London and 

Maudsley NHS Trust (SLaM) psychiatric liaison team based in Lewisham Hospital 
A&E. 20 per cent of these patients are admitted to the Ladywell unit. The Council 
was concerned that returning people to the Ladywell unit from other A&E sites 
would result in increased staff and transport costs53. 

 
9.97. A protocol for psychiatric inpatients at Ladywell that require emergency medical 

attention has been agreed between SLaM and Lewisham Hospital. This protocol 
ensures that those with mental health problems receive prompt medical treatment 
and are returned to the Ladywell Unit as soon as possible.  

 
9.98. The Council was concerned that the TSA’s recommendations would have 

resulted in patients having to travel by ambulance to other hospitals where would 
not have been responded to as quickly or effectively, causing them and potentially 
other patients unnecessary distress. 

 
Maintaining 999 services 
 
9.99. The LFB, MPS and LAS have all stated their commitment to responding rapidly to 

emergency incidents. All three services face a combination of practical and 
financial challenges in maintaining and improving their services to citizens in the 
coming years. 

 

                                            
53

 Council response to the TSA proposals (2012) p16 

Page 196



 

64 

9.100. The LFB has set out a series of proposals to alter the way it works. It intends to 
focus additional efforts on working with citizens to prevent fires and to tackle the 
most serious risks and hazards. Nonetheless, the service has been instructed to 
find substantial savings from its budget and as a result it intends to close 10 fire 
stations and reduce the number of fire fighters, fire engines and specialist teams 
in the city.  

 
9.101. The LFB believes that in the face of these challenges, it can maintain average 

response times across the city. In Lewisham the LFB predicts that it will be able to 
maintain better than average times across most wards. However, more detailed 
figures setting out average attendance times at ward level indicate that some 
wards will be well outside of the average attendance times provided for the 
borough. Further questions were raised in the review about response times to 
high rise buildings and the complexity of the risks involved in dealing with major 
emergencies and serious incidents. 

 
9.102. The Police force in Lewisham has been tasked with meeting the MPS’ 20:20:20 

challenge, which aims to reduce key neighbourhood crimes, increase satisfaction 
and make major savings to its budget. The MPS believes that there will be more 
officers deployed in Lewisham at the neighbourhood level than there were in 
2011. However, questions about the number of officers working in Lewisham and 
the redistribution of work from specialist teams to officers at the local level were 
raised through out the review.  

 
9.103. The LPM will change the way that neighbourhood teams are organised. One 

police officer and one police community support officer will be dedicated to 
working at ward level. All other ward officers will be flexibly deployed into three 
areas clusters. In order to bring MPS Lewisham up to strength the service has 
engaged in a major recruitment drive. The changes will be implemented in 
September 2013. 

 
9.104. The LAS has set out plans to better meet the demands of its patients. The LAS 

has set out ambitious plans to change the way it deals with calls and to improve 
the working practices of ambulance staff. The LAS intends to proactively manage 
the calls it receives and direct non-critical calls to appropriate alternative 
provision.  

 
9.105. The A&E in Lewisham is focused on providing effective patient care and good 

quality clinical outcomes. Where issues have been identified with waiting times 
actions have been put in place to deal with problems. In response to the TSA 
recommendations the Council set out a series of concerns about the potential 
impact for patients in Lewisham. Serious concerns were raised about the impact 
on children’s services and mental health provision as well as the major impact on 
patient care that would have resulted from the loss of A&E services. 

 
 
9.106. The challenge remains for all services to continue to improve the effectiveness 

and quality of the services they deliver whilst tackling the substantial financial 
challenges they have been given. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 
concerns about the services ability to deliver all of their stated objectives, 
particularly in relation to the threatened loss of emergency service provision, 

Page 197



 

65 

including but not limited to, fire safety with the loss of Downham Fire Station, 
accident and emergency care and emergency maternity care at Lewisham 
Hospital. 

Page 198



 

66 

10. Prevention 
 
10.1. Prevention forms a key part of the strategies and plans of the emergency services 

within London. There is a recognition that responding to and dealing with 
emergency situations is the most expensive and difficult part of their business. 
Given the financial pressures that emergency services are under, preventing the 
need to respond in the first place is one of the most effective ways of cutting 
costs, as well as keeping people safe and well.  

 
Fire 
 
10.2. Prevention is the first of the six aims identified by London Fire Brigade (LFB) in 

the Fifth London Safety Plan (LSP5), whilst the second stated aim of protection 
also touches on prevention issues. The strategic objectives that extend from 
these aims include to reduce fires and the impact that they have and to target 
people most at risk (Draft LSP5, supporting document 554) 

 
10.3. The LFB identify that preventing fires in the home is important, as this is where 

most casualties occur. A key tool the LFB use to improve fire safety in the home 
is a home fire safety visit (HFSVs), where fire-fighters visit people in their homes 
to provide fire safety advice and fit free smoke alarms. The LFB work with 
business and industry to make sure that the owners and occupiers of a wide 
range of buildings understand their responsibilities under the fire safety laws. 
They also try to influence those responsible for designing buildings so that fire 
safety measures, such as sprinklers, are installed. 
 

 
 

Changing behaviours 
 
10.4. The LFB identifies that the best way of reducing the potential for fires to occur is 

to change the behaviour of residents. The LSP5 highlights that the LFB will 
continue to try and improve fire safety awareness. The LFB have analysed some 
of the demographic information associated with injuries and the risk of fire to try to 
identify those most at risk, to better target their preventative work. They found that 
the following groups are most at risk and should therefore be targeted: 

                                            
54

 Draft LSP5, supporting document 5, Targeting those most at risk from fire (http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/Sup05-

Targeting-those-most-at-risk-from-fire.pdf) 

Page 199



 

67 

• Group M –contains large numbers of pensioners in their later retirement years, 
many of whom live on low incomes in social housing or in care homes 

• Group N – contains people on limited incomes mostly renting small flats from 
local councils or housing associations. Typically these are young single people or 
young adults sharing a flat. 

(Draft LSP5, supporting document 5, p2) 
 
10.5. While the LFB feel that HFSVs have been successful in increasing awareness 

and preventing fires, they recognise that they have not been able to reach a 
group of people that, while less vulnerable, have the most fires. Group G (Young 
Educated People In London) are underrepresented for fire risk and casualty 
causing fires, but because they make up such a high proportion of London (31 per 
cent) this group is responsible for a quarter of all dwelling fires. Trying to 
encourage this group of Londoners to change their behaviour in order to reduce 
fires has proven a particularly difficult challenge for LFB as they have found that 
they do not respond to direct forms of communication such as local newspaper 
articles or visits. LFB will use social media opportunities to help facilitate 
behavioural change. The LFB have already been able to demonstrate through the 
use of short term social media campaigns how they can reduce fires in this 
particular group.55  

 
10.6. At the Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee meeting on 8 May 2013 the 

Borough Commander reiterated the LFB’s intention to increase their focus on 
preventative work. One of the LSP5 targets is to increase the number of HFSVs 
being carried out by crews from local stations. Within Lewisham the plan is to 
deliver 3,015 HFSVs in the borough per year, an increase on the 2,355 that were 
delivered in 2011/12, with these visits targeted at those who are most at risk. The 
LFB will also work with the Area Community Safety Team and use borough staff 
to support all ad-hoc and pre-planned community safety events56. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.7. The LFB believe that working with young people at an early age to increase fire 

safety awareness can have a positive impact and have invested in working with 
young people in a variety of ways. The LSP5 highlights that this will continue. The 
Children and Young People Select Committee were advised by the Borough 
Commander that the LFB Schools Team offers an educational programme free to 
all London’s primary schools on an annual basis. The LIFE Project (Local 
Intervention Fire Education) is aimed towards at-risk and socially excluded young 
people 13-17. From April 2008 to March 2013, 113 Lewisham children took part in 
LIFE.  

 

                                            
55

 Draft LSP5, supporting document 5 (Targeting those most at risk from fire) 

http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/Sup05-Targeting-those-most-at-risk-from-fire.pdf 
56

 LFB in Lewisham (2012/13) 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s22246/Appendix%20B%20LFB%20in%20your%20borough%202012-

13%20Lewisham.pdf 

Recommendation 15: 
The LFB in Lewisham should focus its education and fire prevention activities in the 
priorities postcodes that will be most significantly affected by the increase in ward 
level response times. 
 

Page 200



 

68 

10.8. The LFB also runs a Community Fire Cadets scheme. The scheme is primarily a 
youth engagement programme which offers young people the opportunity to work 
alongside the LFB to gain a recognised qualification and life skills they can use in 
the work place. The scheme is aimed initially at young people who are having 
difficulty at school, have been excluded socially or educationally and are at risk of 
anti-social behaviour. It is designed to provide young people with positive 
opportunities to improve community cohesion and reduce undesirable behaviour 
by enhancing key citizenship skills.  

 
10.9. Places on the Cadets scheme are by referral only, via agencies, schools or 

organisations who work with young people. The scheme is running in the 
boroughs of Bexley and Havering, with more courses planned to start in 
September 2013 in the boroughs of Haringey, Barking and Dagenham, Waltham 
Forest and Redbridge.57 

 
 
 
 
 
 
10.10. Lewisham Council has a fire safety advisor who provides emergency planning 

information for schools, although the LFB can and does provide help and advice 
to schools as well, attending schools and working with them directly, if requested. 

 
Preventing fires through improved housing 
 
10.11. Housing providers have a large role to play in making sure that buildings under 

their control are safe and less likely to catch fire, as well as ensuring their tenants 
are aware of what they can do to lessen the risk of fire and be safe. The Council 
has a key role both as a regulator, with the power to carry out some enforcement 
action, and as an organisation which deals regularly with landlords. 

 
10.12. At the Housing Select Committee meeting on 16 May 2013 the Committee 

received an update on action taken to implement the recommendations of the 
Lakanal House inquest. Lakanal House is a high rise housing block in the London 
Borough of Southwark which, in 2009, was unfortunately the site of a fire which 
spread through the building and resulted in the deaths of 6 people. The findings of 
the inquest into the Lakanal House fire in Southwark were announced in March 
2013 and the recommendations covered six key areas: 

• Publication and promotion of fire safety 

• Signage in high rise residential buildings 

• Policy and Procedures concerning fire risk 

• Training of staff engaged in maintenance and refurbishment work on existing 
buildings 

• Access for emergency vehicles 

• Retro fitting of sprinklers. 
 
10.13. Lewisham’s housing providers were asked by the Council to respond to each of 

the recommendations to provide an assurance that all areas highlighted in the 

                                            
57

 Children and Young People Select Committee minutes (02/07/13) 

Recommendation 16: 
The possibility of setting up and funding a branch of the Fire Cadets in Lewisham 
should be explored as part the Youth Service’s new commissioning approach. 
 

Page 201



 

69 

recommendations had been addressed in Lewisham. The key points highlighted 
were: 

• Fire safety and advice leaflets have been given to all residents in high rise blocks. 

• Lewisham Homes and RB3 are both 100% compliant on fire safety 

• Lewisham Homes and RB3 employ fire safety specialists 

• Both Lewisham Homes and RB3 are compliant on access for emergency services 
and vehicles 

• Many buildings managed by Lewisham Homes are being assessed for the 
feasibility of fitting sprinklers with sheltered housing blocks being prioritised.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

10.14. A key to ensuring safety in high rise blocks is the effectiveness of measures to 
limit the spread of fire. These measures should be both built in to the initial 
design, and routinely considered in the ongoing maintenance of the building. In 
high rise buildings, each fire door (assuming it is fitted and maintained properly) 
should hold back the spread of fire by 30 minutes. 

 
10.15. In addition to effective design and maintenance of buildings, tenants knowing the 

appropriate action to take when discovering a fire, and how to safely evacuate the 
building, is crucial in ensuring their safety in the event of a fire. 

 
 
 

 
 

 
10.16. The Housing Select Committee was advised that the Council works closely with 

Lewisham Homes and Regenter B3 to ensure that their buildings were 100% fire 
safety compliant, including the fitting of fire and escape doors, maintaining 
signage and carrying out risk assessments. Where the condition of buildings had 
deteriorated or there were older doors installed, maintenance operatives had 
been trained to ensure work was being carried out to the required standard. In 
addition, Lewisham Homes employed a specialist company to fit flat entrance fire 
doors and there would be ongoing assessment of the doors, once fitted. 

 

Recommendation 17: 
Housing providers should carry out further work to assess how information about 
vulnerable residents in high rise accommodation could be shared with the LFB in the 
event of a serious fire.   

Page 202



 

70 

10.17. Where work is being carried out on properties as part of the Decent Homes 
programme, Lewisham Homes ensure that fire safety measures are built in or 
enhanced as part of the works. One example outlined to members was the 
inclusion of self-closing kitchen doors as part of the decent homes work 
upgrading kitchens. 

 
10.18. Fire safety checks are carried out in Lewisham Homes’ properties on a monthly 

basis. Any problems can also be identified by caretakers during their daily checks 
of buildings and then dealt with accordingly. Any complaints or queries by 
residents in respect of fire safety were dealt with through the repairs and 
maintenance system. Work was ongoing to inform residents about fire safety. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.19. In the LSP5, the LFB strongly promotes the use of sprinklers. Section 20 of the 

London Building Act (1939) made it a requirement for buildings over a certain 
height to have additional fire suppression systems in place to limit the spread of 
fires in tall buildings, which often included sprinkler systems designed to impede 
the spread of fire, increasing the fire service’s ability to control the situation when 
they arrive at the scene. The Council had committed to assessing the feasibility of 
installing sprinklers in each of the developments proposed as part of the ‘New 
Homes, Better Places’ programme. 

 
10.20. The requirements of the London Building Act have now been withdrawn, which 

mean that buildings originally designed with these requirements in place need no 
longer comply. This means, in theory, that if a sprinkler system was previously 
installed purely to meet the requirements of section 20 of the London Building Act, 
the building owner could remove it. When renovating the building, or if there are 

Recommendation 18: 
Lewisham’s social housing providers should be encouraged to have a clear policy in 
place that enables residents to report and escalate concerns about fire safety. 
 
Recommendation 19: 
Where non-critical risks are identified in Lewisham Homes properties, these should 
be recorded and added to an action plan, to be reported to the Housing Select 
Committee as part of the Lewisham Homes six monthly review. 
 
Recommendation 20: 
Lewisham’s social housing providers should be asked to demonstrate that their 
maintenance, caretaking, contracted staff (and anyone else who has a responsibility 
for building maintenance or procurement of building works) are fully trained to 
understand fire risks and where relevant, to carry out work in line with the most recent 
fire safety advice. 
 
Recommendation 21: 
An ongoing programme of fire safety awareness for tenants, including safe 
evacuation routes, should be instigated by all registered social landlords. 
 
Recommendation 22: 
Clear information about fire safety, and safe evacuation routes, should be provided to 
all new tenants as part of their welcome pack. 
 

Page 203



 

71 

maintenance issues with the sprinkler system, more owners may take this 
approach over time. If enough buildings have these systems removed it could 
significantly deteriorate the protection levels of building stock in Lewisham and 
across the Capital. 

 
10.21. In a referral to Mayor and Cabinet made on 16 May 2013 the Housing Select 

Committee emphasised the importance of sprinkler systems in containing fires 
and preventing loss of life. The Committee believes that this is particularly 
important because of the changes proposed in the LSP5. The Committee 
supports the work undertaken by Lewisham Homes, in assessing the feasibility of 
installing sprinklers, and recommends that the Council urges other housing 
providers to adopt a similar risk based approach. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Police 
 
10.22. The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 requires the Mayor’s Office 

for Policing And Crime (MOPAC) to produce a Police and Crime Plan that sets 
out a strategy for policing and crime reduction for London over four years. In 
January 2013 MOPAC published a draft Police and Crime Plan for London for 
2013-16, which was finalised in and published in March 2013, following 
consultation.   

 
10.23. The Plan identifies key goals for the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) and other 

criminal justice agencies, and sets out strategies around crime prevention, police 
resources and performance, and justice and resettlement. The Plan 
acknowledges that Londoners and communities have a vital role to play in crime 
prevention and MOPAC is keen to encourage and enable communities to do this. 
The plan focuses on 3 distinct strands; People, Places and Problems. Many of 
these preventative initiatives will be carried out by the voluntary and community or 
‘third’ sector in conjunction with statutory partners, particularly local authorities. 
The Mayor and MOPAC want to specifically focus spending on preventative work 
on young people and early intervention.58 

 
 
10.24. Under the People strand, MOPAC will: 

• establish a Safer Neighbourhood Board in every borough by 2014 giving local 
Londoners and victims a greater voice. These Boards will establish local policing 
and crime priorities and fulfil a range of important functions 

• use £1m per year from the London Crime Prevention Fund utilised through 
reforming MOPAC’s community engagement structures 

                                            
58

 Mayor of London’s Police and Crime Plan (2013-16) 

 

Recommendation 23: 
The Council should encourage Lewisham’s housing providers to follow Lewisham 
Homes’ risk based approach to installing sprinklers in their housing stock (referral). 
 
Recommendation 24: 
Fire Safety should be considered strategically by the South East London Housing 
Partnership and good practice shared 
 

Page 204



 

72 

• review the MPS practice for engaging with people to ensure it adheres to good 
practice 

• every secondary school in London will have a Safer Schools Officer, if they want 
one, as part of the new local policing model 

• continue to encourage the recruitment of special constables to meet the Mayors 
commitment to having 10,000 special constables in London (there are currently 
over 5,000) 

• continue to promote the MPS Volunteer Police Cadets to young people and to 
encourage increased participation by young black and minority ethnic Londoners, 
with a target of a quarter of all police cadets to be recruited from among young 
people who are vulnerable to crime and/or social exclusion 

• ensure that the Community Safety Accreditation Scheme is maintained for 
London. 

 
10.25. Under the Places strand, MOPAC will: 

• build on existing crime mapping to develop hotspot maps to inform and focus 
crime prevention work 

• share the analysis with community safety and criminal justice partners so local 
multi-agency responses to local problems can be developed 

• develop a strategic licensing function to gather data from all relevant agencies 
including the police, London Ambulance Service (LAS) and A&E departments. 

• work with local authorities to consider what more they can do to ‘design out crime’ 
when making planning and investment decisions 

• work with Transport for London (TfL) and the British Transport Police to improve 
transport safety and security.  

 
10.26. Under the Problems strand, MOPAC will: 

• develop an alcohol related crime strategy for London focused on prevention, 
enforcement and diversion 

• develop a drugs strategy for London, aligned to the Government’s strategy, to 
reduce demand, restrict supply and build recovery 

• work through partners on the London Crime Reduction Board (LCRB) to 
commission and fund a pan-London domestic violence service 

• establish a sustainable funding model for Rape Crisis Centres beyond 2016, and 
ensure that the MPS is focused on solving more rapes and other serious sexual 
offences 

• establish a taskforce to confront harmful practices, such as female genital 
mutilation 

• work through the LCRB to improve understanding of anti-social behaviour (ASB) 
levels across London to ensure the right response can be coordinated and to 
share best practice in developing strategies to deal with common forms of ASB 

• work with London’s diverse communities to develop an effective hate crime 
reduction strategy. 

 
Delivering the MOPAC plan 
 
10.27. The Local Policing Model (LPM) aims to put neighbourhood policing at the heart 

of what the MPS does. MOPAC believe the model will ensure service delivery is 
consistent, flexible and responsive to the needs of Londoners. Safer 
Neighbourhood Teams (SNTs) will be led by a Neighbourhood Inspector who will 

Page 205



 

73 

be accountable for dealing with crime and disorder in a local area. Every borough 
will continue to have a team who specialise in responding to emergency calls and 
provide a high quality service at that first contact with police. When not on a call, 
emergency response teams will be deployed on patrol. 

 
10.28. Within Lewisham there are three policing ‘clusters’, each comprising of six wards. 

Under the new system one officer per ward will be focused solely on the ward. 
SNTs will make three promises to wards, objectives which are simple, easy to 
monitor and straightforward to implement including things like street briefings, 
meetings, patrols and increased focus on particular crimes. Ward panels will 
remain the same as before the implementation of the model and ward priorities 
will feed into cluster priorities. With the extra police available at neighbourhood 
level, there will be an enhanced role for ward inspectors.  

 
10.29. As part of changes to the police under the LPM, Safer Schools Officers, who were 

attached to Safer Neighbourhood Teams (SNT), will be brought back into one 
team and will be based in specific secondary schools. There will be 8 Safer 
Schools Officers based between 9 schools. 6 secondary schools in Lewisham are 
currently without officers and schools without an officer placed with them will have 
a named point of contact within the local SNT. Officer placement was decided on 
a needs basis and Lewisham currently has a comparable amount of Safer 
Schools Officers to other London boroughs. Primary schools will have a named 
SNT officer as a single point of contact.59 It was emphasised that Safer Schools 
Officers are not in schools to control behaviour or enforce discipline. 

 
10.30. The MPS also runs the Volunteer Police Cadets (VPC), a uniformed voluntary 

youth organisation open to young people aged 13 -18 from across London’s 
diverse communities, irrespective of their background or financial circumstances 
and including those vulnerable to crime or social exclusion. There is a VPC Unit in 
every borough and it is a central component of the MPS’ youth outreach work. It 
has four aims: 

• Developing ‘Social Citizens’  

• Creating a warm, supportive and enthusiastic youth community with a welcoming 
approach 

• Providing effective peer, leader and role model guidance using proven techniques 

• Inspiring community involvement using restorative problem solving approaches. 
 
10.31. The VPC work with the Princes Trust and cadets are given the opportunity to gain 

Duke of Edinburgh awards and other accredited skills and training. Cadets take 
part in a range of high profile events. The Cadets provided 50,000 hours of 
volunteering time during 2010 in activities such as: 

• Local Crime Prevention initiatives including Leaflet Deliveries and phone marking 
Stewarding at events 

• 'Mystery Shopper' operations to detect underage sales of fireworks, alcohol and 
knives 

• Large high profile events such as the London Marathon, Trooping the Colour, 
Remembrance Sunday. 

 
 

                                            
59

 Children and Young People Select Committee minutes (02/07/13) 

Recommendation 25: 
Volunteering opportunities for adults, to support the cadet branches of the LFB and 
MPS, should be publicised locally to increase the capacity of the cadets to involve 

more young people. 

Page 206



 

74 

 
 
 
 
 
Young offenders 
 
10.32. Within the Police and Crime Plan it is highlighted that youth offenders have the 

highest rate of reoffending (approximately 70%) and the cost of young people in 
the criminal justice system is high. Addressing reoffending is therefore important 
to crime prevention. There are a number of projects aimed at tackling reoffending 
rates including “Project Daedalus”, which is a three year pilot project aimed at 
tackling high rates of youth re-offending through a partnership project between 
MOPAC, the Ministry of Justice, Youth Justice Board and other agencies. 

 
10.33. In responding to the Police and Crime Plan, the Safer Lewisham Partnership 

noted:  
“A focus on youth is pleasing, however we are unclear as to why the reduction in 

reoffending is not for adults as well as for youth. In addition, we are extremely 
concerned that at a time when additional financial burdens are being placed upon 
the local authority in relation to remands there are expectations of this significant 
level of reduction”.60 

 
10.34. At the Children and Young People Select Committee meeting on 2 July 2013, the 

Committee heard that changes to the way the Youth Offending Service is funded 
means that local authorities have the responsibility to fund accommodation for 
young offenders on remand. This represents a pressure of close to £500k a year. 
Estimates from the Youth Justice Board are that there should be a 10-25% 
reduction in the need for remand bed nights. So far there has been a 1% 
reduction. The Committee expressed its concern that central government has not 
provided enough money to pay for accommodation for young offenders and that 
this could represent a serious financial pressure for the Council. 61 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Probation 
 
10.35. At its meeting on 29 July 2013, the Safer Stronger Communities Select 

Committee heard from the London Probation Trust about the Government’s 
proposals for reforming the delivery of offender services in the community to 
reduce reoffending rates whilst delivering improved value for money62. The 
Committee was concerned about the proposals and referred their views to Mayor 
and Cabinet, highlighting the following key points: 

                                            
60

 Safer Lewisham Partnership Response to the Draft Police and Crime Plan 2013-2016 Consultation  
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Safer%20Lewisham%20Partnership_0.pdf 
61

 Children and Young People Select Committee minutes (02/07/13) 
62

 Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee Minutes (29/07/13) 

Recommendation 26: 
The Mayor should call on the Government to revise plans to transfer the funding for 
Youth Offending Services. Current funding will not cover costs and will have a 
significant impact on Council finances: the impact of this should be closely monitored 

by Mayor and Cabinet and reviewed by the Public Accounts Select Committee 

Page 207



 

75 

• The Committee wishes to express, in the strongest terms, its opposition to the 
Government’s proposals for reforming the delivery of probation services and the 
management of adult offenders  

• The Committee is opposed to the privatisation of provision for rehabilitation of 
offenders - the Committee is extremely concerned about the suitability of private 
sector organisations to manage community rehabilitation and probation - it is also 
concerned about the transfer of offenders between private and public provision 
because of the unpredictable level of risk posed by offenders as well as the 
complicated arrangement of the payment mechanism being proposed 

• The Committee is troubled by the failure of some government contracts with the 
private sector to meet basic standards of transparency and cost effectiveness  

• The Committee is concerned about the risks involved in the transition from 
existing provision to the new structure of services  

• The Committee does not believe that all of the potential risks to the successful 
implementation of the new model have been fully considered  

• The Committee believes that further representations should be made by the 
Council to the appropriate authority setting out the concerns about these 
changes.  

 
Emergency Healthcare 
 
10.36. Dealing with emergency healthcare needs is one of the most expensive parts of 

the healthcare economy. Preventing the need for emergency and acute 
healthcare provision is a key way for healthcare to reduce its costs and address 
the financial constraints that it has been put under. 

 
Reducing demand for emergency responses 
 
10.37. Demand on the LAS is expected to continue to increase, so therefore 

it is clear that change is needed to maintain a safe and high-quality 
service for patients and good working conditions for staff. Many of 
the 999 calls the LAS receive are for patients who do not have life 
threatening injuries and illnesses, and who do not need an 
ambulance crew to attend. Instead they can be given a full clinical 
assessment over the phone and safely be offered advice, or 
redirected to other healthcare providers. 

 
10.38. The “Choose Well” campaign was a national public awareness 

campaign, promoting the different range of choices that people have 
when accessing healthcare, and encouraging people to choose the 
most appropriate care to meet their health need. Across South East 
London almost £6million is spent every year treating people in A&E 
with minor ailments.63 The campaign highlighted that unless 
someone has a life threatening emergency, obviously need hospital 
admission or investigation, have broken bones or serious injury, the 
best care is not always hospital. Alternatives such as a local 
pharmacist or GP, in particular the GP out of hours service, could 
provide appropriate care quickly and efficiently, but could also save 

                                            
63

 Choose Well campaign (2013): http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/YourHealth/Pages/Choosewell.aspx 

Page 208



 

76 

money for the NHS. The table (right) highlights the variety of healthcare services 
that are available to people and what they can offer.  

 
10.39. At the Healthier Communities Select Committee meeting on 29 May 2013 the 

Committee heard from the Assistant Director Operations London (South) and the 
Lewisham Operations Manager for LAS that a key improvement on demand in 
acute emergency care would be seen if the public were better supported to 
access services more appropriately to their needs, rather than going to A&E or 
calling an ambulance for a matter that should be treated via primary or urgent 
care. However people have different personal views about what is urgent and an 
emergency, as well as having differing pain thresholds, so the key is to continue 
to educate people about services and appropriate healthcare choices. It is part of 
the responsibility of the local CCG to commission appropriate pathways to care 
outside general nine to five provision. 

 
10.40. Lewisham CCG also has a key role in ensuring that appropriate community based 

and urgent care services are available to meet demand, as well as to work jointly 
with Lewisham Council on interaction between, and where appropriate integration 
of, health and social care services to support people in ensuring appropriate care 
and support is available to help prevent medical needs escalating to emergency 
situations.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10.41. At the Healthier Communities Select Committee meeting on 9 July 2013, the 

Committee were informed that there are a number of initiatives that can improve 
the patient experience in A&E that are being developed in Lewisham, including: 

• improvement in patient records accessibility 

• more senior medical assessment earlier in the triage process 

• more joined-up working across the hospital and with social care and primary care. 
 
Better discharging and reduced admissions 
 
10.42. Lewisham Council’s response to the draft Trust Special Administrator (TSA) 

report highlights a number of examples of where preventative work is already 
being undertaken64. In 2010, the NHS Trust managing Lewisham Hospital was 
commissioned to provide community health services in the Borough. This allowed 
for the vertical integration of acute and community services and provided stronger 

                                            
64

 Lewisham Council response to TSA report (2012) p11, 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s23319/05AppendixYCouncilResponseToTheTSA02072013.pdf 

Recommendation 27: 
National campaigns, such as the recent “Choose well” campaign, need to be 
supported and reinforced locally. Clear, appropriate guidance should be given to 
people locally, about the most appropriate local service to access if they have an 
urgent medical need outside of GP hours, when they are making routine contact with 
health services 
 
Recommendation 28: 
Out of Hours care and urgent care both need to be comprehensive, easily accessible 
and well publicised to enable the public to choose the most appropriate care setting 
for their needs. 
 

Page 209



 

77 

links to the Council’s services and other primary care services and closer models 
of working were developed. This included the presence of a dedicated social 
worker within the accident and emergency department at Lewisham Hospital to 
provide advice and referrals for incoming patients as appropriate. The integration 
of acute and community health services into one local NHS trust has also played 
a key role in contributing to Lewisham’s achievement of an “outstanding” rating for 
children’s safeguarding. 

 
10.43. In Lewisham, a model of partnership working between the Council and health 

partners to achieve better health outcomes for Lewisham residents has been 
continuously developing over recent years. This approach recognises the need to 
improve and develop community based services and decrease the reliance on 
unnecessary and delayed hospital stays. Partners recognise that increased 
requirements for community based care places additional burdens on social care 
expenditure and provision. In Lewisham, this is being managed through the 
locally integrated system which has allowed efficiencies to be made across the 
health and social care economy. 

 
10.44. While increased prevention work can help to reduce the need for emergency 

response and the expense associated with it, a key thread throughout the 
evidence has been the need for balance between prevention and response to 
emergencies. There will still be a need for effective responses from the 
emergency services when required and as such this safety net aspect of their 
provision cannot be overlooked. 

 
10.45. Lewisham Healthcare NHS Trust was one of a very small number of Trusts, and 

the only one in London, to gain an ’Excellent" rating from the Health Care 
Commission for the quality of its care of newborn infants and children. This quality 
continues in the provision of a Children’s A&E on the Lewisham site. Direct 
access to specialist staff explains the low rates of admission of Lewisham children 
to hospital. Children’s needs are identified and met quickly without the need for 
distressing and avoidable admissions. Admission rates for gastroenteritis, for 
example, are the lowest in the sector and less than half the average London 
rate.65 

 
Pressures on the Council’s adult social care budget 
 
10.46. At £81.1m, the adult social care budget is the largest net budget in the Council 

(33% of the total) and is therefore central to the Council’s financial position. The 
pressures on the Council’s budget have therefore impacted on the budget for 
adult social care. Savings of over £13m have been achieved since 2009/10 and 
are highlighted below:66 

2010/11  £0.256m  
2011/12  £2.916m  
2012/13  £2.05m  
2013/14  £8.306m 
(Including 14/15 effect)  

                                            
65

 Lewisham Council response to TSA report (2012) p11, 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s23319/05AppendixYCouncilResponseToTheTSA02072013.pdf 
66

 Funding and Financial Management of Adult Social care Review –Public Accounts Select Committee (17/07/13) 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s23763/03%20Finances%20of%20Adult%20Social%20Care%20Review%20170

713.pdf 

Page 210



 

78 

 
10.47. The approach to savings and cost reduction has been to minimise the negative 

impact on individual service users. Savings have therefore concentrated on the 
following areas: 

• Reducing social work and assessment unit costs to meet the Audit Commission 
recommended benchmark of 10% of the overall Adult Social Care Budget 

• Prolonging the need for ongoing services through the provision of reablement and 
short term early intervention 

• Developing integrated health and social care services with both Acute and 
Community Health partners 

• Changing the mix of care from nursing and residential to care which supports 
people to live at home, moving from Council commissioned homecare to direct 
payments 

• Contract efficiencies, particularly Learning Disability supported accommodation 

• Joint procurement – such as the meals contract and equipment provision 

• Income generation through a review of the charging policy. 
 

Page 211



 

79 

11. Access 
 
11.1. Appropriate access to emergency services by those that need them is key to their 

effectiveness. The proposals to close a number of Lewisham’s front-facing public 
buildings represent a significant change to the way in which citizens interact with 
public services. The fire service’s proposals to close Downham Fire Station will 
not only impact on the response times in the borough, they are also likely to 
impact on citizens perception of their safety and the work carried out by the 
service to engage with the community. 

 
11.2. The Metropolitan Police Service’s (MPS) decision to close Brockley and 

Sydenham Police Stations will also impact on the way citizens interact with their 
local police. Whilst the MPS suggests that its changes will result in greater police 
presence in neighbourhoods and better access to local officers, opportunities to 
engage with the force will be significantly altered by the proposals to withdraw 
from these buildings. 

 
11.3. One of the greatest areas of concern in the borough has been the proposals to 

downgrade services at Lewisham hospital’s accident and emergency department 
and the impact this would have on citizen’s access to appropriate services. The 
Sustainable Development Select Committee focused their attention on the 
ongoing access to services element of the emergency services proposals, and 
explored the potential wider impact of the proposals on people in Lewisham 
accessing appropriate emergency services. 

 
Access for all 
 
11.4. Lewisham is a diverse borough. It draws from the variety and richness of its 

population to build on its successes and to achieve its vision for sustainable 
communities. The Council endeavours to build on this strength in the delivery of 
its services.  

 
11.5. The Comprehensive Equality Scheme (CES) for 2012-16 provides an overarching 

framework and focus for the Council’s work on equalities and helps to ensure 
compliance with the Equality Act67. The Council’s equality objectives through the 
CES are to: 

• Improve access to services 

• Close the gap in outcomes for citizens 

• Increase participation and engagement. 
 
11.6. In order to meet the requirements of the equality act public bodies (including the 

fire service, the Council, the MPS and healthcare providers) must, in the exercise 
of their functions, have due regard to the need to: 

 

• eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Act 

                                            
67

 The Equality Act 2010 brought together all previous equality legislation in England, Scotland and Wales. The Act included a new 
public sector equality duty, replacing the separate duties relating to race, disability and gender equality. The duty came into force on 
6 April 2011. It covers the following nine protected characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 

partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

Page 212



 

80 

• advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. 

• foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not. 

 
Fire 
 
11.7. The London Fire Brigade (LFB) uses ‘lifestyles’ rather than protected 

characteristics as the focus of its preventative work. It believes that lifestyle 
groupings provide the most accurate means of targeting preventative work in 
relation to fire risk: 

 
‘Whilst it is true that certain lifestyles identified as being at higher risk will also contain 

people who share protected characteristics, belonging to a protected 
characteristic group in the first place does not place individuals at risk.’ (Fifth 
London Safety Plan LSP5, p98) 

 
11.8. The equality analysis for LSP5 covers five areas:  
 

• Management of calls to automated fire alarms 

• Working with neighbouring brigades 

• Operational efficiencies 

• Shut in lift incidents 

• Targeting people at risk. 
 
11.9. These plans set out the focus of the LFB to ensure that the changes being 

proposed do not have a disproportionately negative impact on a protected group. 
However, the equality analysis carried out for the LSP5 used average borough 
attendance times for the assessment, rather than ward based times. The LFB 
deems further analysis at the ward level unnecessary, because analysis at 
borough level did not identify significant impact on any group. Ward level data, 
however, is widely used for the planning and targeting of services across public 
sector service providers. This is particularly important in densely populated 
London Boroughs as ward averages can mask great disparities across the area, 
and ward level data can accurately identify areas where more people with 
protected characteristics are living. 

 
11.10. There is a recognition that there are groups of people who are more at risk of fire 

than others. In supplementary document 13 (targeting those most at risk from fire) 
the LFB demonstrates the potential impact of the changes on social groups in 
London. These social groups are based on lifestyle profiles of target populations. 
These profiles are set out in the chart below: 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 213



 

81 

 
Source: draft LSP5, supporting document 5, (p4)68  

 
11.11. The profiles do not highlight any protected characteristic, apart from age. Another 

significant factor in determining the risk of injury in fire is housing quality, which 
may be an indicator of social deprivation. The importance of age is recognised in 
the LFB’s consultation documents and the equality impact assessment for LSP5. 
It is maintained that by targeting the most at risk groups, including older people, 
particularly those living in unsuitable housing, there may well be a positive impact 
on this protected group. The LFB’s proposals will not target specific protected 
groups because it believes that people from these groups are spread across 
London, and because the equality analysis at borough level does not indicate any 
significant detrimental impact to any specific group. 

 
11.12. Furthermore the LFB believes that the removal of stations will not impact on their 

work carrying out home fire safety visits and other work with public sector 
partners to ensure that target groups are prioritised in preventive work. 

 
11.13. Nonetheless, age is an important factor in fire related fatalities. As is poor health 

and impaired mobility. LSP5 identifies this: ‘In 2011/12, almost one in three of 
those dying from fire had been in receipt of some form of care.’ (London Safety 
Plan, p99) 

 
 

                                            
68

 Draft LSP5, supporting document 5 (Targeting those most at risk from fire) 

http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/Sup05-Targeting-those-most-at-risk-from-fire.pdf 

Page 214



 

82 

 
 
11.14. The LFB maintains that: 
 
‘By targeting those most at risk, this will naturally include people who share protected 

characteristics and the outcome of the five main proposals is expected to have a 
positive impact on elderly people, those with disability, mobility or health issues, 
and those living in deprivation in particular.’ 

 
11.15. As has been set out in other sections of the report, the ward based response 

times in the closest vicinity to the stations being closed will fall significantly. The 
subsequent reduction in service to the most vulnerable, specifically because they 
are disproportionately represented amongst fire related fatalities is a cause for 
concern. The three wards closest to Downham Fire Station are amongst those 
with the highest levels of deprivation in the borough and have high levels of social 
housing. 

 
Police 
 
11.16. The police are changing the way citizens access their services. As set out in 

previous chapters, the MPS has been challenged to substantially reduce the 
extent of its estate. In Lewisham, Brockley and Sydenham Police Stations will be 
closed and officers will work from fewer stations. 

 
11.17. MPS data indicates that numbers of people reporting crimes at front counters has 

fallen by almost half in the past five years. This is likely to be because citizens 
use different forms of accessing information and communicating with the police. 
The data also shows that in 2011/12 fewer than 1 in 8 were reported at front 
counters.  

 
11.18. The MPS believes that the low footfall at Brockley and Sydenham Police Stations 

made it unfeasible to keep them open. At the meeting of Safer Stronger 
Communities Select Committee Members heard that the police would move to 
using ‘contact points’ in the borough. Neighbourhood officers are due to be at 
these sites on Wednesday and Thursday evenings between 7 and 8pm, and 
Saturday between 2 and 3pm. The sites are listed above in section 8 (Response). 

 
11.19. At a Contact Point residents will be able to do the following things: 

• Report a crime 

• Report lost property or hand in found property  

• Make an appointment to speak to a local officer  

• Hand in self-reporting forms for road traffic accidents  

• Obtain crime prevention advice 

• Obtain advice about police related matters  

• Collect found items by appointment 

• Discuss community concerns 

• Make an appointment to give a statement (if a visit is not requested)  

• Make an appointment to speak to an officer about a complaint against police. 
 
 
 

Recommendation 29: 
The effectiveness of the police contact points in Lewisham should be reviewed by the 
borough commander after six months of operation, the results of the review should be 
provided to Overview and Scrutiny and the Safer Lewisham Partnership. 
 

Page 215



 

83 

 
 
 
 
 
11.20. The MPS also intends to maintain engagement with Londoners through a greater 

focus on neighbourhood policing. Each ward will have a dedicated officer and a 
police community support officer.  

 
11.21. The MPS has also offered a visit to every victim of crime who wants one. The 

MPS believes that this service will enable victims to be supported in a setting of 
their choosing, rather than having to attend a police station. It is also anticipated 
that it will be easier to target translation and support services to people who need 
them, because these services are not typically available at police station 
counters. 

 
11.22. The Mayor’s Police and Crime plan sets out how the MPS will be challenged to 

meet the Mayor’s Office for Police And Crime (MOPAC) 20:20:20 challenge. In 
the plan, the Mayor commits to:  

• Work with relevant voluntary organisations (particularly the specialist violence 
against women and girls sector) and others to develop more and better ways for 
the public to report crime 

• Reflecting the increasing importance of online reporting methods, embrace new 
technologies like a smart phone crime reporting application 

• Continue to support and publicise the 101 non-emergency number and 
campaigns like Crimestoppers to encourage more reporting 

• Develop more opportunities for victims to report crime through third parties such 
as the Havens – the specialist centres in London, run by the NHS for people who 
have been raped or sexually assaulted – as well as the four Rape Crisis Centres. 

 
11.23. People in Lewisham need to feel that they will have access to the police, locally, 

when they need them, in a timely and appropriate manner. This confidence in the 
local police presence is crucial to public perception of the MPS in Lewisham. To 
increase confidence in the MPS in Lewisham, by 20% from its declining levels, 
will be challenging if perception locally is that the police presence, and access to 
the police locally, is diminishing. 

 
Emergency healthcare 
 
11.24. The emergency service proposals with the greatest potential transport impacts in 

the borough were the plans which were put forward for the reconfiguration of 
services at Lewisham Hospital. The Sustainable Development Select Committee 
resolved to assess the potential impact of the proposals to downgrade Lewisham 
hospital’s A&E in relation to travel, across the borough. 

 
11.25. Going beyond his remit to make recommendations about the future of the South 

London healthcare NHS Trust (SLHT), the Trust Special Administrator (TSA) 
recommended that Lewisham hospital’s A&E should be downgraded. If his 
changes had been implemented, this would have meant that the most critical 
emergency cases would have been dealt with by other hospitals in South East 
London. These were: 

Page 216



 

84 

• Princes Royal University Hospital, Bromley (PRUH) 

• King’s College Hospital, Camberwell (KCH) 

• Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Woolwich (QEH) 

• Queen Mary, Sidcup (QMS) 

• Guy’s Hospital, London Bridge (GH) 

• St Thomas’ Hospital, Southwark (STH). 
 
11.26. As part of the delivery of his final report, the TSA’s office commissioned a Health 

and Equalities Impact Assessment69 (HEIA) to further consider the impact of the 
changes in the borough. Working with transport for London it found the following 
Public Transport Accessibility Levels (PTAL) for each of the hospital sites: 

 
PTAL for Hospitals in South London: 

 
11.27. Lewisham hospital has a public transport accessibility level of ‘very good’ 

whereas the Queen Elizabeth Hospital’s accessibility level is described as 
‘moderate’, King’s College Hospital is described as ‘good’ and Princess Royal 
University Hospital is described as ‘poor’. Furthermore, the HEIA recognises that 
the PTAL levels only provide an indication of accessibility to the hospital and do 
not take into account the complexity of travelling to the site from other parts in 
South East London. The HIEA recognises that there would be an impact on 
patients: 

 
11.28. ‘Greater transport times and difficulty in accessing healthcare services can lead to 

patients restricting their usage of healthcare service. Further, in some 
circumstances the timeliness by which patients can access care could have a 
direct impact on health outcomes’ (HEIA p44) 

 
11.29. This concern was echoed by Lewisham’s Director of Public Health, who has 

stated that70 the changes would have a serious detrimental impact on relatives 
and carers: 

 
‘If acutely ill patients are no longer admitted to UHL, this will result in increased costs 

incurred by relatives and carers when visiting patients admitted to alternative 
hospitals. Residents from deprived communities in the three most affected 
postcode areas (SE6 4AN, 4TW, 2BY) will experience public transport price 

                                            
69

 TSA, Health and Equality Impact Assessment (2012): 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/127493/VOL-3-Appendix-L.pdf.pdf 
70

Lewisham Director of Public Health’s response to the TSA consultation (2012) http://www.tsa.nhs.uk/document/lewisham-director-

public-health-response 

Page 217



 

85 

increases of £1.90, an 82% increase in the cost of travel. These costs cannot be 
reimbursed under the Hospital Travel Cost Scheme.’ (DPH response to TSA 
consultation p2) 

 
11.30. The HEIA indicated that work with TfL would need to take place to ensure 

residents are able to maintain access to services, particularly from the south of 
the borough. The TSA’s report recognises that this would be particularly important 
for disabled people, older people and those at risk. However, the TSA’s 
discussions with TfL indicated that there is no funding available for additional bus 
services (TSA final report p51) 

 
11.31. In March 2013, a question was asked of the Mayor of London about TfL’s work 

with the TSA’s office to mitigate the impacts of the proposed changes71.The 
Mayor outlined discussions between TfL and the TSA’s office and contended that: 

 
‘In most cases there is either a direct link from Lewisham to the four sites identified in 

the Special Administrator’s report or the sites can be accessed with one 
interchange...’ 

 
11.32. He advised that TfL was ‘monitoring developments’. The response also noted that 

preparations for the proposed changes would be enhanced if the TSA’s office was 
able to outline how many trips each day might be affected. 

 
11.33. The Sustainable Development Select Committee requested that officers in the 

Council’s transport division carry out detailed analysis of transport connections 
from postcodes in the borough to the five major hospital sites outside of the 
borough. This work indicated that residents’ journeys would generally be less 
convenient and involve more changes; leading to longer journeys and, in many 
cases, higher fares. 

 
11.34. TfL's travel planner was used as the basis of research. St Thomas' Hospital and 

Guy’s Hospital greatly benefited from train access. However possible access 
issues onto train services from platforms was not factored in, although access at 
the stations to platforms was taken into account. Journeys involving express 
services where Oyster cards were not accepted were excluded from the research 
exercise. 

 
11.35. The analysis indicated that significant numbers of journeys would involve one or 

more changes, whereas there is a direct route to Lewisham Hospital in most 
cases. For many journeys more walking would be involved and the concern was 
that patients may find this an added difficulty. It was also anticipated that the 
changes would have a detrimental effect in terms of the ease with which friends 
and relatives would be able to visit people in hospitals that are more difficult and 
expensive to get to. 

 
Maintaining access 
 
11.36. The LFB has carried out a significant level of analysis on targeting people most at 

risk from fire. Their work indicates that age, quality of housing and receipt of care 
are significant factors in determining the risk of fire related injury. However, this 

                                            
71

 GLA, Mayor’s question time (March 2013), Lewisham hospital travel http://mqt.london.gov.uk/mqt/public/question.do?id=46050 

Page 218



 

86 

analysis was carried out at borough, rather than ward level, which means the 
analysis did not take account of the characteristics of the populations in the 
vicinity of the stations being proposed for closure. The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee believes that the ward level data is extremely relevant when 
considering fire risk and planning service changes. 

 
11.37. The MPS are making significant reductions to their estate. In Lewisham both 

Brockley and Sydenham Police Stations are closing. The MPS maintains that this 
is because it was unfeasible to keep these stations open for so few visitors and 
that citizens are now using other means of contacting the force and accessing 
information. The MPS will use ‘contact’ points’ in non-police buildings during the 
week to enable citizens to meet police officers and report local issues. 

 
11.38. Large reductions in emergency service provision at Lewisham Hospital were 

proposed, which would lead to people in Lewisham having to travel further to 
other hospital sites more so than is currently the case. Analysis carried out by the 
Council’s transport division identified the impact this would have on patients and 
visitors attempting to access hospital sites outside of the borough. People living in 
Lewisham would have to take significantly longer journeys, with more transport 
changeovers to hospital sites that are not currently as well served by public 
transport infrastructures as the Lewisham hospital site is, as acknowledged in the 
Public Transport Accessibility Levels assessment carried out as part of the HEIA 
of the TSA proposals. 

 

Page 219



 

87 

12. Partnerships 
 
12.1. Working in partnership is important for the effective delivery of public services. In 

the area of health and wellbeing in particular, partnership working across a 
number of organisations is essential for the effective delivery of health and social 
care. Emergency Service providers, alongside the Council, Lewisham Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG), Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust, South 
London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM), and other bodies such as 
Healthwatch, work closely together to ensure there is ‘joined-up’ working that 
makes the services work for the benefit of the patient. 

 
12.2. There are also a number of statutory bodies and responsibilities that ensure local 

authorities work closely in partnership with the emergency services and other 
public bodies. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 (the Act) as well as 
redefining the roles of, and relationships between, different sections of the health 
infrastructure, introduced the Health and Wellbeing Board. The Act establishes a 
duty on the Health and Wellbeing Board to encourage integrated working. The 
Board includes a number of members, which include the elected Mayor or the 
executive leader, and other key local representatives including the director of 
public health and the local CCG and Healthwatch.   

 
12.3. Emergency services and the local authority work closely together via ‘community 

safety partnerships’, introduced in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, as amended 
by the Police and Justice Act 2006. In Lewisham, this is called the Safer 
Lewisham Partnership and is chaired by the Mayor. Other members will include 
representatives from Lewisham Metropolitan Police Service (MPS), the London 
Fire Brigade (LFB), the London Probation Service and Victim Support. 

 
12.4. As detailed in the Finance section, the government’s spending review was 

announced to cover the four years from 2011-12 to 2014-15 and reduce the 
government’s budget by £83bn. This will be taken by savings from government 
departments, including local government. These austerity measures will ensure 
that local authorities and the emergency services will work more closely together 
in the future, as all bodies look to pool resources and deliver more effectively on 
the resources they currently have. As public services continue to make budget 
savings, all agencies will have to continue to look for new ways to work together 
more closely together. 

 
Fire 
 
12.5. The Council has a number of duties in relation to housing within its jurisdiction. As 

well as being a housing provider, under the Housing Act 2004, a local authority 
has a statutory requirement to know about the condition of all housing stock in its 
area. There are also other pieces of legislation, such as the Regulatory Reform 
(Fire Safety) Order 2005, which came into force in October 2006, and imposed 
obligations in relation to fire risk assessments in certain buildings. As well as 
other statutory duties in respect of health and safety, fire hazards, anti-social 
behaviour, and homelessness, for example, the Council routinely works closely 
with the emergency services on an almost daily basis72.  

                                            
72

 Duties place on local government (accessed online September 2013) http://data.gov.uk/dataset/statutory-duties-placed-on-local-

government 

Page 220



 

88 

 
12.6. The Council has worked closely with Lewisham Homes and RB3 to ensure that 

their buildings are 100% fire safety compliant, including the fitting of fire and 
escape doors, maintaining signage and carrying out risk assessments. The 
Council will continue to work closely with housing providers, as the Council has 
committed to assessing the feasibility of installing sprinklers in each of the 
developments proposed as part of the ‘New Homes, Better Places’ programme73. 

 
12.7. The Council and LFB, work well together in the priority area of emergency 

planning and the Council has always found the LFB to be a valuable partner in 
this area of work. They also work together in other areas, such as Youth work, 
commending the work of the LIFE programme (Local Intervention Fire Education); 
noting that the Council has supported this for many years. “It is important that 
development of any youth work is done in conjunction with Local Authorities and 
appropriate voluntary and community groups to ensure that greatest impact and 
variety of provision is available whilst supporting all agencies trying to do valuable 
work in the local community”74. 

 
12.8. The Council has highlighted, in responding to consultation, the issue of fire risks, 

as a significant and important area of anti-social behaviour. The Council noted 
that “Local Authorities should be able to work closely with the Fire service to help 
identify and review empty properties, and work closely with environmental 
services to support removal of fly-tipping / discarded items etc. which are a fire 
risk.”75 

 
12.9. LFB have a number of partnership relationship with a number of organisations 

locally including Lewisham Age Concern. LFB work in partnership with age 
concern to identify at risk elderly people and deliver a targeted Home Fire Safety 
Visit (HFSV) programme, fitting smoke alarms and carrying out home fire safety 
checks. LFB also work with the Lewisham Handyperson Scheme, providing 
smoke detectors which are then fitted by the handyperson scheme operatives and 
the Sanctuary Project, supplying fire proof letter boxes, smoke alarms and other 
fire safety material depending on the level of risk to persons that have been 
subject to domestic and homophobic violence76. 

 
12.10. It is important that this local preventative work continues and is not negatively 

impacted by the reduction of fire-fighters in the borough. 
 
Police 
 
12.11. The MPS has demonstrated a number of ways in which it works closely in 

partnership to provide an effective service, with the strategic liaison being via the 
Safer Lewisham Partnership.  

 
12.12. MPS work very closely with schools, and this relationship is cemented by Safer 

School Officers. The police locally also like to conduct flexible approaches to 

                                            
73

 Minutes of the Housing Select Committee (16/05/13); 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s22970/01%20Minutes%20160513.pdf 
74

 London Borough of Lewisham’s response to lSP5 consultation (2013); 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s22941/Fifth%20London%20Safety%20Plan%20Referral%20Response.pdf 
75

 London Borough of Lewisham’s response to the TSA report (2012) 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s19348/Appendix%20A%20-%20Council%20response%20to%20the%20TSA.pdf 
76

 LFB in Lewisham (2012-13) 

Page 221



 

89 

police-school relations, for example having a police presence at the end of the 
day at Sydenham Girls School to reassure vulnerable girls. Schools communicate 
closely with parents, and information provided by Safer Neighbourhood Teams 
(SNTs) and Safer Schools Officers is also sent to parents where appropriate. The 
relationship between schools, parents and the police is developed and maintained 
with regular communication. 

 
12.13. In terms of partnership in respect of locations, evidence presented to the review 

stated that numerous options for public access to their local SNTs have been 
explored but there are no plans at this time to provide a “shop front” in every ward 
as Bromley MPS has done. The MPS advised they would be happy to work with 
the Council to further explore joint location options when planning public access 
to SNTs. The MPS In Lewisham also feel they work well with the Safer Transport 
teams, who are not directly affected by the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime 
(MOPAC) proposals, but will likely go through their own reorganisation in due 
course.  

 
12.14. The Safer Lewisham Partnership has successfully established an information-

sharing protocol with the A&E at Lewisham hospital, so that anybody admitted 
with a stab wound has their details automatically passed onto the Crime 
Reduction service. The patient can then be contacted to see if they require 
support or additional interventions.  

 
Emergency healthcare 
 
12.15. To deliver effective healthcare, strong partnerships are necessary to deliver 

positive health outcomes. This is why the Council, Lewisham CCG, Lewisham 
and Greenwich NHS Trust, SLaM and other health practitioners have developed 
close working relationships over a number of years. 

 
12.16. When primary care trusts ceased providing community services, an integrated 

care trust in Lewisham was created at Lewisham Healthcare NHS Trust (now 
Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust), bringing together local acute and 
community health services. This has allowed the Council and its partners to 
exploit the advantages local connections to improve services and pathways. 
Integration and joint working has enabled significant progress to be made locally 
in improving outcomes and experiences for patients.   

 
12.17. The CCG, Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust and the Council have recently 

formally agreed a new integrated model for community based health and social 
care services. This will increase further the ability of the whole system to reduce 
admissions and length of stays, assisting in the effective delivery of emergency 
care. The focus of this work has initially been, primarily, older people with long-
term conditions.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Recommendation 30: 
The CCG has a key role in ensuring that appropriate urgent care and out of hours 
services are available. The Council and CCG need to work closely together to ensure 
that all the necessary care pathways are in place, and appropriately utilised, to 
ensure undue and inappropriate pressure is not placed on Accident and Emergency 
units. 

Page 222



 

90 

 
12.18. A partnership, established initially between the Primary Care Trust, Lewisham 

Hospital and the Council has developed a “whole systems approach” to ensure 
that patients were discharged much more quickly and efficiently. Consequently, in 
10/11 and 11/12, this resulted in Lewisham’s performance for delayed transfers of 
care from hospital being the best in its statistical comparator group and well 
above the average for England and London as a whole. Lewisham Hospital and 
the Council continue to work closely together to ensure early, appropriate, 
discharge and admission avoidance in the future. This partnership work is having 
a real impact, as evidenced by out-of borough patients having a length of stay in 
the hospital which is 2.7 days longer on average than Lewisham residents. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
12.19. Lewisham CCG also works locally with the London Ambulance Service (LAS) to 

manage services in relation to, the local emergency care system There is also a 
pan-London monitoring system in place that monitors how busy all A&E 
departments are, and it also informs the routing of ambulances to hospitals when 
diverts may be in place. This information is monitored by the CCG and LAS 
locally. 

 
12.20. Lewisham CCG also has a key role to play in ensuring that appropriate 

community based urgent care services are available to meet demand, and all 
local GPs and healthcare professionals have a role to play in advising people how 
to access the most appropriate service for their needs, when they have a non 
routine medical need. More encouragement and information is needed so that the 
public use the most appropriate services in the first instance, rather than going to 
A&E in the first instance if their medical need is not an emergency.  

 
12.21. Lewisham CCG, the Council and Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust have also 

recently created “multi-agency neighbourhood clusters”, led by GPs and Adult 
Social Care, to care for more patients in the community and to attempt to further 
break down barriers between acute and community provision. The cluster teams 
bring together social work staff, occupational therapists, physiotherapists, district 
nurses, community matrons and GP practice staff. 

 
12.22. The Council supports a Drug and Alcohol triage worker on the Lewisham Hospital 

site, able to work with patients who regularly attend A&E due to drink and/or 
drugs and divert them from acute services to more appropriate rehabilitation and 
intervention services.77 

 
 
 
 
 

                                            
77

 London Borough of Lewisham’s response to the TSA report (2012), p17 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s19348/Appendix%20A%20-%20Council%20response%20to%20the%20TSA.pdf 

Recommendation 31: 
The Council should continue to work closely with Lewisham and Greenwich NHS 
Trust to ensure appropriate and timely discharge from hospital takes place where 
patients have social care needs. 

Recommendation 32: 
The CCG should work with the Lewisham and Greenwich NHS Trust to understand 
the high number of patients attending A&E who require specialist referral to the 
mental health team. The CCG should then review the appropriate care pathways, 
particularly the out of hours availability of services, to ensure that there is an 
appropriate level of service provided. 

Page 223



 

91 

 
 
 
 
12.23. Partnership arrangements in Lewisham have enabled children with highly 

complex health needs to be supported at home by a specialist community nursing 
team with rapid access to in-patient support when needed; and supported the 
development of vulnerable families’ pathways from A&E and maternity, to the 
most appropriate community support, including health visiting, the Family Nurse 
Partnership and local GPs.  

 
12.24. Strong partnership arrangements have also led to improved safeguarding of local 

children, with Ofsted’s most recent inspection of Lewisham’s services for Looked 
After Children and Safeguarding concluding that   “Safeguarding outcomes for 
children and young people are outstanding”.78 Ofsted acknowledged that the 
strength of the partnership arrangements that have been developed in Lewisham 
deliver a safe, co-ordinated service responsive to adults and children at risk – 
arrangements that would be destabilised and damaged by changes to A&E 
services at Lewisham Hospital. 

 
12.25. Strong and effective relationships at a local level between the Council and 

emergency service providers are key to effective service delivery. Strong 
partnership working is responsible for the effective delivery of a wider range of 
services than is initially obvious when looking at “emergency services” so, these 
relationships have to continue to develop to ensure the best possible services are 
provided for all local people. 

 

                                            
78

 London Borough of Lewisham’s response to the TSA report (2012) 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s19348/Appendix%20A%20-%20Council%20response%20to%20the%20TSA.pdf 

Page 224



 

92 

13. Future 
 
13.1. Lewisham is a vibrant and diverse borough. Its population is fluid and dynamic, 

accessing London’s education, employment, health, cultural, sporting and other 
experiences far beyond local geographical boundaries. The most recent census 
(2011) indicates that the borough’s population continues to grow. In 2011 the total 
population figure was nearly 276,000 people, which represents a 10.8% increase 
on Lewisham’s 2001 census population and a 3.5% increase on the 2010 Office 
of National Statistics’ Mid Year Population Estimate. London’s total population 
figure according to the 2011 census was 8,173,900, a 14.0% increase since 
2001. Lewisham is set to see its population increase to estimates of 321,000 by 
2021; this is an increase of over 44,000 residents in a ten year period79. 

 
13.2. Lewisham has a young population, with a quarter of residents aged between 0–

19. By contrast, just under 10% of the population is aged over 65. Lewisham is 
also a very socially and ethnically diverse borough. With more than 170 different 
languages spoken; Lewisham is the 15th most ethnically diverse local authority 
area in England. Recent data indicates that 40 per cent of Lewisham residents 
are of black and minority ethnic origin. However, the generational profile of 
residents is such that three quarters of school pupils in Lewisham’s primary and 
secondary schools are of black and minority ethnic origin, which illustrates the 
changing profile of the borough80. 

 
13.3. Lewisham is a diverse borough, but the pattern of population change across 

London is uneven. Where many citizens are physically and geographically mobile, 
others are confined or constrained in their movements. In this context, London’s 
emergency services have highlighted their ambition to work more closely with 
partners to respond to common problems and search for innovative solutions the 
most difficult challenges. However, whilst in some cases the prevailing financial 
climate will act as a catalyst to change, in others it may prevent organisations 
from reaching out to partners. 

 
13.4. There are ambitious plans in Lewisham to build new homes, create new spaces 

for new businesses and enhance the local infrastructure. The Council's core 
strategy sets out plans to enable more than 10000 homes to be built in the 
borough by 2026. In addition to the substantial redevelopment of Loampit Vale in 
Lewisham town centre, there are plans for major developments in Deptford and 
Catford. The redevelopment of Convoys Wharf, the largest single development 
site in the borough, is intended to provide more than 3000 new homes as well as 
new infrastructure, employment opportunities and new public spaces. Current 
plans for Convoys Wharf include proposals to construct three new tall towers 
adjacent to the Thames. Other major developments at Surrey Canal Triangle, 
Lewisham Gateway, Plough Way and Deptford Town Centre will provide new 
homes, leisure facilities and employment areas. The Council intends to act as a 
catalyst to the development of Catford town centre, which will remain as the 
borough's civic hub. The Council also has plans to build more than 500 new 
homes, as part of its new homes better places programme. 

 

                                            
79

 Office of National Statistics, National Population Projections Summary (October 2012). 
80

 Comprehensive Equality Scheme (2012-2016) p5 

Page 225



 

93 

13.5. Lewisham Council faces a considerable challenge to reduce its budget and alter 
the way it delivers its services. The Government announced in June 2013 that 
additional savings of £11.5bn would have to be found from government 
departments for 2015-16, to allow for £3bn of spending per year on capital 
projects. This means that further cuts will be made to local government.  

 
13.6. The following graph is drawn from the publicly available financial information and 

projections for the emergency services and Lewisham Council and illustrates the 
funding pressures they have faced and will continue to face over the next few 
years: 

 

 

Sources:81,82,83,84,85,86,87,88,89 
 

13.7. In the context of changing patterns of service provision, continued cuts to budgets 
and the shifting patterns of Lewisham’s population, a clear view of the future 
provision of services is difficult to achieve. This review has sought to determine 
the current and potential future impact of the changes to Lewisham’s emergency 
services. Throughout the course of the review, each committee gathered 
evidence to enable it to assess what Lewisham’s emergency services might look 

                                            
81

 The Greater London Authority Consolidated Budget and Component Budgets for 2013-14 
82

 Budget 2009/10, Finance, Procurement and Property Committee (LFEPA) March 2009 
83

 Budget 2011/12, Finance and Personnel Committee (LFEPA) March 2011 
84

 Statement of Accounts 2009/10, Metropolitan Police Authority 
85

 Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime Statement of Accounts 2011/12 
86

 Annual Review 2009/10, London Ambulance Service  
87

 Annual Review 2011/12, London Ambulance Service  
88

 Annual Report 2012/13, London Ambulance Service  
89

 London Borough of Lewisham Statement of Accounts 

Page 226



 

94 

like in the years ahead based on the proposals for change recently put forward for 
those services.  

 
 
 
Fire 
 
13.8. ‘We want to make London a safer city and our vision is to be a world class fire 

and rescue service for London, Londoners and visitors.’ (LSP5 201390) 
 
13.9. By 2015 the LFB in Lewisham plans to operate with one less station, a reduced 

number of fire fighters and one less fire engine. If the LFB’s proposals proceed as 
planned, Downham Fire Station will have been closed in early 2014. The LFB city 
wide will have reconfigured its services and reduced the number of stations, fire 
fighters and specialist teams it has available. There will also have been a 
reduction in resources of £45.4m over 2013-2015. 

 
13.10. Over the period of LSP5 the LFB aims to: 
 

• reduce house fires by 2% 

• increase its home fire safety visits, targeting the most vulnerable to ensure that 8-
out-of-10 of households at the highest risk are visited by fire safety officers 

• be more responsive to the needs of the elderly and more vulnerable older people, 
with fires reduced in care homes and sheltered housing by 3% 

• reduce deaths in fires by 4% and all outdoor rubbish fires by 14%. 
 
13.11. By 2015 the LFB aims to provide a more effective and efficient service, whilst 

improving prevention work, enhancing the condition of its equipment and 
bolstering resilience. It aims to reduce the amount of time it spends on false alarm 
call-outs, reducing them by 9%. It also intends to lower the number of calls to 
people stuck in lifts (without distress) by 8%. Station staff will be expected to 
spend 13% of their time on community safety. 

 
13.12. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee remains concerned that  the decisions 

made in relation to the level of resources needed across London to meet these 
targets, did not adequately take into account all available data and all relevant risk 
factors. The average response times in certain wards in Lewisham, along with 
projected population increases, will make keeping all Londoners safe a difficult 
challenge by 2015.  

 
Police 
 
13.13. ‘I am confident this (Police and Crime Plan 2013-16) will help achieve my mission 

to make London the safest and greatest big city on earth.’91 (Mayor of London) 
 
13.14. The Mayor of London has set out his vision for justice in London: 
 

• A metropolis considered the greatest and the safest big city on earth  

                                            
90

 Draft LSP5 (2013) p45 
91

 Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan (2013) p12 

Recommendation 33: 

Projected future population growth should be factored into all future service planning. 

Page 227



 

95 

• A Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) that becomes the UK’s most effective, most 
efficient, most respected, even most loved police force  

• A capital city where all public services work together and with communities to 
prevent crime, seek justice for victims and reduce reoffending. 

 
13.15. By 2016, according to the Police and Crime Plan, the MPS in Lewisham will have 

reduced neighbourhood crimes by 20%, increased public confidence in the police 
by 20% and the service will have delivered its portion of the budget savings for 
the Metropolitan Police –£500m in total – by 2016. 

 
13.16. This would all have to be achieved with the loss of Brockley and Sydenham 

Police Stations, less officers permanently dedicated to each and every ward in the 
borough and with only an additional 13 police officers than were actually deployed 
in Lewisham five years previously.  

 
13.17. The Local Policing Model would have been fully implemented, with the aim of 

making the MPS more responsive to the public and able to deal with crime, and 
tackle potential crime in hot-spot areas, much more effectively. MOPAC believe 
that this would have helped the public grow in confidence in the capabilities of 
their local police force. 

 
13.18. Lewisham’s three policing ‘clusters’ will have been created with the aim of 

deploying officers across the borough “flexibly”, based on local priorities and 
identified issues . The size of emergency response teams will have reduced. In 
each ward one dedicated officer will remain focused on ward priorities, without 
being moved to other duties. 

 
13.19. Whilst welcoming and supporting the MPS aims of reducing crime in Lewisham 

and increasing public confidence in the police locally, the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee remain concerned that the financial constraints facing the MPS will 
make achieving these targets increasingly difficult. 

 
13.20. Data shows that the actual increase in police officers in Lewisham by 2015 will be 

13 not the 54 originally claimed by MOPAC which, along with reduced dedicated 
ward based officers, will make achievement of their aims extremely challenging. 
With the increasing population in the borough, and the financial constraints facing 
the MPS and the Council, the wide range of factors that impact on crime levels 
will be difficult to continue to tackle effectively to achieve a 20% reduction in 
neighbourhood crime. 

 
Emergency healthcare 
 
13.21. The London Ambulance Service intends to make significant changes to the way in 

which it delivers its services by 2015. In their ’time for a change’ consultation the 
service committed to the following: 

 

• Every patient who rings 999 to have a response within one hour – either by 
telephone assessment or an ambulance attendance 

• Our rosters will enable us to match ambulance availability with 999 call demand 

Page 228



 

96 

• We will have established close working relationships with clinical commissioning 
groups to identify gaps in service and improve access to appropriate healthcare 
options 

• Patients will experience a seamless referral to appropriate providers, for example, 
NHS 111, crisis and falls teams 

• Every patient who requires a face to-face assessment will be attended within an 
hour by a paramedic with enhanced assessment skills who has the right training 
and experienced clinical support. 

• On scene senior clinical support will be provided to staff where needed 

• Staff will benefit from an embedded clinical career structure, education and 
regular meaningful feedback and appraisals 

• We will be less reliant on private and voluntary ambulance services as we will 
have recruited more staff.  

 
13.22. By 2015 the £15m of extra funding recently announced would have been 

invested, with 240+ of new frontline staff working in the LAS and helping it to fulfil 
its objectives and improve clinical outcomes. Patients who were in immediate life 
threatening situations needing an ambulance should receive a response within 
eight minutes. All patients would be receiving a response within one hour – either 
by telephone assessment or an ambulance attendance. There should be ongoing 
effective co-ordination between the LAS and Lewisham CCG to identify gaps in 
service and improve access to appropriate healthcare options. 

 
13.23. By 2015 the Council, the CCG, the LAS, Lewisham and Greenwich Hospital NHS 

Trust, SLaM, Lewisham Healthwatch and a range of other local organisations will 
have continued to work closely together to ensure effective care pathways are in 
place and that people in Lewisham are fully informed about the most appropriate 
services for their needs. The strong partnership focus of the CCG and Council in 
joint commissioning, and of the Council and Lewisham and Greenwich Healthcare 
trust in terms of social care, discharge and safeguarding, will have been 
maintained in the face of reducing budgets and an increasing population. 

 
13.24. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee recognises the strength of the partnership 

working that exists in relation to health and social care in Lewisham, and the 
benefit that this brings to providing effective prevention and care for local people. 
The financial challenges facing local government and increasing populations will 
make maintaining effective care pathways for local people an increasingly 
challenging task. 

 
The future of Lewisham’s emergency services 
 
13.25. The future of the emergency services in the coming years will be shaped by the 

budget savings they have had to implement since the 2010 General Election as 
well as the shadow of continued budget savings after 2015. Driven by financial 
constraints, the emergency services will need to develop more innovative and co-
operative ways of working. This includes not only within the respective 
organisation but with other emergency services and a wide range of other public 
sector bodies, healthcare organisations, and charities. Into the future and beyond 
2015, they will have to think further about how they can develop their ways of 
working in order to continue to deliver results in austere times. 

 

Page 229



 

97 

13.26. The future of Lewisham's 999 Emergency Services will be shaped by budget 
savings they have had to implement since the 2010 General Election. All 
projections are that the public finances will continue to face real term cuts. 

 
13.27 The scale of the challenge for Lewisham is immense. The affect of these cuts are 

only just becoming apparent and tangible. This will leave a legacy for many years 
come. 

Recommendation 34: 
The Mayor and Cabinet, the Safer Lewisham Partnership, the Health and Wellbeing 
Board should regularly review performance against the recommendations made 
within this report, in their role as local strategic leadership bodies. 
 
Recommendation 35: 
The Mayor and the Council must continue to be vigilant to ensure that Lewisham has 
the best possible Emergency Services 
 

Page 230



 

98 

 

14. Monitoring and ongoing scrutiny 
 
14.1. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has made a number of recommendations 

for action by the Mayor and Cabinet of Lewisham Council, the Metropolitan Police 
Service, the London Fire Brigade, the London Ambulance Service, the Safer 
Lewisham Partnership, Lewisham Clinical Commissioning Group, Lewisham and 
Greenwich NHS Trust, the Health and Wellbeing Board and the South East 
London Housing Partnership. 

 
14.2. This report, and the recommendations within it, will be referred to all of those 

bodies for consideration and response, as well as to The Mayor’s Office for Police 
and Crime. 

 
14.3. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests a response from each of those 

bodies, and according to the constitution of the London Borough of Lewisham, 
expects to receive a response to this report and its recommendations from the 
Mayor and Cabinet within 2 months of receipt. 

 
14.4. To note, as per the Constitution of the London Borough of Lewisham: 
 

• Healthier Communities Select Committee has health scrutiny powers as outlined 
in legislation: the Health and Social Care Act 2001, the NHS Act 2006 as 
amended, the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and regulations made under that 
legislation. 

• The Safer Stronger Select Committee has crime and disorder scrutiny powers 
transcribed in legislation: Sections 19 and 20 Police & Justice Act 2006, as 
amended from time to time, and all other relevant legislation. 

 
14.5. The Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and its Select Committees, may decide to 

consider some of the issues raised in the report and its recommendations (in 
accordance to their Terms of Reference) as part of ongoing 2013/14 work 
programme. These strategic issues of concern might also be considered as part 
of the development of the 2014/15 work programme for scrutiny. 

 

Page 231



 

99 

15. Glossary of terms 
 
Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB)  

• While there is no precise definition of antisocial behaviour it is covers acting in a 
way that causes or is likely to cause alarm or distress to one or more people in 
another household. To be antisocial behaviour, the behaviour must be persistent. 

 
Accident and Emergency (A&E)  

• The accident and emergency department at any hospital, a medical treatment 
facility specializing in acute care of patients who present without prior 
appointment, either by their own means or by ambulance. 

 
Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO)  

• Association comprising chief officers who hold a substantive rank or appointment 
at the rank of Assistant Chief Constable level or above as well as senior police 
staff equivalents 

 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)  

• Clinically led groups that include all of the GP groups in their geographical area 
and organise the delivery of NHS services in England 

 
Comprehensive Equality Scheme (CES) 

• The Council's commitment to equality for citizens, service users and employees. It 
sets out the equality objectives that the Council will work towards  

 
Emergency Department (ED)  

• Another name for Accident and Emergency 
 
Fifth London Safety Plan (LSP5)  

• The London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority’s Integrated Risk 
Management Plan as required by the government’s national framework for the fire 
and rescue service. 

 
Fire Rescue Units (FRU)  

• A purpose built vehicle designed to provide specialist rescue functions 
 
General Practitioner (GP)  

• A doctor who treats acute and chronic illnesses and provides preventive care and 
health education to patients. 

 
Greater London Authority (GLA)  

• The strategic regional authority for Greater London, consisting of a directly 
elected executive Mayor of London and an elected 25-member London 
Assembly with scrutiny powers. It has powers over transport, policing, economic 
development, and fire and emergency planning. 

 
Health and Equalities Impact Assessment (HEIA) 

• Assesses the impact of the Trust Special Administrator’s recommendations for an 
NHS Trust on the health of the local population and its impact on specific groups 
within the local population and staff. 

 

Page 232



 

100 

Home Fire Safety Visit (HFSV) 

• A visit by the fire brigade to a home offering advice on how to make the home 
safe. 

 
Lewisham Community Police Consultative Group (LCPCG)  

• An independent community forum holding public meetings where the community 
can discuss policing, community safety and related issues with senior officers 
from the police, the council and other organisations 

 
Lewisham and Greenwich Hospital NHS Trust 

• The newly created NHS Trust, made up of the former Lewisham Healthcare NHS 
Trust and Queen Elizabeth Hospital   

 
Lewisham Healthcare NHS Trust 

• Ran local hospital and community healthcare services in Lewisham, formally 
ceased to function in October 2013.  

 
Local Intervention Fire Education (LIFE) 

• An intensive course facilitated by the Fire Rescue service and firefighters at 
operational fire stations. The programme offers young people over the age of 14 
the opportunity to learn new skills as well as building on existing ones. 

 
Local Policing Model (LPM) 

• New model of policing designed to move resources to the front line, increase 
visibility and flexibility and improve quality of service to increase public 
confidence. Neighbourhood policing is at the basis of the model.  

 
Local Policing Team (LPT) 

• The policing team focussed on a specific local area, made up of the Safer 
Neighbourhoods Team.  

 
London Ambulance Service (LAS) 

• The NHS trust that supplies ambulance services across London, duties include 
responding to emergency 999 calls.  

 
London Borough of Lewisham/Lewisham Council (LBL) 

• London borough local authority for the Lewisham  area 
 
London Crime Reduction Board (LCRB) 

• Established in 2010 as a means of rationalising pan-London partnership boards 
and improve accountability between partners through the delivery of an agreed 
partnership strategic plan 

 
London Fire Brigade (LFB) 

• London's fire and rescue service 
 
London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority (LFEPA) 

• Runs the London Fire Brigade and makes decisions on key matters including 
strategy, policy and the Brigade’s budget. 

 
Mayor of Lewisham 

Page 233



 

101 

• The directly elected Mayor of the London Borough of Lewisham, Sir Steve Bullock 
 
Mayor of London 

• The directly elected Mayor of Greater London, Boris Johnson 
 
Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) 

• Sets the strategic direction and accountability for policing, led by the Mayor of 
London and supported (by the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime.  
Responsible for the formal oversight of Scotland Yard including budget-setting, 
performance scrutiny and  policy development  

 
Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) 

• The police service for London 
 
National Health Service (NHS) 

• The publicly funded healthcare system for the UK 
 
Office for Standards in Education, Children’s Services and Skills (Ofsted) 

• Inspects and regulates services which care for children and young people, and 
those providing education and skills for learners of all ages. 

 
Police Community Support Officer (PCSO) 

• A civilian member of police staff employed as a uniformed non-warranted officer  
 
Police Officer (PC) 

• Also known as a Police Constable, the first rank of the police force and the most 
common officer. 

 
Primary Care Trust (PCT) 

• PCTs were largely administrative bodies, responsible for commissioning primary, 
community and secondary health services from providers. Abolished under the 
Health and Social Care Act 2012 and replaced by Clinical Commissioning 
Groups. 

 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 

• Method for funding public infrastructure projects with private capital. 
 
Public Transport Accessibility levels (PTAL) 

• A method used in transport planning to assess the access level of geographical 
areas to public transport. 

 
Safer Lewisham Partnership (SLP) 

• The statutory crime and disorder partnership for Lewisham, it has a duty to 
conduct an audit of crime, disorder, anti-social behaviour and drug misuse in 
Lewisham, to consult widely on the findings and set strategies to tackle the issues 
identified 

 
Safer Neighbourhood Teams (SNT) 

• Police teams dedicated to local communities and additional to other policing 
teams and units in London. They deal with day-to-day crime and disorder issues. 

 

Page 234



 

102 

South London and Maudsley NHS Foundation Trust (SLaM) 

• Provides mental health and substance misuse services to people from Croydon, 
Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham.  

 
South London Healthcare Trust (SLHT) 

• Healthcare Trust covering South London and including Princess Royal University 
Hospital, Bromley, Queen Elizabeth Hospital, Woolwich and Queen Mary’s 
Hospital, Sidcup. The Trust was dissolved on 1st October 2013. 

 
Transport for London (TfL) 

• The local government body responsible for most aspects of the transport 
system in Greater London. Its role is to implement the transport strategy and to 
manage transport services across London. 

 
Trust Special Administrator (TSA) 

• Part of the process to provide a rapid resolution to problems within a significantly 
challenged NHS foundation trust, the TSA exercises the functions of the chairman 
and directors of the Trust to develop recommendations for the Secretary of State. 

 
Urgent Care Centre (UCC) 

• Offers treatment to anyone with a minor injury, without the need for a referral or 
appointment 

 
Volunteer Police Cadets (VPC) 

• A uniformed voluntary youth organisation, supported by the MPS, open to young 
people aged 13 -18 from across London’s diverse communities, irrespective of 
their background or financial circumstances and including those vulnerable to 
crime or social exclusion 

 

Page 235



 

103 

16. Sources 
 
Committee meeting minutes and reports 

 

Safer Stronger Communities Select Committee - agendas, reports and minutes available 
online: 

 
8 May 2013: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=189&MId=2921&Ver=4 

3 July 2013: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=189&MId=2922&Ver=4 

3 September 2013: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=189&MId=2923&Ver=4 

 
Healthier Communities Select Committee - agendas, reports and minutes available 

online: 
 
29 May 2013: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2909&Ver=4 

9 July 2013: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2910&Ver=4 

4 September 2013: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2911&Ver=4 

 
Sustainable Development Select Committee - agendas, reports and minutes available 

online: 
 
22 May 2013: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=2929&Ver=4 

11 July 2013: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=2930&Ver=4 

10 September 2013: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=136&MId=2931&Ver=4 

 
Housing Select Committee – agendas, reports and minutes available online at: 
 
16 May 2013: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=2902&Ver=4 

19 June 2013: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=2903&Ver=4 

11 September 2013: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=3081&Ver=4 

 
Children and Young People Select Committee – agendas, reports and minutes available 

online: 
 
2 July 2013: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=134&MId=2861&Ver=4 

 

Fire  

 

Draft fifth London fire safety plan (2013) - (consultation version) 
http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/Draft_Fifth_London_Safety_Plan.pdf 

Page 236



 

104 

 

Draft fifth London safety plan (LSP5) supporting documents (2013) 

• 01 - Our aims, objectives, risks, commitments and targets 

• 02 - Incident profiles 

• 03 - Historical data 1970 to 2011 

• 04 - 2030 incident projections 

• 05 - Targeting those most at risk from fire 

• 06 - Management of Calls to Automated Fire Alarms 

• 07 - Review of shut in lift policy 

• 08 - Getting to emergency incidents as quickly as possible 

• 09 - Working with neighbouring brigades 

• 10 - Station workloads and capacity 

• 11 - Fire service modelling 

• 12 - Charging for attendance at incidents 

• 13 - Three year headline targets 2013 - 2016 

• 14 - Fire Service performance comparisons 

• 15 - Deliberative consultation and polling results 

• 16 - Equality analyses 

• 17 - Sustainable development impact assessment 

• 18 - Crewing of appliances 

• 19 - Adjustments to officer rota cover 

• 20 - Operational efficiency work 

• 21 - Report to Authority 

• 22 - Ward impacts of changes to fire stations and engines 

• 23 - Attendance time performance distributions by borough 

• 24 - Third fire engine attendance time performance 

• Third appliance response times by wards 

• Ward Performance Data Revised Plan http://www.london-
fire.gov.uk/Documents/Ward_performance_data_revised_plan.pdf 

 

Fifth London fire safety plan (Report to LFEPA 18 July 2013): 

http://moderngov.london-fire.gov.uk/mgconvert2pdf.aspx?id=2064 

 

Draft fifth London fire safety plan consultation presentation (2013): 

http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/LSP5-presentation.pdf 

 

LFB Asset Management Plan (2011): Delivering property improvement & management 
http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/FEP1831_(Appendix).pdf 

 

Fifth London safety plan (2013-16) (final version): 

http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/LSP5-authority-version-18-july-following-september-authority-

meeting.pdf 

Lewisham Council response to the LSP5 consultation (2013): 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s22941/Fifth%20London%20Safety%20Plan%
20Referral%20Response.pdf 

 
LFB press release, Ron Dobson (10 June 2013): 
http://www.london-

fire.gov.uk/news/LatestNewsReleases_lastchanceonfireconsultation.asp#.UkBmjdJJOAg 

 
LFB News release (4 June 2013): 

Page 237



 

105 

http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/news/LatestNewsReleases_Sayonfirebrigadeproposals.asp#.UkGXItJJMuc 

 
New Shopper article on LSP5 consultation (15 July 2013): 
http://www.newsshopper.co.uk/news/10548683.Downham_fire_deaths_on_Boris_Johnson_s_head_after_

station_closure__says_campaigner/ 

 
Phoenix Community Housing Response to Draft Fifth London Safety Plan consultation 

(17 June 2013) 
 
Fourth London Safety Plan (2010-2013):  
http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/documents/lsp4.pdf 

 
LFB in Lewisham (2013):  
http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/statistics-pack-lewisham.pdf 

 
LFB in your borough (Lewisham) (2013):  
http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/LFB_in_your_borough_2012-13_-_Lewisham.pdf 

 
Budget 2009/10, Finance, Procurement and Property Committee (LFEPA) March 2009: 
http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/FEP1321.pdf 

 
Budget 2011/12, Finance and Personnel Committee (LFEPA) March 2011: 
http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/FEP1698(1).pdf 
 

 
Police 

 
Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan (2013-16): 

http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/PoliceCrimePlan%202013-16.pdf 

 

Policing and Public Access in London (2013): 

http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Policing%26PublicAccess%20UPLOAD.pdf 

 
MOPAC/MPS Estate Strategy (2013-2016): 

http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/MOPAC%20Estates%20Strategy_0.PDF 

 

HM Inspectorate of constabulary on the MPS funding challenge (2013): 
http://www.hmic.gov.uk/media/metropolitan-response-to-the-funding-challenge.pdf 

 
Safer Lewisham Partnership Consultation Response to the MOPAC Police and Crime 

Plan consultation (2013): 
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Safer%20Lewisham%20Partnership_0.pdf 

 
Lewisham Police confidence data (Accessed online 18 July 2013): 

http://www.met.police.uk/confidence/lewisham.html on 18/07/13 

 

Statement of Accounts 2009/10, Metropolitan Police Authority: 
http://policeauthority.org/metropolitan/downloads/publications/accounts/2009-10.pdf 

 
Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime Statement of Accounts 2011/12: 
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/MOPAC%20Accounts%202011-

12%20final%20for%20PDF%2026%20Sept%20AA%20final%20_exl%20AC%20signature_.pdf 

 

Page 238



 

106 

Emergency health care 

 

Securing sustainable NHS services: the Trust Special Administrator’s report on South 

London Healthcare NHS Trust and the NHS in south east London (2013) Office of 

the Trust Special Administrator: 

http://www.tsa.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/documents/FINAL%20REPORT.pdf 

 

The future of the London Ambulance Service: A strategic review (2011), Health and 

Public Services Committee: 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/publications/all-publications/the-future-of-the-

london-ambulance-service 

 

LAS: our plans to improve the care we provide to patients (April 2013) 

http://www.londonambulance.nhs.uk/news/news_releases_and_statements/idoc.ashx?docid=b8243ca4-

2eeb-40fe-8447-c8c2e61b4d1b&version=-1 

 
LAS response times (Accessed online August 2013): 

http://www.londonambulance.nhs.uk/about_us/how_we_are_doing/meeting_our_targets/latest_res
ponse_times.aspx 

 
LAS clinical quality Indicators (Accessed online August 2013):  

http://www.londonambulance.nhs.uk/about_us/how_we_are_doing/clinical_quality_indicators.aspx 

 
LAS annual report (2012/13): http://www.londonambulance.nhs.uk/about_us/publications.aspx 

 

Lewisham Council’s response to the TSA proposals (December 2012) 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s19348/Appendix%20A%20-

%20Council%20response%20to%20the%20TSA.pdf 

 
Frontline response to the TSA proposals (December 2012): 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s19425/Appendix%20B%20-

%20Frontline%20report.pdf 

 
Lewisham Director of Public Health’s response to the TSA consultation (2012) 

http://www.tsa.nhs.uk/document/lewisham-director-public-health-response 
 

TSA Health and Equality Impact Assessment (2012): 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/127493/VOL-3-
Appendix-L.pdf.pdf 

 
Judgement on Lewisham Hospital (2013) R (on the application of LB of Lewisham and 

others) v Secretary of State for Health and the TSA for South London Hospitals 
NHS Trust, Judiciary of England and Wales: 
http://www.judiciary.gov.uk/media/judgments/2013/lb-lewisham-v-sos-health 

 
Mayor’s question time, Lewisham hospital travel (March 2013) 

http://mqt.london.gov.uk/mqt/public/question.do?id=46050 

 
Choose well health campaign:  
http://www.lewishamccg.nhs.uk/YourHealth/Pages/Choosewell.aspx 

 

Page 239



 

107 

Annual Review 2009/10, London Ambulance Service:  
http://www.londonambulance.nhs.uk/about_us/idoc.ashx?docid=729b2d32-0106-4fad-afd8-

8b3d079ecd21&version=-1 

 
Annual Review 2011/12, London Ambulance Service: 
http://www.londonambulance.nhs.uk/about_us/idoc.ashx?docid=9d1bfb59-6ab8-4e41-9abb-

a63febc0ab10&version=-1 

 
Annual Report 2012/13, London Ambulance Service: 
http://www.londonambulance.nhs.uk/about_us/idoc.ashx?docid=974aa589-0f0c-4d7d-b2bf-

dae17cbd5325&version=-1 

 

Other 

 

Lewisham Comprehensive Equalities Scheme (2012-2016): 
http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/equality-and-

diversity/Pages/Comprehensive-Equality-Scheme-.aspx 

 
The Equality Act (2010) 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/contents 

 
Equality Act (2010) detailed guidance 
https://www.gov.uk/equality-act-2010-guidance 

 
Lewisham Council meeting 23 January 2013 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=2369&Ver=4 

 
Spending Review (2010) HM Treasury https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/spending-

review-2010) 

 
Revenue Budget Savings Proposals 2013/16, report to all Select Committees 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s18608/03SavingsReportSelectCommittees.p
df 

 

HM Treasury, Spending Round (2013) 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/209036/spending-
round-2013-complete.pdf 

 
The Mayor’s Budget Guidance for 2014/15, Greater London Authority: 

http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2014-15MayorsBudgetGuidance.pdf 
 

The London Plan (Adopted in 2011) 
http://www.london.gov.uk/priorities/planning/london-plan 

 
Lewisham Core Strategy (Adopted in 2011) 

http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/myservices/planning/policy/Documents/CoreStrategyAdoptedVersion.
pdf 

 
London Borough of Lewisham Statement of Accounts 
http://www.lewisham.gov.uk/mayorandcouncil/aboutthecouncil/finances/Pages/Statemen

t-of-accounts.aspx 
 
Action by the Chair of Overview and Scrutiny - Lewisham Council meeting 23 January 

2013: 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=138&MId=2369&Ver=4 

Page 240



 

108 

 
Motion at Lewisham Council meeting 19 September 2013 

http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s24525/Motion%201%20Proposed%20Counci
llor%20Foxcroft%20Seconded%20Councillor%20Hall.pdf 

 
Funding and Financial Management of Adult Social Care Review – Evidence session 

Public Accounts Select Committee meeting (17 July 2013) 
http://councilmeetings.lewisham.gov.uk/documents/s23763/03%20Finances%20of%20Adult%20S
ocial%20Care%20Review%20170713.pdf 

 
Department for Communities and Local Government: statutory duties placed on local 

government (Accessed online September 2013): 
http://data.gov.uk/dataset/statutory-duties-placed-on-local-government 

 
Office of National Statistics, National Population Projections Summaries (2012) 

http://www.statistics.gov.uk/hub/index.html 

 
The Greater London Authority Consolidated Budget and Component Budgets for 2013-

14: 
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/FinalConsolidated%20Budget%202013-14.pdf 

 

Page 241



If you have difficulty understanding this document in 
English please call the number below.

© Published 2013 Communications Unit. 

Produced on recycled paper using environmentally friendly print methods. For more information visit www.lewisham.gov.uk/print

Visit www.lewisham.gov.uk for all the latest news and information about your Council’s services and job opportunities

020 7253 7700
Also call this number for other formats, including Braille, large print, 

audio tape, BSL or computer disc.  

Email: lewisham@pearllinguistics.com Typetalk: 18001 020 7253 7700

Page 242



 

1 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Local Elections Order and Extension to Council Calendar 

Key Decision 
 

No Item No.  
 

Ward 
 

All 

Contributors 
 

Executive Director for Resources and Regeneration  

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: 27 November 2013 

 
 

1. Purpose 
 
 To advise the Council of a Parliamentary Order changing the local 
 election date in 2014 and to agree a revised schedule of meetings for 
 the municipal year 2013-14. 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
 The Council is asked to agree that: 
 
 (1) the date of the Council AGM in 2014 be changed to June 11 2014. 
 
 (2) the attached schedule of additional meetings in the current 
 municipal year 2013-14 be approved. 

 
3. Background  
 
3.1 On September 6 2013 the Government made ‘The Local Elections 
 (Ordinary Day of Elections in 2014) Order 2013’. The effect of this 
 Order was to combine the 2014 local elections with the revised date of 
 the 2014 European Elections so that both sets of elections will take 
 place on May 22 2014. 
 
3.2 Effectively the terms of office of all existing Councillors are extended by 
 three weeks with the terms of office for those elected for a 2014-2018 
 term being correspondingly reduced by 3 weeks. The retirement date 
 for all Councillors who will not be contesting the 2014 poll or any who 
 are unsuccessful in their re-election bid will be May 26 2014. The sole 
 exceptions to this will be the current Chair and Vice-Chair of the 
 Council who will remain in office until the AGM in June 2014. 
 
3.3 Given the extended gap in decision making arising as a consequence 
 of the later election date, the Council is asked to consider extending the 
 current calendar to include further meetings of executive decision 
 making bodies and linked scrutiny oversight committees. The extension 
 to the calendar contained in an appendix to this report has been the 

Agenda Item 9

Page 243



 

2 

 subject of consultation with group leaders and is now presented for 
 approval by the Council. 

 
4. Financial implications 

 
There are no specific financial implications. 
 

5. Legal implications 
 
5.1 Local Election dates in 2014 have been amended by the Local 

Elections (Ordinary Day of Elections in 2014) Order 2013’. 
 
5.2 The Annual Meeting of the Council must be held at a date and time 

determined in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972. In any 
year in which there is an election of members of the Council, the 
annual meeting will take place within 21 days of the retirement of 
councillors. 
 

6. Conclusion 

 Council approval is sought for a revised AGM date in 2014 and an 
 extension to the existing municipal calendar. 
 

 
 
 
 
If there are any queries on this report please contact Kevin Flaherty on 020 
8314 9327. 
 

Page 244



LONDON BOROUGH OF LEWISHAM 
 

PROGRAMME OF MEETINGS 
 

APRIL/MAY 2014 - possible extension 
 

Day Date Committee/Select Committee etc. 
 

 

    
2014    
    
Tuesday 1 April Overview & Scrutiny Business Panel 

Overview & Scrutiny (Education) Business Panel 
 

Wednesday 2 April   
Thursday 3 April Adoption Panel 

Strategic Planning Committee 
 

Friday 4 April   
    
Monday 7 April   
Tuesday 8 April Planning Committee A  
Wednesday 9 April Mayor and Cabinet 

Mayor and Cabinet (Contracts) 
 

Thursday 10 April   
Friday 11 April   
    
Monday 14 April   
Tuesday 15 April   
Wednesday 16 April   
Thursday 17 April   
Friday 18 April GOOD FRIDAY  
Saturday 19 April   
Sunday 20 April   
Monday 21 April EASTER MONDAY  
Tuesday  22 April Planning Committee B   
Wednesday 23 April Overview & Scrutiny Business Panel 

Overview & Scrutiny (Education) Business Panel 
 

Thursday 24 April Mayor and Cabinet (call-in)  
Licensing Committee 

 

Friday 25 April   
Monday 28 April   
Tuesday 29 April   
Wednesday 30 April   
Thursday 1 May Adoption Panel 

Strategic Planning Committee 
 

Friday 2 May   
Monday 5 May   
Tuesday 6 May Planning Committee C  
Wednesday 7 May   
Thursday 8 May   
Friday 9 May   
Monday 12 May   
Tuesday 13 May   
Wednesday 14 May   
Thursday 15 May   
Friday 16 May   
Saturday 17 May   
Sunday 18 May   
Monday 19 May   
Tuesday  20 May   
Wednesday 21 May   
Thursday 22 May ELECTION DAY  
Wednesday 11 June COUNCIL AGM  

 

Page 245



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\9\0\ai00007096\$s5mf5qb0.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Appointments 

Key Decision 
 

No  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
 
1. Lewisham Citizens Advice Bureau Management Committee 
 
 Councillor Crada Onuegbu has resigned as one of the Council’s two representatives and the 
 Council is invited to nominate a replacement. Councillor Janet Daby is the Council’s other 
 representative. 

 
 RECOMMENDATION That Council appoints a representative to the Lewisham 
 Citizen’s Advice Bureau Management Committee. 
 
 
2. Appointments by the Mayor 
 
 Lewisham Building Schools for the Future Programme 
 
 Conrad Hall, the Council’s Head of Business Management  and Service Support 
 left the Council’s employ on the 11 October 2013, and the Mayor nominated Alan 
 Docksey, Head of Resources (Children and Young People) as his replacement 
 as Director of Lewisham’s Schools for the Future LEP Limited and as a Director 
 with the same indemnity against personal liability for the following companies: 
 
 Lewisham Schools for the Future Holdings Limited 
 Lewisham Schools for the Future Holdings 2 Limited 
 Lewisham Schools for the Future Holdings 3 Limited 
 Lewisham Schools for the Future Holdings 4 Limited 
 Lewisham Schools for the Future SPV Limited 
 Lewisham Schools for the Future SPV 2 Limited 
 Lewisham Schools for the Future SPV 3 Limited 
 Lewisham Schools for the Future SPV 4 Limited 
 
 RECOMMENDATION That the appointments be noted. 

Agenda Item 10

Page 246



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\4\9\0\ai00007094\$wj4sojwo.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Action Taken by the Chair of Council Under Rule 19 of Section E of the 
Constitution 

Key Decision 
 

no  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

n/a 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
. ACTION TAKEN BY THE CHAIR OF COUNCIL UNDER RULE 19 OF SECTION E 

OF THE CONSTITUTION 
 
1. The Chair of Council agreed under the urgency procedure set out in Rule 19 of 

Section E of the Constitution, that the matters listed below should be treated as 
matters of urgency and not subject to call-in.  This determination not to subject two 
decisions taken by the Mayor to scrutiny was made by the Chair of Council as the 
delay in considering the item of business would have prejudiced the interests of the 
Council. 

 
Date Title Reason for Urgency 

 
September 17 
2013 

Fifth London Safety 
Plan – Closure of 
Downham Fire Station 

The reason for this was because of the 
extremely tight timescale available to 
participate in joint legal action with other 
London boroughs and in order to meet 
the necessary court deadlines.   
 

October 2 2013 LIP Annual Spending 
Submission 2014-15 

The report was available for pre decision 
scrutiny, but owing to the deadline for 
submission of bids to TfL, it was not 
possible for post decision scrutiny to take 
place at Business Panel on October 15 
2013. 

 
RECOMMENDATION that the actions taken by the Chair of Council be noted. 
 

Agenda Item 11

Page 247



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\5\9\0\ai00007095\$cbjqb25f.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Action Taken by the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
Under Rule 19 of Section G of the Constitution 

Key Decision 
 

no  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

n/a 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
. ACTION TAKEN BY THE CHAIR OF THE OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 

COMMITTEE UNDER RULE 19 OF SECTION G OF THE CONSTITUTION 
 
1. The Chair of the Overview & Scrutiny Committee agreed under the urgency 

procedure set out in Rule 19 of Section G of the Constitution, that the matter listed 
below should be treated as a matter of urgency despite not having been included in 
the Key Decision Plan. The determination to seek authorisation to participate in joint 
legal action against the proposed closure of Downham Fire Station and to seek 
authority to, (1) be a party to judicial review proceedings with other local authorities to 
challenge the decision of the Mayor of London and the Commissioner for Fire and 
Emergency Planning, in relation to the proposed closure of fire stations across 
London, (including Downham), (2) enter into a memorandum of understanding with 
LB Islington in relation to those proceedings and (3) give authority to LB Islington to 
represent this Council in those proceedings, was made by the Chair of the Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee, as the delay in considering the item of business would have 
prejudiced the interests of the Council. 

 
Date Title Reason for Urgency 

 
September 17 
2013 

Fifth London Safety 
Plan – Closure of 
Downham Fire Station 

The reason for this was because of 
the extremely tight timescale 
available to participate in joint legal 
action with other London boroughs 
and in order to meet the necessary 
court deadlines.   

 
RECOMMENDATION that the actions taken by the Chair of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee be noted. 
 
 

Agenda Item 12

Page 248



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\1\0\3\ai00007301\$ejhlolfj.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Motion 1 in the name of Councillor Fletcher to be seconded by 
Councillor Maines 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
 
The Council notes with concern statistics released on 3rd September 2013 which placed 
Lewisham as the 12th worst borough affected by air pollution. Air pollution is exceeding the 
legal limit on 88% of Lewisham’s roads, and this exceeds the average for the city, which is 
78%. 
 
The Council notes that nitrogen dioxide contributes to respiratory problems, particularly 
with regards to aggravating asthma and causing problems such as colds, flu and 
bronchitis. Children with asthma are particularly put at risk by these levels of pollution. 
Emergency hospital admissions in Lewisham for asthma for those aged under 19 are 
significantly higher than the UK average.  
 
Council therefore agrees to examine carefully which roads are the worst affected and take 
action to remedy this. Once target roads have been identified the following actions need to 
be considered to bring down pollution: 
 

a) Encouraging cycling and providing facilities on these roads, such as cycle lanes, 
which make cycling both safer and easier 

b) Encouraging children local to their school to walk rather than take a bus or be 
driven by parents 

c) Encouraging residents not to use their cars for short trips but instead to walk 
d) Planting greenery at the sides of these roads to combat the pollution levels 

 

Agenda Item 13

Page 249



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\2\0\3\ai00007302\$f3lvbvki.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Motion 2 in the name of Councillor Maines to be seconded by 
Councillor Fletcher 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
 
“This Council welcomes the introduction of free school meals for all infants as announced 
by the Deputy Prime Minister. All children in Reception, year 1 and year 2 will receive a 
free, healthy, hot school lunch and this will benefit 11,000 children across the borough of 
Lewisham.   
 
This Council understands that good nutrition early in life is extremely important to ensure a 
child’s educational development and result in the best outcomes for them later in life. 
Universal free meals have improved both behaviour and concentration in areas where this 
has been trialled. 
 
In pilot areas: 
 

• Students were found to be on average two months ahead of their peers elsewhere;  

• Between 3% and 5% more children reached target levels in maths and English at Key 
Stage 1, a bigger improvement than the 3.6% boost that followed the introduction of a 
compulsory literacy hour in 1998;  

• Academic improvements were most marked among children from less affluent families;  

• There was a 23% increase in the number of children eating vegetables at lunch and an 
18% drop in those eating crisps. 

 
This initiative will help families to balance their budgets while ensuring children continue to 
be well-fed, and will save families approximately £400 a year. 
 
This Council also welcomes the extension of free school meals to disadvantaged students 
in further education and sixth form colleges.” 
 

Agenda Item 14

Page 250



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\3\0\3\ai00007303\$hdbjemn0.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Motion 3 in the name of Councillor Brooks to be seconded by Councillor  
Peake 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
 
“This Council welcomes the introduction of free childcare for two year olds from the 
poorest families. 2,200 families across Lewisham will benefit as a result of this policy, 
directly helping those families that may be struggling with childcare costs. Since 
September 2013, children who are 2 years of age from families that would meet the Free 
School Meals criteria have been eligible for 15 hours of funded childcare per week for 38 
weeks a year. Alongside the increase in pupil premium funding in 2013, this money helps 
those families most in need to focus on their children's development. 
 
Giving children the best start in life will help us work towards closing the attainment gap, 
and ensure bright futures for the young people of Lewisham.  
 
This Council notes that the number of available childcare places will need to be increased 
next year in order to meet expected demand. As of September 2013 the Council 
estimated that there will be a total of 1,188 places available over the financial year to 
March 2014, against a profile target of 1,320. This would leave an additional 132 places to 
create. 
 
Council will take necessary actions to ensure that childcare places are available for any 
eligible family that desires them and will ensure that it can create the number of required 
places.” 

Agenda Item 15

Page 251



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\4\0\3\ai00007304\$ctcudkud.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Motion 4 in the name of Councillor Feakes to be seconded by 
Councillor Bowen 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
 
“This Council expresses it’s support for Small Business Saturday, which takes place on 7 

December this year. 
 
This year will be the first in which the UK has celebrated Small Business Saturday and it 
provides a great opportunity for small businesses to promote themselves and generate 
trade. Small business and micro businesses are very important for the borough of 
Lewisham. Lewisham has more very small businesses as a percentage of its total than 
any other part of the country – they make up 84.2% of the total amount of businesses.  
 
In the USA, Small Business Saturday generated $5.5 billion in sales in 2012, so the 
potential benefits of endorsing this holiday in the UK are enormous. There are 4.8 million 
small business in the UK, with over 14 million people working in them.  
 
The Council has provided free parking on Saturday 7th, 14th and 21st December in order to 
facilitate shopping at small business, but there is potential to go further and examine the 
potential for a targeted event to raise the profile of Small Business Saturday. The Council 
will examine the potential to do this and take action to engage community groups, the 
public and businesses themselves to raise the profile of the holiday.” 

Agenda Item 16

Page 252



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\5\0\3\ai00007305\$zsm21h3o.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Motion 5 in the name of Councillor Hall to be seconded by Councillor 
Foxcroft 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
 
Council applauds the decision of the Judges in throwing out Jeremy Hunt’s appeal in 
relation to the downgrading of services at Lewisham Hospital.  This clearly vindicates the 
Council in challenging this decision and the communities who joined our fight to save this 
much loved Hospital through the “Save Lewisham Hospital” campaign. 
 
Council notes that the Government put forward an amendment to the Care Bill designed to 
make it easier for the Government and Trust Special Administrators to close or make 
changes to the services provided at other hospitals, no matter how good they are or what 
support they have in the local community. 
 
Furthermore, Council is disappointed that an attempt, in the Lords, to stop this 
amendment was defeated.  The proposed amendment to the legislation, prior to the 
outcome of the Appeal, suggests that the grounds of appeal were shaky, which raises 
questions about the use of public money to fight this appeal. 
 
Our victory over Lewisham Hospital is a testament to the great community spirit and sheer 
hard work and dedication of all those Lewisham residents and health workers who were 
prepared to join us in challenging the Government and Council pays tribute to them. 
 

Agenda Item 17

Page 253



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\0\3\ai00007306\$r4fuaj2f.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Motion 6 in the name of Councillor Egan to be seconded by Councillor 
Curran 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
 
Council notes: 

• That England is now widely recognised to be the country with the most centralised 

system of government in Europe; 

• That devolution has brought decisions about tax and spending, and the quality of 

public services, closer to voters in Scotland and Wales, while English voters have 

not gained comparably greater influence over decision-making that affects their 

taxes and services; and 

 

Council considers: 

• That the likely scale of change in how public services are funded and provided  

makes it democratically unsustainable for those changes to be decided within the 

existing over-centralised model; 

• That services need to be reformed and integrated across local agencies to enable 

them to prevent problems rather than picking up the pieces; 

• That voters should be given back a meaningful say on a wider range of tax and 

spending decisions, through place-based budgetary arrangements and the 

reinstatement of fair financial distribution agreed among English councils, the re-

creation of a municipal bond market, and the certainty of multi-year funding 

settlements for the life of a Parliament; 

• That central government should enable that local decision-making by joining up and 

reducing in size Whitehall departments in order to facilitate local place-based 

budgets, by reducing Ministers’ powers to  intervene in local decisions, and 

replacing bureaucratic tick-box inspection regimes with local service users 

champions; and 

• That such a new more mature settlement between central and local government 

should be put beyond future revision by giving formal constitutional protection to 

local democracy; and  

Agenda Item 18

Page 254



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\6\0\3\ai00007306\$r4fuaj2f.doc 

 

Resolves: 

• To support the Local Government Association’s Rewiring Public Services 

campaign, which embodies these objectives; 

• To ask the borough’s Members of Parliament to support the Rewiring Public 

Services campaign to improve local voters’ influence over services, tax and 

spending; and 

• To make the council’s position clear to the Secretary of State.   

 

Page 255



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\7\0\3\ai00007307\$rluhd442.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Motion 7 in the name of Councillor Britton to be seconded by Councillor 
Bell 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
 
“This Council notes the illegal practice of blacklisting of employees within the construction 
industry which has been highlighted by UNITE, UCATT & GMB, the trade unions in that 
industry, a campaign which has resulted in claims for compensation from those kept out of 
work as a result of this activity.  
 
This Council further notes that this only came to light when the Information 
Commissioner's Office (ICO) seized a Consulting Association database used by 44 
companies to vet new recruits and that as a result the ICO confirmed that 224 construction 
workers around the UK had been victims of blacklisting.   
 
This Council believes this incident shows the importance of regulation and scrutiny of 
business activity and notes that Government cuts including the dismantling and 
weakening of some public oversight bodies will limit our ability to control bad business 
practice. 
 
This Council deplores this illegal practice within the construction industry and urges all 
companies who have been involved in it to take all necessary action to compensate 
victims affected and to comply with the regulations which have been introduced to prevent 
any recurrence of this abhorrent practice." 

Agenda Item 19

Page 256



d:\moderngov\data\agendaitemdocs\8\0\3\ai00007308\$3mgvvbga.doc 

 

COUNCIL 
 

Report Title 
 

Motion 8 in the name of Councillor Daby to be seconded by Councillor 
Morrison 

Key Decision 
 

  Item No. 
 

Ward 
 

 

Contributors 
 

Chief Executive (Head of Business & Committee) 

Class 
 

Part 1  Date: November 27 2013 

 
 

“Council notes that the Coalition Government plans to privatise the majority of probation 

services including handing community supervision of 200,000 serious and violent 

offenders to private companies, such as, G4S and SERCO. 

 

Council notes that a growing number of experts, probation staff and management have 

raised serious concerns about these proposals, as probation services have good 

performances in public protection, reducing reoffending and are a valued partner in 

community safety by their management of offenders. 

 

Council further notes that when the Council’s Safer and Stronger Communities Select 

Committee considered this at their meeting in July they were also opposed to the 

privatisation of these services as they were not based on any sound evidence, scrutiny or 

piloting. The Safer Lewisham Partnership also raised the same concerns at its meeting in 

September. 

 

On 11th November an amendment to the Rehabilitation Bill, which would have stopped 

these plans going ahead was defeated which means the proposals will go ahead despite 

wide ranging concerns about the effect they will have on keeping communities safe. 

 

Council therefore resolves to: 

 

• ask the Mayor to write to the Justice Secretary highlighting our opposition to these 

plans 
 

Agenda Item 20

Page 257


	Agenda
	1 Declarations of Interests
	2 Minutes
	Council Minutes November 8 2013

	3 Announcements or Communications
	4 Petitions
	5 Young Mayor
	6 Public questions
	Complete Public questions

	7 Member questions
	Complete Member questions

	8 Overview and Scrutiny Committee Referral Emergency Services Review
	Emergency services review Final

	9 Extension to Council Calendar
	Council Calendar extension Appendix

	10 Appointments
	11 Action by Chair of Council
	12 Action by Chair of OSC
	13 Motion 1 Proposed by Councillor Fletcher and Seconded by Councillor Maines
	14 Motion 2 Proposed by Councillor Maines and Seconded by Councillor Fletcher
	15 Motion 3 Proposed by Councillor Brooks and Seconded by Councillor Peake
	16 Motion 4 Proposed by Councillor Feakes and Seconded by Councillor Bowen
	17 Motion 5 Proposed by Councillor Hall and Seconded by Councillor Foxcroft
	18 Motion 6 Proposed by Councillor Egan and Seconded by Councillor Curran
	19 Motion 7 Proposed by Councillor Britton and Seconded by Councillor Bell
	20 Motion 8 Proposed by Councillor Daby and Seconded by Councillor Morrison

